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Who we are

Aberdeen Asset Management is an independent asset 
management group, which has been listed on the London Stock 
Exchange since 1991 and is today a FTSE-250 company. The 
Company was originally founded in Aberdeen, Scotland in 1983. 
Excluding the smaller private equity offices in the UK, the Group 
has 24 offices and 1,500 staff.  We invest worldwide on behalf of 
clients globally across the three major asset classes of equities, 
fixed income and property.

 

What we do

Our business is the active management of financial assets, 
chiefly equities, fixed income and property, for third parties.  
We package and sell that expertise in the form of segregated  
and pooled products across borders. Our key clients include 
leading national and corporate pension funds, central banks  
and other investment institutions. We have no ownership ties  
to other organisations. 
 

 

Our culture

We believe in locating our investment  and client services teams 
in or near the markets in which we invest or where our clients are 
based. The Group has grown rapidly in the last 25 years and 
values a flat management structure and being an open, diverse 
and accessible employer. To our clients, we believe we are 
transparent and approachable. We champion local decision-
making, close-knit teams and interdependence among our 
offices worldwide.

 

Sponsorship

Sponsorship helps to differentiate us from competitors. In recent 
years we have backed events such as the Seniors British Golf 
Open, as well as individual sportsmen, who provide visibility 
mainly through television. Since early 2007, Colin Montgomerie 
has worn the Aberdeen logo at tournaments around the world. 
Europe’s most successful golfer, seven times a winner of the 
Order of Merit, he added the European Open title in June.  
In November, he successfully helped Scotland capture the  
World Cup for the first time in its 54-year history.
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Highlights of the year

Operational highlights

	 •	 Assets	under	management	increased	30%	to	 
	 	 £95.3	billion;	surpassed	£100	billion	since	the	year	end

	 •	 Clean	profit	before	tax	£94.3	million	 
  (2006: £79.9 million)

	 •	 Earnings	per	share	up	24%	to	11.1p

	 •	 Final	dividend	of	2.9p	per	share,	5.5p	for	the	full	year

	 •	 Record	new	business	wins	of	£8.7	billion	funded	in	 
	 	 the	year,	plus	£3.1	billion	awarded	but	not	funded	 
	 	 at	year	end

	 •	 Promising	demand	across	diverse	asset	classes

 

Financial highlights

  2007 2006

Revenue	 £347.8m £302.1m

Pre-tax	profit 
Before exceptional items and  
 amortisation of intangibles	 £94.3m	 £79.9m 
After exceptional items and  
 amortisation of intangibles £23.7m £53.8m

Diluted earnings per share  
Before exceptional items  
 and amortisation of intangibles 11.1p		 8.9p  
After exceptional items  
 and amortisation of intangibles 3.5p	 6.3p

Total dividend per share 5.5p 4.4p

Net new business 
–  funded £8.7bn £5.0bn 
–  awarded but not funded  
 at year end  £3.1bn £1.0bn

Assets under management  
 at the year end  £95.3bn £73.2bn

Historical summary

Earnings	per	share	(pence)

2007		 11.09

2006  8.95

2005  4.60*

2004  3.01*

2003  1.99* 

Dividend	per	share	(pence)	

2007  5.50

2006  4.40

2005  3.00*

2004  2.57*

2003  2.57* 

Assets under management (£bn)

2007		 95.3

2006  73.2

2005  59.7

2004  22.1

2003  20.6 

* adjusted for the effects of the rights issue in September 2005 and adoption of IFRS. 

 

Strong organic growth and  
record fund inflows from an 
increasingly international and 
diversified client base
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A year of continuing success  
for the Group, achieved through 
strong organic growth and 
selective acquisitions.

As Aberdeen approaches its twenty-fifth anniversary, I am 
pleased to report that 2007 has been a year of continuing 
success for the Group, achieved through strong organic growth 
and selective acquisitions. 

We have attracted record inflows across a range of asset classes 
and clients that delivered £8.7 billion of net new business during 
the year, with a further £3.1 billion of mandates awarded, the 
assets of which will come in after the year end. The Group’s clear 
and disciplined investment processes across our core 
competencies of equities, fixed income and property have 
helped underpin these new business gains over the last year. 

During the year, we also announced three infill acquisitions: 
DeAM Australia, Glasgow Investment Managers, and Nationwide 
Financial Services in the United States. The first two transactions 
were completed during the year and added £5 billion to assets 
under management (‘AuM’). Total AuM at the year end had 
increased 30% to £95.3 billion.  Completion of the third 
transaction added a further £3.5 billion to AuM on  
1 October, such that total AuM exceeded £100 billion at  
31 October 2007.

The investment environment over the last twelve months has 
however been characterised by increasing extremes. Some 
markets have become overvalued, in particular China and also a 
number of commodities. A similar mispricing of risk led, in part, 
to the collapse of the subprime credit markets. 

Our fixed income teams resisted investing in Collaterised Debt 
Obligations (‘CDOs’), many of which have been built on 
mortgage-backed structures, because of the lack of price 
transparency and concerns over credit quality. Our core equity 
managers have stuck to their process of only investing in stocks 
that meet their strict quality and valuation criteria. Thus they 
now have in general significantly lower exposure to China and 
the resource sector than either benchmarks or their peer groups. 

The positions we take on behalf of client portfolios are 
conviction-based and our long-term track record demonstrates 
the benefit of this approach. Our fixed income teams have 
strong three-year performance over almost their entire product 
range. In our equity portfolios, we have also done well over this 
period. We now lag, however, in Asia Pacific equities, where we 
have suffered because of our reluctance to chase a market rally 
that has become increasingly focused on China and related 
cyclical stocks, where valuations appear unsustainable. 

Underlining our improved performance, Edhec/Europerformance 
ranked Aberdeen top in the UK in the 2007 ‘Alpha League Table’. 
Their report stated that Aberdeen ‘not only offers substantial 
alpha, but it is also capable of generating it from a significant 
portion of its actively managed funds’.

Charles	Irby Chairman

 

Chairman’s statement
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Results and dividend
The Group’s underlying profit, which we define as profit before 
taxation, exceptional items and amortisation of intangible 
assets, was £94.3 million compared to £79.9 million in 2006. This 
represents underlying earnings per share, on a diluted basis, of 
11.1p, an increase of 24% on last year. After accounting for 
exceptional items and amortisation, we report a pre-tax profit of 
£23.7 million, compared to £53.8 million in 2006.

The Board is recommending a final dividend of 2.9p per share, 
making a total payment for the year of 5.5p per share, an 
increase of 25% on the total payment for 2006. 

Financials
Revenue has increased by 15% to £347.8 million. This growth 
has been well spread over the Group's activities, with both the 
investment management and property divisions delivering 
similar improvement levels.

Operating expenses have risen at a lower rate, 10%, and thus the 
Group's underlying operating profit has improved by 22% on the 
2006 figure.

We continued to strengthen the balance sheet, principally from 
the issue, in May, of US$400 million of 7.9% Perpetual 
Subordinated Capital Securities in the Asian retail market. This 
issue, which is treated as an element of equity, has introduced 
additional flexibility to our capital structure. The proceeds of the 
issue have been used to finance the acquisitions referred to 
earlier, to repay outstanding bank debt and to finance the 
purchase of shares for the Group’s Employee Benefit Trust.

New business
The Group has continued to attract a broad range of new 
business and now has an extensive spread of products and 
clients. The majority of segregated new business wins were in 
fixed income mandates, where we saw strong inflows into global, 
US, emerging markets and Liability Driven Investment (LDI) 
strategies. In equities, while interest continued in our Asia Pacific 
equity capability, there was also increasing demand for our 
emerging market and global equity products, including some 
with Socially Responsible Investment (SRI) overlays. Net sales, as 
summarised in the following table, were dispersed across 
Continental Europe (50%), the United States and Canada (22%), 
the UK (17%) and the Middle East (11%).  

 Funded Yet to Total
	 in	year	 fund	 awarded
 £m £m £m

Segregated account mandates 6,792	 2,123	 8,915

Funds 202 – 202

Total fund  management division 6,994	 2,123	 9,117

Property division 1,704	 947	 2,651

Group total 8,698	 3,070	 11,768

Our	strategy

The Group has a balanced business with principal  
investment centres in the three main time zones.

Our expertise is the management of client portfolios from  
a fundamental perspective. This forms the basis of our core 
investment competence.

We intend to develop our investment capability and 
distribution platforms in order to enter new markets  
and segments where we have a competitive and  
sustainable edge.

We will add new offices where it will enhance our services  
to clients and prospects or deepen our investment coverage.

We also build our assets and skills through acquisitions  
where we see a fit to our existing business.

To manage costs, we outsource or centralise non-core 
functions. We prefer to own investment competence,  
product development and client relations ourselves.
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Our property division, which is the largest property manager in 
Scandinavia, has continued to expand.  A key focus has been the 
strategic transition away from segregated mandates towards 
property funds, with property funds now accounting for 48% 
(2006: 27%) of property AuM, which increased by 42% over the 
year to £9.4 billion. The team has successfully launched seven 
new funds during the year adding a total of e2.3 billion (£1.6 
billion) to assets under management. They include funds for the 
Nordic region, France & Southern Europe, European Shopping 
Centres and Russia. We have also continued to lead the evolution 
in the property fund-of-funds sector, introducing two Asian and 
two European funds during  
the year. 

Corporate activity

The Group completed a number of infill acquisitions during  
the second half of the year. We acquired certain businesses from 
DeAM Australia on 1 June, completing our global fixed income 
capability as well as improving our profile in the Australian 
institutional market. In addition, the acquisition of Glasgow 
Investment Managers in August complements Aberdeen’s 
existing UK investment trust range by adding three  
high-yielding UK equity income trust contracts.

Finally, towards the end of our financial year, we agreed to 
purchase the US equity asset management business from 
Nationwide Financial Services adding approximately  
US$7 billion (£3.5 billion) of AuM, principally in sub-advisory 
mandates. This transaction will increase the Group’s  
presence in the US mutual fund market.

Business development

The background to our business development has been one of 
increasing globalisation. In January, we opened an office in 
Frankfurt, a continuation of our strategy to distribute through a 
local presence within Europe, and this office has already 
registered a number of new business wins. In the Middle East  
we widened our core client base, in addition to receiving extra 
funding from existing clients. In the US, our focus on the 
consultant channel resulted in new business wins. The 
acquisitions in the US and Australia provide increased 
distribution as well as new products: mutual funds and  
domestic equities in the US and a domestic fixed income 
capability in Australia. 

We decided in October to close temporarily to new business our 
mainstream segregated fixed income capability, in order to 
ensure that we manage effectively the strong levels of growth.  
As with our soft close for Asia-Pacific segregated equity 
mandates in 2005, we believe this move is in the best interests of 
our clients and of our shareholders and allows us to grow our 
business at a sustainable pace.

 
Outlook

2007 has been a rewarding year for the Group. Our priority is 
now to consolidate our recent gains, as well as to manage our 
cost base efficiently.

We are cautious about the outlook for world financial markets 
and, consequently, the prospects for attracting new business on 
the scale of the last year. However the work we have done over 
the past three years in strengthening and diversifying our 
product range and client base will ensure the Group is well 
placed to grasp opportunities for continued growth. It is  
pleasing to note that, since the year end, AuM have surpassed 
£100 billion and trading in the new financial year is satisfactory.

Finally, I would like to welcome our new employees to the  
Group and to thank all of our staff for their continued hard work 
and commitment. I would also like to thank my fellow board 
members for their valuable input during what has been a 
dynamic year.

Charles	Irby 
Chairman

Chairman’s statement continued

The acquisitions in the US and 
Australia provide increased 
distribution as well as  
new products.
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What we do
At Aberdeen, asset management is all that we do, and  
only for third parties. Our capabilities cover equities,  
fixed income and property.

We know global markets from the local level upwards:  
we have 1,500 staff, across 24 offices, in 19 countries.

We believe our focus, size and approach enable us to provide 
effective asset management and superior client service.

Our teams champion original thinking and knowledge, so 
investment decisions are based only on our own research.

As a group, we have the scale to provide global coverage of 
financial markets; yet we are small enough to focus on each  
and every portfolio decision.

Close-knit teams, clear investment processes and flat  
structures are important to us. We look to grow our clients’ 
assets in a way that is manageable and sustainable over  
the longer term.

 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 5
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Equities
The Aberdeen equity process dates from the early 1990s. The 
process is continually evolving but its central tenets are an 
emphasis on original research, the identification of businesses 
that we can understand and the elimination of downside 
risks through price disciplines. While it originated in Asia, our 
approach works equally in developed markets, since we believe 
that it is fundamentals that drive returns over the long term.

Active	management 
Our aim is to add value by 
identifying good quality securities, 
defined chiefly in terms of 
management and business model, 
which are attractively priced. Stock 
selection is the key source of equity 
alpha. We downplay benchmarks in 
portfolio construction since these 
provide little clue to future 
performance.

Proprietary	research 
Our equity managers always visit 
companies before investing, making 
thousands of visits annually to 
existing and prospective holdings. 
Every contact is documented in 
detail. If a security fails our screens, 
we will not own it, irrespective of its 
index weight.

Long-term	focus 
Our mainstream strategies are 
simple: we buy and hold, add on the 
dips, and take profits on price run-
ups. This reduces transaction costs 
and keeps portfolios focused. We 
rarely pursue short-term returns for 
mainstream strategies,albeit for 
specialist portfolios, activity may be 
more dynamic.

Team approach 
We employ over 75 investment 
professionals based globally. 
Portfolio decisions are made 
collectively, and we avoid cultivating 
‘star’ managers. Cross-coverage of 
securities also increases objectivity 
and lessens reliance on individuals.

What we do continued
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1	 2	 3
Quality	 Aberdeen		 Price	 Portfolio	
Pass or fail?	 universe		 	 construction	
  Cheap or   
  expensive

t	 	 t	 t

Potential revisit Watchlist/  Monitor  
  review 

Company	visit	note		 Risk	 
  controls

Equity	investment	process Equities	breakdown

 

 

 

 

Asia Pacifi c 
£18.3bn

 Specialist equities £1.4bn  North America £0.5bn

 
European £1.5bn 

Global
Emerging
Markets 
£3.8bn 

UK £5.5bn

Global / EAFE 
£3.0bn

Total  £34.0bn
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Fixed income
With the DeAM acquisition in 2005, Aberdeen inherited  
a fixed income process that dates back to the late 1980s.  
Its core elements are: a focus on proprietary research; the 
identification of investment opportunities with attractive  
risk-reward characteristics; the combination of multiple  
non-correlated sources of alpha; and close risk monitoring  
at all stages of the decision making. Our global client base 
invests in a range of local, global, specialist currency and  
fixed income securities.

Active	management 
Our aim is to add value by  
exploiting market inefficiencies  
in the areas of relative value,  
credit, interest rate and currency 
management. These sources  
of added value are combined 
to meet individual client return and 
risk objectives across a variety of 
local, global and specialist 
benchmarks and liability profiles. 
Strategies can be created for both 
constrained and unconstrained 
mandates using small teams focused 
on specialist areas. We have 

established an investment process 
and structure which is adaptable to a 
wide and changing set of client 
requirements. Our use of derivatives 
allows us to separate sources of risk 
and return, and construct funded or 
unfunded investment strategies.

Proprietary	research	and	 
idea generation 
We have dedicated portfolio 
managers and analysts in the three  
main time zones, with a particular 
emphasis on relative value and 
credit, including high yield and 

with clients on performance 
objectives, guidelines and 
benchmarks.

Team approach  
We employ over 100 investment 
professionals across our teams.  
They invest within clearly  
delineated parameters with  
defined reporting lines.

emerging debt. Our macro-driven 
investment teams (interest rate  
and currency) benefit from local 
market contact with investors,  
policy makers and economists.

Portfolio	management 
Our aim is to blend individual 
investment decisions into a fully 
diversified local, global or specialist 
portfolio with attractive risk-return 
characteristics. Flexibility towards 
client needs and an ability to meet 
changing market requirements, such 
as LDI, is essential. We work closely 
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Investment	process	–	evaluating	risk	at	every	step

1 
Clients 
Agree your risk  
and return  
requirements 

2 
Investment	teams 

Idea generation in an  
unconstrained universe 

4 
Portfolio	managers 
Tailored implementation  
with no individual discretion

3 
Portfolio	Selection	 

Team (PST)  
Risk budgeting and 

 asset allocation 

Fixed	income	breakdown

Total  £44.5bn

Asia Pacific 
£4.7bn 

Global £7.2bn  

 

 

 
 

 

   
US £13.5bn

 

European £2.8bn 

 

Global Emerging Markets £1.8bn 

UK £13.9bn

 High Yield £0.5bn  Unfunded £0.1bn  
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Property

Aberdeen has two approaches to investment in property, 
offering direct and indirect property through separate 
accounts and through collective funds, including fund-of-
funds. Property’s distinctive features as an asset class suit our 
management style, which combines active management with 
a rigorous investment process. This is supported by top-class 
research and a thorough local understanding of the factors that 
drive performance. We apply our knowledge by linking the three 
essential disciplines of allocation, selection and management.

Active	management 
We believe in active management.  
Our approach is research-led and 
depends on good local market 
understanding, including with 
planners and consultants. While we 
are hands-on in portfolio modelling, 
asset and property management,  
we may also outsource day to day 
tasks in order to focus on areas 
where we can best add value to 
client strategies. 

Local presence 
Although our roots are in the Nordic 
region, we have expanded into 
Continental Europe’s heartland, 
including the UK, and lately, through 
our Singapore office in Asia. We now 
have 13 offices in Europe, having 
added London, Paris and St Petersburg 
in the past 12 months. We thus have 
an unrivalled local reach and are now 
in a position to market effectively 
cross-border - important given the 
trend for clients to diversify from their 
domestic market.

Structured	investment	process 
The principle is to combine an 
advanced top-down approach with a 
pragmatic but structured bottom-up 
approach. The former focuses on 
active management, the latter on 
managing portfolio risk (beta).

Risk	adjusted	returns 
This concept is central in assisting 
insitutional investors to gain well 
diversified property exposure.  
With advanced portfolio modelling, 
we provide an understanding of the 
risk of different property 
investments and their place in  
multi-asset structures.

What we do continued
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Total fund and mandate property value £9.4bn 

 
France £0.6bn

 

Sweden £1.3bn  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Norway £2.6bn  

Finland £2.2bn  

 
Denmark £0.6bn

 

Indirect 
£0.8bn 

Belgium 
£0.9bn

 Netherlands £0.3bn  UK £0.1bn

Property	investment	process Property	-	AuM	by	region
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Introduction
The past year has been another successful one for the Group. 
Many markets touched record highs, with consequent gains to 
our revenues, our new business wins were at record levels and we 
continued to develop a more balanced and global client base 
across a wider range of products.

A significant proportion of inflows came from clients based in 
Europe, the Middle East and the US. In January, we opened an 
office in Frankfurt which has already registered a number of 
wins. Our Amsterdam office proved very successful in attracting 
funds from Dutch pension schemes. In the Middle East, we 
widened our existing client base in addition to receiving extra 
funding. In the US we continued to attract new business from 
our strong fixed income teams there. 

Overall, we were helped by market developments, with the trend 
for institutional clients increasingly looking to separate sources 
of excess returns (or alpha) from market returns (or beta). 

For the asset management industry such shifts have magnified 
business choices. In one camp, simplistically, are big passive 
managers, for whom scale is all-important. In the other are 
active managers such as ourselves. The convergence of long-only 
strategies with those of hedge funds complicates the picture 
further whilst specialist areas such as commodities are 
becoming more mainstream. 

All participants face similar operational challenges,  
however. These include rising overheads, especially for risk 
management and compliance, tighter regulation and a more 
crowded market altogether, as barriers to cross-border selling 
fall, in the funds’ arena. 

We have thought hard about competitive advantage, and which 
core competencies differentiate us. Our key strengths are the 
focus, experience and longevity of our investment teams; 
longstanding senior management; clearly described investment 
processes; and sufficient reach to service and prospect for new 
clients, using both our own resources and those of third parties. 

Although we operate globally, our overall size  
is a secondary consideration. What matters are clear product 
propositions; effective teamwork adding value to portfolios, 
putting clients’ needs centre stage and controlling costs 

The Group now has significant 
scale across asset classes and we 
see excellent opportunities to 
grow from this base.

 

Business review

Martin Gilbert Chief Executive 
Bill	Rattray	Finance Director

 

 

Growth	in	the	European	asset	management	industry’s	third-party	AuM*

McKinsey’s Ninth Annual Survey  
on the profitability of European asset  
management explains that the  
key drivers for institutional growth  
in Europe have been growing pension 
markets and investors’ excess capital. 

Retail (e trillion) 
Institutional (e trillion)
Share of retail (%)

*  Revised time series to incorporate most recent market statistics. 
** Deviations of growth rates compared to absolute figures presented on slides due to rounding differences. Source: McKinsey October 2007 

7.6

8.8%

2006
34  

2005
36

2004
37  

2003
37  

2002
37  

2001
38  

2000
37		

1999
38  

1998
37		

CAGR** 
1998 – 2006

+7.8%

+9.4%

  

Growth rate** 
1998 – 2006

+7.7%

+14.0%

  

6.8

4.3
2.5

6.0

2.2
3.8

6.6

2.5
4.1

6.7

2.5
4.2

6.3

2.4
3.9

5.1
1.9
3.2

9.0
10.0

5.8

3.2
2.8
4.8

6.6

3.4



10 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 

ruthlessly. That entails selectively outsourcing or disposing  
of non-core activities and investing appropriately in our 
investment and client service teams. Where we can buy  
in complementary expertise through acquisitions, we will.

During the year we took a commercial decision to settle a legal 
action which had been brought by Real Estate Opportunities 
Limited (‘REO’). The Board decided upon this course of action 
having carefully considered the interests of shareholders. 
Notwithstanding the fact that the Board does not accept the 
validity of REO’s claim, the Directors decided that shareholders’ 
interests were better served by ending the distraction caused by 
the case. A settlement was therefore agreed with REO at a cost 
to the Group of £46.8 million, inclusive of all legal costs.

Financial objectives
Aberdeen is committed to delivering long-term shareholder 
value by pursuing a strategy that involves an appropriate mix  
of organic growth and selective acquisitions.

The Group’s principal aims are to grow the recurring revenues 
generated from assets under management (‘AuM’) and to 
maintain an efficient cost base from which to service this 
business. The level of net new business inflows is a key driver  
of the growth in revenues and profits.

Key performance indicators
  2007 2006 2005 
  % % %

Growth in underlying  
 profit before taxation +18 +132 +28*

Growth in underlying  
 EPS (diluted) +24 +92 +53*

Operating margins:   

Investment  
 management division 31.5 29.7 27.8

Property  
 management division 20.9 17.0 13.0

Net new business 
 funded in the year £8.7bn £5.0bn £3.1bn 
 awarded but unfunded £3.1bn £1.0bn £0.5bn

* Growth in underlying profit before taxation and EPS for the year to 
30 September 2005 involves comparing figures prepared under IFRS  
for 2005 with figures prepared under UK GAAP in 2004. However,  
the comparison on this basis remains a valid indicator of the scale of  
the Group’s progress in that year.

Business	review continued

Strong	growth	in	Aberdeen’s	AuM	providing	global	scale	to	the	business

* Awarded but not funded

Sep	2003 Sep	2004 Sep 2005 Sep 2006 Sep 2007 Proforma	 
1	Oct	2007

£20.6bn £22.1bn

£73.2bn

£59.7bn

£95.3bn
£101bn

£3.1bn*
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Review of results
The Group’s results for the year to 30 September 2007 disclose a 
record level of underlying profit, strong organic growth from net 
new business inflows and the benefits of some small acquisitions 
completed during the year.

Net new business inflows of £8.7 billion were achieved during 
the year and are included in the AuM figure at the year end.  
A further £3.1 billion of new mandates had been awarded at  
30 September 2007 for which the funding was not received from 
clients until after the year end. The current uncertainty in global 
bond and stock markets inevitably means that new business 
generation is more difficult, but we continue to have a healthy 
pipeline of potential opportunities. Indeed, we have taken a 
conscious decision to undertake a temporary closure to new 
segregated business in our main fixed income classes, so that  
we can manage the quality and flow rate of assets we take on.

Consistent with the approach we adopted in 2006, this  
business review discusses the results on the basis of presentation 
adopted for management purposes, which we refer to as the 
underlying basis. The Board considers that the separation of 
recurring and non-recurring items in this way will provide more 
helpful information to investors. 

The following table summarises the principal differences 
between the IFRS and underlying numbers.

	 	 Underlying	 Reclassifications	 IFRS 
  £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 347,843 – 347,843  
Other operating income 3,440 8,667 12,107 

Total income 351,283	 8,667	 359,950  
Operating expenses (251,299) (76,481) (327,780) 

Operating profit 99,984		 (67,814)	 32,170	  
Net finance costs (5,719)	 (2,778)	 (8,497) 

Profit before taxation  94,265		 (70,592)	 23,673	  
Tax expense (credit) (11,387)	 18,357		 6,970	 

Profit after taxation 82,878		 (52,235)	 30,643	  
Exceptional income  
 and expenses (61,188)	 61,188		 –	  
Amortisation of  
 intangible assets (9,404)	 9,404		 –	  
Tax on exceptional items  
 and amortisation 18,357		 (18,357)	 –	 

Profit for the year 30,643		 –		 30,643	

  

Assets	by	client	type Assets	by	client	domicile

Total £95.3bn

Other institutional £6.0bn
 

 
Insurance £10.8bn  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Pension funds 
£34.6bn 

 

Open end £18.7bn 
 

 
Central banks, 
government 
agencies £8.8bn

 

Third party
distribution
£10.5bn

 

Closed end £5.9bn
 

 

Total £95.3bn

Asia Pacific £9.5bn
 

Americas £19.5bn  

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

United Kingdom 
£36.5bn 

 

Europe ex UK £23.9bn 

 

Middle East & Africa 
£5.9bn
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The Group’s total income increased by 13% to £351.3 million, 
while the underlying operating profit improved by 22%  
to £100.0 million. Net finance costs increased to £5.7 million, 
resulting in an underlying profit before taxation of  
£94.3 million, an increase of 18% on the previous year.

These improved results arose from considerable progress  
made in each of the fund management and property 
management divisions, which are discussed in more detail 
below. The Group’s overall operating margin, which is defined  
as the operating profit divided by total income, improved  
from 27.2% in 2006 to 28.5% this year.

Underlying earnings per share, which is probably the most 
meaningful measure of progress, as it takes account of the 
increased number of shares in issue as well as the rise in profits, 
increased by 24% to 11.1 pence per share on a diluted basis.

Exceptional expenses, net of exceptional gains, of £61.2 million 
incurred during the year.  The largest element was the settlement 
of the legal action brought by REO as discussed above.  The final 
element of costs arising from the integration of the businesses 
bought from DeAM in 2005 totalled £20.3 million and an 
accounting adjustment of £2.8 million arose on the value of a 
convertible bond redemption. Deferred proceeds of £8.7 million 
were received in respect of disposals made in earlier years.

Review of operations
Operational structure
The Group operates two business segments:

•	Investment	management,	which	involves	the	management	 
 of equities and fixed income securities; and
•	Property	asset	management.

The investment management division is organised in four 
geographical areas – Europe, Asia, Australia and the Americas.  
The nature of the Group’s business, whereby assets sourced  
from clients of any given domicile may be mandated for 
investment in another geographic area, means that there is 
considerable ongoing interaction.

Business	review continued

The property division operates principally in Europe, with 
approximately 72% of AuM in Scandinavia and 28% in 
Continental Europe. 

The performance of each of these divisions and regions is 
discussed below.

Fixed income
Within fixed income we saw strong inflows into a number  
of products including global, US, emerging markets and liability 
driven investment (‘LDI’) strategies, leading to our accolade as 
‘Fixed Income Manager of the Year’ by Global Pensions magazine. 
Still, markets were as challenging as ever, as the off balance sheet 
activities of the banking sector were questioned by investors  
and regulators. Following significant new client wins and a 
growing pipeline of potential new business in US, UK, European 
and global fixed income, we decided to close temporarily these 
strategies. This decision is consistent with our commitment to a 
managed pace of growth and for the benefit of a sustainable 
long-term business. 

In June, we completed the acquisition of DeAM’s fixed income 
business in Australia, a sophisticated market experiencing strong 
growth in savings. By combining our local expertise with our 
global fixed income capabilities, we are well positioned to 
promote innovative investment strategies in this growing 
market. This transaction, which cost £49 million in cash, added 
approximately £5 billion of AuM, mainly fixed income.  The 
Australian unit trust and closed end fund business now has some 
£1.5 billion of AuM.

Our US division saw significant growth. This was manifest in new 
mandates and AuM, as well as staff numbers we added further 
depth to our teams. For the year, fixed income experienced a 
20% increase in AuM, growing from £14.0 billion to £16.8 billion. 
The Core Plus product led the way. 

 
Property £9.4bn 

 

Equities £34.0bn  
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

Fixed Income £44.5bn

 

Multi-Asset £7.2bn

  Private Equity £0.2bn 

Total £95.3bn

Assets	by	type	of	mandate
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Further contribution to our organic growth has come from the 
development of new products, as highlighted by our LDI offering 
for US pension funds. This product has grown to £834 million 
under management during its first year. Our specialist emerging 
market debt and high yield teams also delivered an impressive 
growth in assets. Emerging market debt assets increased by 
116% from £0.8 billion to £1.8 billion during the fiscal year. 

The widening of credit spreads and reduction of market liquidity 
affected all fixed income investors to some degree over the 
summer. While we are hopeful that asset classes stabilise, further 
subprime disruption is likely, as investors losses spread outward 
from the wholesale money markets. Thus, our efforts next year 
will be focused on converting our strong pipeline to new 
business and on those products that remain open, in particular 
emerging market debt and our pooled fund ranges. 

Equities
Global equity markets chalked up healthy returns during the  
year. The MSCI World Index finished 9.6% higher in  
Sterling terms despite a volatile June quarter. By region,  
Latin America was the star performer, while Japan was the  
main laggard. 

Our main asset gathering was through our global emerging 
market equities (GEM) product. However, notable wins were also 
recorded in global equities, SRI and UK equities, suggesting that 
the hard work to build track records in mainstream areas has 
started to pay off. 

The US was a big focus for distribution, in part because of our 
GEM capability, commanding a specialist premium, added to 
which many rivals are closed to new capacity. This was helped by 
the US launch of an Aberdeen-branded mutual fund investing in 
global emerging markets in May, our first such product there. 
Altogether, the growth in equity products distributed or 
managed in the US was substantial, with AuM increasing  
by 85%, from £1.3 billion to £2.4 billion. 

Asset gathering will be boosted by the strategic acquisition of 
the £3.4 billion US equity business from Nationwide Financial 
Services, which will soon provide us with 26 Aberdeen-badged 
funds – about £1.2 billion in assets under management. The 
acquisition also includes nearly £2.2 billion in sub-advised funds. 
It is important because it broadens our US equity capability 
through the addition of a highly rated specialist domestic team, 
and provides a ready made retail distribution platform thus 
accelerating our growth plans.

Property
This has been another buoyant year for our property division 
with strong growth in property funds and the introduction of 
new products. Both AuM and profits in this division jumped 
sharply. Our operating profit increased 41% to £14.4 million 
with an overall margin of 20.9% and our turnover increased 15% 
to £69 million. Total AuM increased to £9.4 billion, up 42% from 
last year, primarily from strong new fund sales. 

We expanded the property fund range with seven successful 
launches in the year adding a total of £1.6 billion.  We have 
launched funds for the Nordic region, Southern Europe and 
Russia in addition to focusing on European property.  We have 
also continued to lead the evolution in the property fund of  
funds, industry with two Asian and two European funds-of-funds 
launched during the year. 

We have strengthened our position in the UK and Russia, where 
we recruited local teams. The addition of these teams follow the 
closer integration of the property teams within the wider Group. 
Staff from different divisions now work side by side which 
increases the scope for cross-selling.

In 2008 we intend to increase our presence in Continental 
Europe and continue to grow our funds business for institutional 
investors. The success of our Asian funds suggests that not only 
can we grow our management capability there, but also attract 
inflows from investors in that region.

Management Mandates 
Funds

Rapid	increase	in	European	property	assets

2004 2005 2006 2007

e0.1bn

e5.6bn

e0.8bn
e2.6bn

e6.3bn

e6.8bn
e7.2bne7.2bn
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Business	review continued

Client developments
We organise our sales around a top tier of institutions globally, 
such as pension funds and central banks, consultant 
intermediaries, and financial institutions (for example private 
banks) that use third party managers. Relationship managers  
are situated locally, and are not organised along product lines. 
This arrangement ensures client focus, promotes more targeted 
cross-selling and avoids the potential of different product 
owners approaching clients separately. 

However, the third party industry faces unusual levels of 
consolidation. Some clients are aiming to build scale through 
mergers or takeovers; others have ambitions to manage funds 
themselves (such as consultants); and still more are 
re-evaluating their use of third parties, perhaps as a result of 
changes to their underlying asset allocation (for example, by 
moving to index mainstream allocations and deploying outside 
specialists for the balance). 

This environment poses several challenges to revenue flows, 
with pressure to build relationships at a global or regional level 
to ensure scale economies and thus offset the constant 
downward pressure on fees. At the same time, it makes sense 
where capacity is scarce to direct sales to higher margin markets 
or segments. Last, in the face of mounting regulatory and 
reporting requirements, it is imperative to align our resources 
with the most attractive prospects. 

In the most extreme case, it may be both necessary and  
desirable to build a separate infrastructure, as we have done  
for example in our UK closed end fund businesses, where we 
manage some £3.7bn across 18 funds. Here the experience and 
depth of our funds services team have helped to ensure asset 
retention. This is complicated by our accountability both to 
independent boards and, through investment performance, to 
underlying shareholders. While the past year has been quiet in 
terms of new closed end fund launches, we oversaw the ‘merger’ 
of the Tribune Tracker into Edinburgh UK Tracker. This doubled 
the latter’s size, such that its gross assets now stand at £337m.

Composition of assets
The year under review has seen steady growth in each of the 
major asset classes. It is also encouraging to note that our new 
business inflows remain well diversified.

Breakdown	of	AuM	at	30	September	2007

   £m	 %

By	asset	class   
Fixed income  48,443	 50.8 
Equities  37,515	 39.4 
Property  9,354	 9.8

   95,312	 100.0

By	mandate	type   
Fixed income  44,564	 46.8 
Equities  33,975	 35.6 
Multi-asset  7,164	 7.5 
Property  9,354	 9.8 
Private equity  255	 0.3

   95,312	 100.0

Core operating margins

Fund management Property

27.8%
30.3%

15.9%

24.3%

16.9%

27.7%

31.5%

20.9%

29.4%

200520052005 200720072007 200620062006

Group
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The larger concern, however, is over our whole information and 
risk management infrastructure. This has to be robust. We are 
now steering towards a more hybrid model, where some 
functions are outsourced but certain others such as portfolio 
monitoring or performance measurement may be retained in 
house; for more manual tasks we already ‘offshore’ to lower  
cost offices. 

We have also recently strengthened our internal risk control 
functions to focus on the changing complexity of the business. In 
addition to the traditional regulatory compliance and internal 
audit areas, we have created a separate dedicated team to 
address the operational and investment risks arising through the 
instruments we use and the multi-jurisdictional environment in 
which we operate.

Financial review
Revenue
Revenue increased by 15% to £347.8 million. The buoyant levels 
of new business wins have been the most significant contributor 
to this growth, although this has been supplemented by some 
small acquisitions. The most significant growth has been 
generated in the investment management division, with 
revenues of £278.8 million showing a 15% increase on 2006 but 
the property division has also made a major contribution with an 
increase of 15% to £69.0 million.

Operating	profit	and	margin
Underlying operating profit increased by 22% to £100.0 million, 
with good progress in both the investment management and 
property asset management divisions, as follows:

  2007 2006 Change 
  £m £m %

Operating profit    
 Investment management 85.6 71.9 +19 
 Property 14.4 10.2 +41 
 Group total 100.0 82.1 +22

Operating margin    
 Investment management 30.7% 29.7%  
 Property 20.9% 17.0% 

 

Organisational changes
Of the many changes afoot in the industry, few have as much 
impact as new regulation. The landmark EU directive on financial 
instruments (‘MiFID’), this November ushers in a single financial 
market in Europe. However, its origins are in capital markets 
legislation, rather than in financial products. So while there are 
common principles of price transparency, treating customers 
fairly, and so on, which are designed to foster more competition, 
legislation has yet to be implemented across all nations. The UK 
is thankfully ahead of most Continental countries, and industry 
consultation has been intensive. 

At a practical level we face much more disclosure, which means 
more documentation of processes and thus more paperwork. 
This is a short-term cost. It is being compounded however by 
staff shortages across the industry.  The prospect of a true single 
market in Europe therefore may be some way away, but we are 
confident the benefits will emerge eventually.

The pace of today’s changes is being forced by developments in 
underlying markets. More complex securities create new 
challenges. It is becoming harder to price and therefore value 
portfolios, a difficulty compounded in particular by the 
explosion in the use of derivatives. Where simple futures, for 
example, were until very recently confined to mainstream funds. 
Their use, along with currency hedging, has become widespread. 
Indeed, UCITS III, the European fund protocol, supports the use 
of active derivative strategies. 

It is very much with these developments in mind that the 
majority of our European pooled funds are being migrated to our 
existing Luxembourg umbrella range. New regulations, including 
the prospect of an EU passport, make this the most convenient 
domicile from which to launch products internationally, 
including into parts of Asia and South America. 

In the past we have favoured a business model where non-core 
tasks such as fund administration were outsourced. Today’s 
environment, where alternative and traditional strategies are 
converging, means the main benefits – management of 
overheads – is not necessarily the most important factor. 
Instead, there is much more focus on systems development and 
the need to guarantee the quality and timely delivery of 
information.  We are working very closely with our service 
providers to ensure that we can satisfy client needs.  

Net	new	business	–	12	months	to	30		September	2007

Net sales £8,698bn 
Pipeline  £3,070bn 
Total funded and  
unfunded  £11,768bn

	(£1,022m)
Multi-Asset 

	£6,498m 
Fixed	income		

£3,602m	 
Equities	

	£2,690m 
Property		

(£1,120m) 
£98m 

£947m

£612m
£2,990m

£1,743m	

£1,413m	

£5,085m	
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What we do continued

Net	finance	costs
The main elements of net finance costs are interest paid on the 
various bonds and convertible bonds issued by the Group and  
on bank borrowings drawn from time to time, less interest 
earned on cash balances. Net finance costs have increased  
from £2.2 million in 2006 to £5.7 million this year, as our net 
borrowings have increased to fund some small acquisitions  
and to provide seed capital necessary for the successful  
launches of new property funds.

Tax
The effective tax rate, defined as the tax charge divided by profit 
before taxation was 12% in 2007. This relatively low rate arose 
because of continued growth in profits earned in jurisdictions 
which charge tax at lower rates than the UK corporation tax rate 
of 30%. This is supplemented by the improvement in profits of 
our UK subsidiaries where the tax charge has been reduced by 
the offset of losses incurred in earlier years.  We have also been 
able to release an element of provisioning from earlier years. This 
pattern is expected to continue, resulting in an effective tax rate 
in the 15%-20% range for the foreseeable future.

Earnings	per	share
As discussed above, the Board believes that the most appropriate 
measure of the Group’s profitability is the underlying EPS 
number, which excludes from its calculation exceptional costs, 
exceptional income and gains and the amortisation of intangible 
assets. On this measure the Group’s EPS has improved by 24%  
to 11.1p per share.

Dividends
An interim dividend of 2.6p per share was paid to ordinary 
shareholders in June 2007 and the Board is recommending 
payment of a final dividend of 2.9p per share, resulting in a  
total payment for 2007 of 5.5p, an increase of 25% on 2006.  
This dividend is twice covered by recurring earnings per share.

Financial position
Total equity increased by £169.8 million to £619.9 million at  
30 September 2007. The main elements of this increase were as 
follows:

    £’000

Profit for the year  	 30,643 
Net income recognised directly in equity  2,524 
Issue of shares on exercise of options and warrants  1,571 
Issue of perpetual capital securities  	 196,465 
Preference dividends paid  	 (5,395) 
Ordinary dividends paid  	 (31,272) 
Coupon on perpetual capital securities  	 (2,742) 
Purchase of own shares  	 (29,473) 
Release from reserves to match charge for  
share-based payments in Income Statement 	 7,498

Increase in total equity  	 169,819

The regulations relating to the composition of regulatory capital 
for asset managers were amended with effect from 1 January 
2007 following implementation of the Capital Requirements 
Directive (‘CRD’). A key change was to enable asset managers to 
issue a form of capital described as innovative tier 1 capital 
which, within certain limits, can be treated as core capital for 
regulatory purposes. The Group took advantage of the amended 
regulations to issue US$400 million 7.9% Perpetual Capital 
Securities, thus introducing a degree of flexibility to the  
capital structure.

The coupon payable on these securities is fully deductible for UK 
tax purposes, so that the post-tax cost is approximately 5.5% 
(rising to approximately 5.7% pa when the UK corporation tax 
rate reduces from 30% to 28% in April 2008). This is considerably 
less than the cost of ordinary share capital, currently estimated 
at around 11% pa.

The proceeds of this issue were used to repay bank debt, to 
finance the infill acquisitions completed during the year and to 
provide additional resources for the Group’s operations. In 
particular, the additional resources enabled the Group to provide 
additional seed capital capacity to the property division to 
facilitate the efficient launch of further funds.

Business	review continued
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Net borrowings at 30 September 2007 were £53.0 million, 
equivalent to a gearing ratio of 8.5% of total equity. Net 
borrowings include £26.6 million of convertible bonds which 
holders may elect to convert to ordinary shares at any time up to 
March 2010. The Group also has access to £52.1 million of 
committed but undrawn bank facilities and an overdraft facility 
of £15 million. These facilities are used for the management of 
working capital requirements including the provision of seed 
capital to enable fund launches.

The deficit on the Group’s three legacy defined benefit pension 
schemes has reduced to £18.3 million at 30 September 2007, 
compared to £32.3 million at the previous year end. This 
improvement arises from a combination of healthy investment 
returns on scheme assets, ongoing contributions by the Group 
and an increase in the discount rate used to value the schemes’ 
liabilities. The discount rate, which is calculated by reference to 
the yield on corporate bonds, rose to 5.9% in 2007, compared to 
5.1% in 2006. The Group’s cash contribution to these schemes is 
approximately £4.5 million per annum.

Cash flow
The Group’s cash flow performance over the last three years  
is summarised below.

  2007 2006 2005 
  £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash flow from  
 operating activities 37,151 52,567 34,316 
Maintenance capital  
 expenditure* (6,345) (3,446) (2,465) 
Dividends (39,409) (28,110) (10,044

Free cash flow (8,603) 21,011 21,807 
Exceptional costs (67,077) (49,118) (51,820)
Acquisitions and disposals (58,432) (109,067) (48,996)
Issue of perpetual  
 capital securities 196,465 – – 
Debt drawn (repaid) (2,736) 90,678 (130,186)
Issue of share capital 1,571 873 295,623 
Purchase of own shares (29,473) (3,024) – 
Exchange fluctuations 845 (249) (740)

Movement in net debt 32,560 (48,896) 85,688

* Maintenance capital expenditure represents the purchase, less disposals,  
 of property, plant and equipment used in the Group’s ongoing activities.

The principal reason for the reduced level of free cash flow in 
2007 is the provision of short term advances (seed capital) to a 
number of new property funds – £24.0 million in the year.

Risks
In common with many businesses, the Group is exposed to a 
range of risks. Some of these risks are an inherent part of the 
business conduct by the Group such as taking investment 
decisions on behalf of clients and our energies are focussed on 
managing this risk as opposed to eliminating it. On the other 
hand there is regulatory and compliance risk which we actively 
seek to avoid.

The management of risk is embedded in the culture of the 
business and in the way in which the Group carries out its 
business. The Risk Management Committee together with  
the Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit departments are 
responsible for overseeing the implementation of the Group’s 
risk strategies and this involves the provision of regular reports 
to the Group Board.

In order to mitigate risk, the Group manages risk in a variety of 
ways depending on the nature of the risk and the areas of 
potential impact. The key risks for the Group include:

Investment	performance	risk
The majority of the Group’s revenue is derived from 
management fees which are calculated on the basis of the value 
of AuM from time to time. The value of AuM will be affected by 
general movements, positive or negative, in the markets in which 
the assets are invested but, more specifically, will be affected by 
the actual investment performance achieved by the Group.

The Group’s investment performance will, from time to time and 
measured over various time periods, exceed or lag general 
market or benchmark performance – referred to as relative 
performance. The Group deliberately adopts a long term 
investment style, founded on a robust investment process which 
involves detailed research of individual stocks, both before and 
following investment. This investment style is designed to 
deliver superior returns over the longer term but it may result in 
below benchmark returns in periods when markets generally are 
driven forward by positive (and often shorter term) sentiment.
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The Group seeks to mitigate this risk by ensuring that both 
clients and investment consultants are kept fully aware of the 
nature of its investment philosophy and by openly discussing  
the drivers of such performance, supported by relevant analysis 
of the components of performance, and comparing this with 
benchmark performance.

Employee	risk
The Group operates in a world-wide marketplace and the 
company’s most important resource is its employees. Their 
knowledge and abilities are central to meeting clients’ needs  
and expectations. Retention of key staff is vitally important in 
maintaining this focus on client service. The company invests in 
graduate recruitment programmes and in ongoing training and 
development programmes relevant to the needs of the 
Company and its employees. Appropriate incentive packages  
are in place to ensure that strong performance is encouraged  
and rewarded.

Business	continuity	risk
The Group operates in a global marketplace and there is a 
requirement to ensure that the business can continue to operate 
to meet client needs. The Group has continuity plans in place 
which involve key members of staff. The continuity plans are 
tested regularly to ensure they continue to meet the needs of 
the business. The principal back-office administration functions 
of the company are outsourced to providers who have proven 
and well tested back-up resources and facilities. In addition there 
are alternative off-site systems arrangements in place for each 
of the Group’s principal operating sites. The Group has insurance 
in place to cover loss of revenue through business interruption.

Project	risk
The Group is reliant on the smooth and efficient delivery of  
key projects and manages the risks involved in these projects 
through a clearly defined group-wide process which is  
overseen by a senior management team. This Group Projects 
Committee ensures prioritisation and allocation of resources 
across Group projects. 

Financial risk management
Interest	rate	risk
The Group finances its activities from a combination of share 
capital and debt, including convertible debt and perpetual 
capital securities. Interest is charged at fixed rates on the 
convertible bonds and the coupon on the preference shares in 
issue is payable, at the discretion of the Board, at a fixed rate.

Bank borrowings under the Group’s multi-currency  
revolving credit facility are drawn in the desired currency at 
variable interest rates. Interest on the US dollar subordinated 
loan is charged at a fixed rate for 5 years from the date of  
issue, July 2006.

The Board believes that the current balance between floating 
rate and fixed rate borrowings is appropriate to the Group’s 
business needs and will continue to monitor this position on a 
regular basis.

Foreign	currency	risk
The Group’s revenues are earned principally from fees which 
are calculated on the basis of the value of AuM managed  
for clients and many mandates include investments valued in 
currencies other than sterling. Fluctuations in the rates at  
which overseas currencies are convertible to sterling can 
therefore affect the value of the Group’s revenues on an  
ongoing basis.

The fact that the Group operates on a global basis, with  
offices in a number of countries worldwide, means that a 
proportion of operating costs is also incurred in foreign 
currencies and interest on the Group’s US$125 million 
subordinated debt and 7.9% perpetual capital securities is 
incurred in US dollars. Variations in the sterling value of these 
operating costs and interest cost will, to an extent, offset any 
similar impact of fluctuating exchange rates on revenues and  
the Board has therefore decided that it is not appropriate to 
undertake any specific hedging of exchange rates.

Fair	value	of	financial	instruments
As explained in note 30 to the accounts, there is no material 
difference between the book value and fair value of financial 
instruments at 30 September 2007.
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Resources
Employees
The Group ’s most important resource is its employees and  
their knowledge and abilities are central to meeting clients’ 
needs and expectations. Retention of key staff is vital. We are 
committed to staff training and development including a 
graduate recruitment programme.

We also look closely at incentives which are vetted in turn by the 
Remuneration Committee, to ensure that strong performance is 
both encouraged and rewarded.

Client relationships
The Group’s relationships with clients is fundamental to its 
business. Our client relations teams keep in regular contact with 
our larger clients to ensure that we can identify any changes or 
action that might be needed as a result of their changing needs. 
More widely, we aim to provide a high level of information to our 
customers, through a variety of means.

Outlook 

An extended period of loose credit in recent years has supported 
a rising risk appetite which has led to a general narrowing of 
credit spreads, rising stock markets and commodities. But as 
August’s sub-prime collapse showed, shocks can then transmit 
quickly across asset classes, which have turned out to be more 
correlated than previously thought. While cuts in US interest 
rates provided relief to financial markets, there remains a danger 
that underlying global economic growth will falter, led by US 
housing. The attraction of alpha could then fade as sentiment 
deteriorates and investors re-evaluate overall portfolio risk. With 
this in mind, we look ahead to 2008 with some caution. Having 
said that, we believe the Group is in better balance in terms of 
structure and client mix than at any time before. 

 

Martin	Gilbert	 Bill	Rattray	 
Chief Executive Finance Director
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Key 
 Main investment centres 
 Sales and distribution offices only  
 Key property centres only

British Isles

 Aberdeen (Head office) 
 Edinburgh 
 London 
As our home market, we have several offices around  
the UK. By AuM, 38% of our clients are domiciled in the 
UK, accounting for £36.5bn. The city of Aberdeen is our 
headquarters, and where we situate many Group 
functions including legal, group information and human 
resources; London is the investment centre for UK & 
European equity and fixed income teams, our largest 
office by number of staff, and where we locate most  
UK client servicing and business relationship staff.  
Edinburgh is the investment centre for global equity, 
multi-asset and structured product teams, as well  
as the company secretarial teams for the UK investment 
trust range. Other offices reflect longstanding  
businesses such as private equity and, in the case  
of Jersey, private client operations.

North America

 Fort Lauderdale  
 Philadelphia 
Our Philadelphia office is our hub for North America,  
and includes fixed income, US equity and specialist  
US equity teams that manage over £19.5bn of  
domestic investments. It is also the base for US  
client servicing staff. We have a second presence  
through the recently acquired US mutual fund range  
from Nationwide. North American assets currently  
account for 20% of AuM. Fort Lauderdale, by contrast, 
services our insititutional clients in South America.

Global reach, local presence
We conduct business worldwide.  
Our main investment centres are in 
London, Philadelphia and Singapore, 
straddling the three main financial  
time zones. We have a further  
21 offices from where we also  
manage investments or provide  
client servicing and reporting.

Our investment teams have flat 
structures, often with dual reporting, 
according to function, and across 
borders. This encourages local  
decision-making, which we value,  
but also keeps staff numbers down:  
we employ 1,500 people worldwide.
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Continental	Europe

 Amsterdam  Luxembourg 
 Brussels Oslo 
 Cologne Paris 
 Copenhagen Stockholm 
 Frankfurt St Petersburg 
 Helsinki 
We have been developing our presence across 
Continental Europe, led by our expanding property 
division. From its Nordic base, we have added Paris  
and most recently St Petersburg.  Amsterdam is  
a key marketing office for the Dutch pensions market  
and also European property clients. The Frankfurt  
office was opened in January 2007 to prospect for 
German corporate pension fund clientele.  
Luxembourg is the domicile for the Aberdeen  
Global fund range, a range of pooled funds  
that is distributed cross-border to 24 countries 
worldwide. Continental Europe now accounts for  
25% of Group AuM, or £23.9bn.

Asia-Pacific

 Bangkok Singapore 
 Hong Kong Tokyo 
 Kuala Lumpur  
The Asian headquarters of the Group is in Singapore,  
and home to most of our Asian fund managers  
covering the main asset classes, as well as to substantial 
marketing, client servicing and administrative functions, 
some 130 staff in all. Other full service offices are in 
Hong Kong, Kuala Lumpur and Bangkok; plus we have 
research and client servicing in North Asia.  
Asian clients account for £4.0bn of AuM, yet Asia  
remains the significant equities’ competence for  
the group; regional equities account for 19% of AuM,  
or £18.3bn.

Australia

 Sydney 
With 50 employees and £5.5bn of assets, the Group’s 
Sydney operation has a sizeable presence in this 
relatively sophisticated retirement savings market.  
The acquisition of the majority of DeAM’s Australian 
fund operations in 2007 greatly boosted our resources, 
which is especially important for penetration of  
crowded distribution channels.

Middle	East

The Middle East is an important source of institutional 
funds, and we have a strong client base there (which  
we service from London).  We currently manage over  
£5.9 bn of assets for institutional and sovereign wealth 
entities in the region.
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8 
The	Rt.	Hon.	 
Sir	Malcolm	Rifkind	kcmg qc 2,3  
Independent Non Executive Director 
(Age 61) 
Sir Malcolm joined the Board  
on 1 August 2000.  He is  
Conservative Member of  
Parliament for Kensington and 
Chelsea having previously served as 
UK Defence Secretary and UK 
Foreign Secretary. Sir Malcolm is 
chairman of ArmorGroup 
International plc. Sir Malcolm is  
also a consultant to BHP Billiton Plc. 
Sir Malcolm is Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee. 

9 
Giles	Weaver	fca 1,3  
Independent Non Executive Director 
(Age 61) 
Giles was appointed to the Board  
on 1 December 2000. A chartered 
accountant, Giles was formerly 
managing director and chairman of 
the Murray Johnstone Group until its 
acquisition by Aberdeen in 2000. He 
is currently chairman of Charter 
European Trust PLC, Kenmore 
European Industrial Fund Limited  
and Helical Bar PLC. Giles is also a 
director of Anglo & Overseas PLC, 
Investec High Income Trust PLC and 
ISIS Property Trust 2 Limited. 

5 
Donald Waters obe ca 1,2 
Senior Independent Non Executive 
Director (Age 69) 
Donald was appointed to the  
Board on 1 February 2000.  
A chartered accountant,  
Donald is a director of James 
Johnston & Co of Elgin Limited.  
He was formerly deputy chairman 
and chief executive of Grampian 
Television plc and a director of  
SMG plc. Donald is Chairman  
of the Group’s Audit Committee.

6 
Roger	Cornick	3 
Independent Non Executive Director 
(Age 63) 
Roger joined the Board on  
23 January 2004. Roger was with 
Perpetual PLC for over 20 years, 
serving latterly as deputy chairman. 
Roger has over 30 years experience  
of sales and marketing in financial 
services and is currently a trustee  
of the River and Rowing Museum.

7 
Anita Frew ba hons mphil 1,3 

Independent Non Executive Director 
(Age 50) 
Anita was appointed to the Board  
on 1 October 2004. Anita started her 
career at Royal Bank of Scotland 
before moving to Scottish Provident 
where she became head of UK 
Investment.  Anita then joined WPP 
Group PLC as director of corporate 
development and was an executive 
director at Abbott Mead Vickers plc  
in 1997.  Anita is currently a  
non- executive director of  
City of London Investment Trust plc, 
IMI plc, Northumbrian Water Limited, 
Securities Trust of Scotland PLC  
and Victrex PLC. 

3 
Andrew Laing ma llb 
Chief Operating Officer (Age 55) 
Andrew joined the Group in 1986 
with responsibility for the private 
equity division. He was subsequently 
appointed chief operating officer, 
originally joining the Board in 1997 
and then again on 23 January 2004. 
Andrew graduated from Aberdeen 
University with an MA in Politics and 
International Relations and a degree 
in Commercial Law. After a period of 
practising law, Andrew entered 
private equity in Edinburgh, prior to 
joining Aberdeen. Andrew is a director 
of the Group’s property division and 
a number of group subsidiaries.

4 
Bill	Rattray	ma ca 
Finance Director (Age 49) 
Bill joined the Group in 1985 as 
company secretary and subsequently 
became Group Financial Controller. 
He was appointed Finance Director 
on 31 January 1991. Prior to joining  
the Group, he trained as a  
chartered accountant with  
Ernst & Whinney in Aberdeen and 
qualified in 1982. Bill is a director  
of a number of group subsidiaries.

1 
Charles	Irby	fca 2 
Chairman (Age 62)  
Charles was appointed to the  
Board on 1 August 1999 and  
became chairman on 14 January 
2000. He is also a director of Great 
Portland Estates plc, North Atlantic 
Smaller Companies Investment Trust 
plc and QBE Insurance Group Limited 
and a trustee and governor of King 
Edward VII’s Hospital, Sister Agnes.  
A chartered accountant, Charles 
spent 27 years with ING Barings 
Limited, specialising in corporate 
finance and is a former member of 
the Takeover Panel. Charles is 
Chairman of the Group’s 
Nominations Committee.

2 
Martin Gilbert ma llb lld ca 
Chief Executive (Age 52) 
Martin is a founding director and 
shareholder of the company  
having been appointed a director  
on 1 July 1983. Martin trained as a 
chartered accountant in Aberdeen 
prior to moving into investment 
management with an Aberdeen firm 
of solicitors. Martin is chairman of 
FirstGroup plc and Chaucer  
Holdings PLC. Martin is also a 
director of Aberdeen Asian Smaller 
Companies Investment Trust PLC, 
Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income Fund, 
Inc, Aberdeen Asia-Pacific Income 
Investment Company Limited, 
Aberdeen Development Capital PLC, 
Aberdeen Football Club plc, Aberdeen 
Global Income Fund, Inc, Aberdeen 
Growth VCT 1 PLC, Aberdeen Growth 
Opportunities VCT PLC, Aberdeen 
Growth Opportunities VCT 2 PLC  
and Primary Health Properties PLC. 

1
 
Member of the Audit Committee 

2
 
Member of the Nominations   

 Committee 
3

 
Member of the Remuneration   

 Committee
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Management board

Gary	Marshall 
Head of Collective Funds 
Gary is Head of Collective Funds, 
chief executive of Aberdeen Unit 
Trust Managers Ltd and chief 
executive of Aberdeen Asset 
Management Life and Pensions Ltd. 
He also sits on the boards of the 
Group’s Dublin and Luxembourg 
based offshore fund ranges.  
Gary joined Aberdeen following  
the acquisition of Prolific  
Financial Management in 1997.  
Gary graduated with a BSc (Hons)  
in Actuarial Mathematics and  
Statistics from Heriot Watt 
University and is a qualified actuary.

Anne	Richards 
Chief Investment Officer 
Anne is chief investment officer  
and head of multi-asset investment. 
She was chief investment officer  
and joint managing director  
of Edinburgh Fund Managers, 
which was acquired by Aberdeen  
in 2003. Prior to joining EFM,    
Anne worked for Merrill Lynch 
Investment Managers.

Hugh	Young 
Managing Director – Asia 
Hugh is managing director of 
Aberdeen Asset Management  
Asia Limited, the Group’s regional 
HQ, and is also Group head of 
equities. He co-founded Singapore-
based Aberdeen Asia in 1992, having 
been recruited in 1985 to manage 
Asian equities from London.  
Hugh graduated with a BA (Hons)  
in politics from Exeter University.

Ken	Fry 
Global Head of Technology and 
Operations 
Ken Fry graduated from the 
University of Essex with a  
BA in Computer Science and  
joined Aberdeen with the  
acquisition of Frederick’s Place 
Holdings in 1989 as Group IT 
Manager. He was appointed  
to his current role in 2006.

Steve	Ilott 
Head of Fixed Income 
Steve is head of Aberdeen’s  
fixed income business globally.  
He joined Aberdeen via the 
acquisition of Deutsche Asset 
Management’s London and 
Philadelphia fixed income  
businesses in 2005. Previously,  
Steve was head of fixed income  
at Deutsche Asset Management, 
having joined the company  
in 1998.

Rod	MacRae 
Group Head of Risk 
Rod is responsible for UK and  
global operational risk including 
Internal Audit and Regulatory 
Compliance, and serves as  
chairman of the Group Risk 
Management Committee.  
Rod joined Aberdeen in 2003, 
following the acquisition of 
Edinburgh Fund Managers. Rod 
graduated with a MA (Hons) in 
Economics from the University  
of Edinburgh and is a member of  
the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of Scotland.

Rickard	Backlund 
CEO, Aberdeen Property Investors 
Rickard joined Aberdeen in 2001 
having previously been the CEO of 
CELEXA Fastighetskapital from 
1998. He has a masters degree in 
Civil Engineering from The Swedish  
Royal Institute of Technology and 
completed a course in Business 
Administration and Managerial 
Economics at Umeå University. 
Rickard is a member of the board  
of FASTIGO, The Federation of 
Swedish Real Estate Employers  
and is a member of the Board  
of SIPA, the Scandinavian 
International Property Association.

Gary	Bartlett 
Chief Executive Officer - US 
Gary is chief executive officer of  
our US operations and a senior 
portfolio manager on the US fixed 
income team.  Gary joined Aberdeen 
via the acquisition of Deutsche  
Asset Management’s Philadelphia 
fixed income businesses in 2005.  
Previously, he worked for PNC 
Financial as an analyst and fixed 
income portfolio manager.  Gary 
graduated with a BA in Economics 
from Bucknell University in 
Lewisburg, Pennsylvania in 1982, 
and a MBA from Drexel University, 
Philadelphia in 1989, and is a  
CFA charterholder.

Chris	Ellyatt 
Head of Distribution 
Chris is Group Head of Distribution, 
overseeing Business Development, 
client service and marketing staff in 
our worldwide offices. He joined 
Aberdeen in 2002, initially based in 
the Singapore office before moving 
to London in 2003. Chris has over  
18 years experience in financial 
services sales and marketing,  
having worked previously for  
HSBC James Capel and BZW, 
focused predominantly on Asian  
and Emerging markets.

The Management board was 
established during 2006 as successor 
to the Executive Committee, with 
responsibility for the Group’s day  
to day operations. The names and 
brief biographies of the board are 
detailed below.

Martin Gilbert 
Chief Executive 
Biography on page 23

Andrew Laing 
Chief Operating Officer 
Biography on page 23

Bill	Rattray 
Finance Director 
Biography on page 23
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Directors’ report

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report and financial statements for the year to 30 September 2007. 

Principal activity and business review
The principal activity of the Group is the provision of asset management services. Further information on the Group’s business, 
which is required by section 417 of the Companies Act 2006 can be found in the following sections of the Annual report, which are 
incorporated into this report by reference:

•	 Chairman’s	statement	on	pages	2	to	4;	and
•	 Business	review,	including	detail	on	principal	risks	and	uncertainties,	on	pages	9	to	19;	and
•	 Environmental,	social	and	community	matters	and	employees	on	page	40.

Financial
The results for the year are shown in the Group Income Statement on page 51. 

An interim ordinary dividend of 2.6p net per share was paid on 13 June 2007. The Directors recommend a final ordinary dividend 
of 2.9p net per share, making a total of 5.5p net per share for the year to 30 September 2007.  The proposed final dividend, if 
approved, will be paid on 23 January 2008 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 14 December 2007. The total 
distribution of dividends for the year to 30 September 2007 is £39.4 million.

Directors
The names and biographical details of the present Directors of the Company, all of whom served throughout the year, are given on 
page 23. The Company’s Articles of Association require a Director to retire from office no later than the third annual general 
meeting following his or her last election or re-election and for a minimum of one third of the Board to retire annually. Accordingly, 
Roger Cornick, Anita Frew and Bill Rattray retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.  Donald Waters 
who will have reached the age of 70 by the date of the annual general meeting will retire in accordance with the Company’s 
Articles of Association and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

Directors’ interests in the share and loan capital of the Company at the year end were as follows:
	 	 	 		 Convertible 
	 Ordinary	shares	 	 5.875%	Convertible	 Preference 
	 of	10p	 Options	 Bonds	2007	 Share	Units

 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 
 Number Number Number Number Number Number Number Number

Beneficial
Martin Gilbert  8,392,121*	 8,318,850* 653,000	 653,000 – – 100	 100
Bill Rattray  2,064,796*	 2,006,179* 244,000	 244,000 – – 50 50
Andrew Laing  813,057*	 754,440* 378,000	 378,000 – – 13	 13
Donald Waters  163,530	 157,400 – – – – – –
Charles Irby 112,500	 112,500 – – – 31 – –
Giles Weaver 110,000	 70,000 – – – 6 2 2
Anita Frew 37,500	 37,500 – – – – – –
Roger Cornick 11,000	 11,000 – – – – – –
Malcolm Rifkind  7,500	 7,500 – – – – – –

*The holdings for Messrs Gilbert, Rattray and Laing include shares awarded under the Group’s LTIP and which remain subject to forfeiture pending achievement of the relevant 
performance criteria. Full details are given in the Remuneration report. 

There have been no changes to the above holdings between 30 September 2007 and 10 December 2007.
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Directors’ report continued

Substantial interests
At 10 December 2007 the Company has been notified of the following interests, other than Directors’, of 3% or more in the 
ordinary shares:

	 Number							 %	of	class

Lansdowne Partners Limited 73,937,866 11.8
Wellington Management Company, LLP 31,605,523 5.0 
Lloyds TSB Group Plc 31,196,526 5.0 
Schroder Investment Management Limited 30,423,099 4.8 
Legal & General Group Plc  25,657,496 4.1 
Rabobank International, London 21,256,332 3.4 
Newton Investment Management Limited 19,454,071 3.1

Share capital
Details of changes in share capital are set out in Note 24. The authority for the Company to purchase, in the market, up to 
31,340,433 of its ordinary shares, representing approximately 5% of its issued ordinary share capital, expires at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting. This authority was not required during the year, however shareholders will be asked, at the forthcoming 
Annual General Meeting, to renew such authority for a further year.

Employees
Details of the Company’s employment practices (including the employment of disabled persons) can be found in the Corporate 
governance report on pages 36 to 40.

Corporate governance
A report on corporate governance and compliance with the provisions of the Combined Code on Corporate Governance is set out 
on pages 36 to 40.

Going concern
The Board considers that the Group has adequate resources to meet its business needs and it is therefore appropriate to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing these financial statements.

Charitable contributions
During the year, the Group made various charitable contributions totalling £140,000 (2006 – £122,000). It is the Group’s policy 
not to make contributions for political purposes.

Directors’ indemnities
The Company maintains directors’ and officers’ liability insurance which gives appropriate cover for any legal action brought 
against its directors.

Policy on payment of creditors
As required by the Financial Services Authority, all open end fund repurchase settlements are paid within four working days of 
receipt of the appropriate documentation from investors. Unless otherwise agreed payments to other creditors are made within 
thirty days of receipt of an invoice.  At the year end, the Group and Company had an average of 24 days’ purchases outstanding in 
respect of trade creditors and an average of four days outstanding in respect of approved unit trust repurchase settlements.

Audit information
The Directors who held office at the date of approval of this Directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is 
no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and each Director has taken all the steps that they 
ought to have taken as Directors to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.  
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2008 Annual General Meeting
The Annual General Meeting will be held at the Marcliffe at Pitfodels Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen at 12 noon on Thursday 
17 January 2008.  Details of all resolutions being put to shareholders are contained in the Notice of the Annual General Meeting 
on pages 91 to 94.

Electronic proxy voting
Registered shareholders have the opportunity to submit their votes (or abstain) on all resolutions proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting by means of an electronic voting facility operated by the Company’s registrar, Equiniti Limited. This facility can be 
accessed by visiting www.sharevote.co.uk. CREST members may appoint a proxy or proxies by using the CREST electronic 
appointment service.  The usual paper copies of the form of proxy will be distributed to all registered shareholders with the Notice 
of Annual General Meeting.

Electronic copies of the annual report and financial statements 2007 and other publications
Copies of the 2007 Annual Report and financial statements, the Notice of Annual General Meeting, other corporate publications, 
press releases and announcements are available on the Company’s website at www.aberdeen-asset.com. Shareholders are 
encouraged to take advantage of the provisions allowing the Company to deliver notices of meetings and associated 
documentation electronically via the Company’s website or by email, by signing and returning the enclosed Electronic 
Communications Letter and Election form and voting in favour of Resolution 13 at the Annual General Meeting. Further details of 
the benefits of electronic communication and the proposed amendments to the Company’s Articles of Association in this regard, 
can be found on pages 2 and 5 of the enclosed letter from the Chairman.

By order of the Board

Scott	E	Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

10 December 2007
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Remuneration report

The Board’s report to shareholders on remuneration and details of the compensation and contractual arrangements for Directors 
are set out below. This report has been prepared in compliance with the Directors’ Remuneration Report Regulations 2002 (‘the  
Regulations’), which impose certain statutory requirements for the disclosure of directors’ remuneration. The Remuneration 
report (‘the Report’) also meets the relevant requirements of the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority and describes how the 
Company has complied with the Combined Code throughout the year to 30 September 2007 as it relates to directors’ 
remuneration. A resolution to approve this report will be proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

The Regulations require the auditors to report to shareholders on the auditable part of the Report and to state whether, in their 
opinion, that part of the Report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 (as amended by the 
Regulations). The tables detailing Directors’ emoluments, interests in share options and shares awarded under the Group’s Long 
Term Incentive Plan on pages 34 and 35 have been audited. The remainder of the Report, which is unaudited, sets out the 
remuneration policy that applied during 2007 and describes arrangements which are intended to apply for 2008.

Remuneration committee
The current members of the Remuneration Committee (‘the Committee’) are Malcolm Rifkind (Chairman), Roger Cornick, Anita 
Frew and Giles Weaver, all of whom are independent Non Executive Directors.  All of the members served for the year under review 
except Anita Frew who was appointed after the year end, on 11 October 2007. Their biographical details are shown on page 23. 

The Committee, which operates on the basis of detailed written terms of reference, has been established by the Board to: 

a)  determine and recommend to the Board the Company’s policy on remuneration of Executive Directors and  
senior employees;

b)  determine the specific remuneration levels of the Chairman, the Executive Directors and other senior employees;

c)  ensure that appropriate performance targets are set and that any payments made to Executive Directors and senior 
employees reflect achievement against such targets;

d)  consider individual awards to Executive Directors and senior employees under all incentive schemes;

e)  consider any award which might result in an employee receiving a total remuneration package of £250,000 or more;

f)  consider the recruitment of any employee on a basic salary of £125,000 or more or with a basic salary plus guaranteed 
bonus of £125,000 or more;

g)  approve the award of any annual bonus in excess of £100,000;

h)  consider any redundancy or severance payment which exceeds the terms of the Company’s standard policies, subject to a 
de minimis limit of £25,000;

i)  ensure that the Company maintains contact with its principal shareholders on remuneration matters, and to demonstrate 
that decisions on executive remuneration are taken independently and are complementary to the financial and 
commercial well-being of the Company;

j)  approve all substantial changes to the Group’s pension arrangements;

k)  report to shareholders in accordance with relevant legal requirements and associated codes of practice.

The terms of reference of the Committee, which are reviewed annually, are available on request and are published on the 
Company’s website.

The Committee is authorised to take external advice in order to fulfil its duties and appointed an external firm of consultants, DLA 
MCG Consulting, to advise on the levels of salaries and composition of benefits packages of the Executive Directors and other 
senior employees. 

Remuneration policy
The Group’s remuneration policy is designed to reflect the importance of recruiting, retaining and motivating senior executives of 
the calibre necessary to maintain and improve the Group’s position in the asset management sector. The policy seeks to reward 
performance in a manner which aligns the interests of clients, shareholders, executives and other employees. The remuneration 
policy will support the Company’s aim to maximise long-term shareholder value.

The remuneration policy, which applies to Executive Directors and senior employees, will remain unchanged for 2008 and 
subsequent years. The aim, within the overall policy design of retention and motivation, is to pay basic salaries and award benefit 
packages which are reasonable and competitive within the asset management sector. In addition, the policy is designed, and will 
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remain designed, to deliver additional rewards through appropriate incentive schemes, both annual and long term. These are 
directly linked to performance at both a corporate and an individual level. 

The Committee recognises that any remuneration policy must be sufficiently flexible to take account of changes in the business 
environment. In accordance with this need for flexibility, the Committee takes into account the overall competitiveness of the 
total remuneration packages of all senior executives. When justified by performance, the ‘at risk’ performance elements will form 
the most significant element of total remuneration for Executive Directors and senior employees. The Committee has considered 
the levels of remuneration paid throughout the Group, having regard to the advice of DLA MCG Consulting and having also 
consulted with Charles Irby and Martin Gilbert when considering the remuneration packages of the Executive Directors and 
senior employees.

Outlined below are the details of the individual reward components of the remuneration policy. In providing details, the Report 
identifies those elements which are performance linked and the participation of the Executive Directors in them.

Executive remuneration
Executive remuneration comprises a number of elements:

i)		 Basic	salary
 The salaries of all employees, including Executive Directors, are reviewed annually and are determined by reference to 

external market research. The Group’s policy is to pay salaries which, when taken together with other benefits, will provide 
a remuneration package that is reasonable and competitive in the asset management sector. The Group participated in the 
McLagan Partners 2007 compensation survey which provided salary comparisons for a range of employees across the 
Aberdeen Group, including the Executive Directors. In addition, DLA MCG Consulting provided data and comment on the 
salaries and benefits packages for the Executive Directors and other senior employees. The Committee also considered 
information included in other publicly available research and survey results.  Having taken into consideration all relevant 
factors, the Committee has taken the decision to maintain Executive Directors salaries at the same level as  
last year.

ii)  Annual bonus
 The policy is to recognise corporate and individual achievements each year through an appropriate annual bonus scheme. 

The aggregate amount of cash bonus available in any year is dependent on the Group’s overall performance and 
profitability. Consideration will also be given to the levels of bonuses paid in the marketplace. Individual awards, payable to 
all members of staff and which are non-pensionable, are determined by a rigorous assessment of achievement against 
defined objectives, and are reviewed and approved by the Committee. The bonus awarded in any year will be paid in cash, 
some of which may be deferred, with a further element to be settled by the award of the Company’s shares. Such shares 
will only vest following completion of a three year retention period. A significant proportion of the Executive Directors’ 
remuneration is expected to be paid by annual bonus, such awards to be based on the achievement of defined objectives. 
Objectives may vary each year, but for 2007 the principal objectives for the Executive Directors included the conclusion of 
the integration of the ex DeAM business; management of costs and achievement of operating efficiencies; improvement of 
profitability and operating margins; and ensuring key client and staff retention. 

 Martin Gilbert has been awarded a bonus, at the same level as last year, of £2,625,000 for meeting his defined objectives 
for the year which included those detailed above.  £656,250 of this award has been deferred and will be paid in cash in 
December 2009 and £1,312,500 will be used to acquire a number of the Company’s shares which will vest in December 
2010. 

 Andrew Laing has been awarded a bonus, at the same level as last year, of £400,000 for meeting his defined objectives for 
the year which included those detailed above. £87,500 of this award has been deferred and will be paid in cash in 
December 2008 and £137,500 will be used to acquire a number of the Company’s shares which will vest in December 
2010.  

 Bill Rattray has been awarded a bonus, at the same level as last year, of £400,000 for meeting his defined objectives for the 
year which included those detailed above. £87,500 of this award has been deferred and will be paid in cash in December 
2008 and £137,500 will be used to acquire a number of the Company’s shares which will vest in December 2010.  

 In line with the Group’s remuneration policy of retaining flexibility, and in common with practice in the asset management 
sector, it has been decided to continue the policy of not imposing any maxima based on a relationship to basic salary.

iii)		 Long	Term	Incentive	Plan
 The Group operates a share based long term incentive plan (‘LTIP’) which was approved and adopted by Shareholders on  

24 March 2005. The LTIP is administered by an independent professional trustee based in the Channel Islands (‘the 
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Trustee’) which, when exercising its discretion, will have regard to the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee. 
After taking into account the recommendations of the Committee, the Trustee will make awards under the LTIP to selected 
Executive Directors and other senior executives. Awards will be made over a specified number of shares and take the form 
of the acquisition of shares by a participant at the time the award is made on terms which mean that the ownership of the 
shares remains conditional during the relevant measurement period. The participant will not obtain absolute ownership of 
any of the shares over which such an award has been made until the end of the relevant measurement period and then only 
to the extent that the performance targets have been satisfied. Participants will be entitled to receive any dividends paid 
on the shares during the measurement period, even though the shares held will not have vested unconditionally. However, 
any overpayment of dividends arising on shares which do not subsequently vest will be recovered by deduction from 
annual bonus awards.  

 Vesting of shares over which an award has been made will be dependent upon the extent to which the performance target 
has been satisfied. The Committee has reviewed the appropriateness of the existing criteria and has decided that there 
should be no changes for awards to be made in 2007 and 2008. The performance target which will determine the extent to 
which any LTIP award will vest requires the growth in earnings per share over the relevant measurement period to exceed 
the average movement in the stock markets in which the assets managed by the Group are invested. This criterion has been 
chosen as being reflective of success in the asset management sector as it compares the Group’s performance to a 
dynamic and meaningful comparator. The Committee will thereafter consider whether these targets remain appropriate 
and challenging and any amendments to these targets in respect of intended awards in later years will be disclosed in the 
Remuneration report for 2008.

a)  if earnings per share have increased over the measurement period by a percentage that is at least 5% per annum 
greater than the average movement in the stock markets over the same period then 30% of the LTIP award will vest;

b)  if earnings per share have increased over the measurement period by a percentage that is at least 10% per annum 
greater than the average movement in the stock markets over the same period then 100% of the LTIP award will vest;

c)  growth in earnings per share that falls between these limits will result in a pro rated vesting of the LTIP award occurring 
between 30% and 100% depending upon the actual growth in earnings per share; 

d)  if growth in earnings per share over the measurement period is less than the lower limit set out in paragraph a) above 
no part of the award made under the LTIP will vest, the award will lapse and the participant will cease to have any 
entitlement to any of the shares over which the award was originally made.  

 The movement in the stock markets will be measured by indices appropriate to the assets managed by the Group and shall 
be determined by the Committee. The indices identified at the date of the first award included the FTSE All Share, the 
Russell 1000, the FTSE Europe ex UK, the FTSE Asia Pacific ex Japan, the FTSE Japan, the MSCI Emerging Markets and the 
FTSE A British Government All Stocks. The Committee subsequently included two additional indices, the Lehman US 
Aggregate Bond and the IPD Pan European Property Index, to ensure that the basket of indices remained fully 
representative of the assets managed by the Group.

 For the purposes of calculating earnings per share for any period, adjustments will be made to the earnings per share figure 
disclosed in the audited financial accounts. The earnings per share figure will be amended to exclude the effects of (i) 
amortisation and impairment of intangible assets; (ii) impairment of goodwill; (iii) any charges arising from share options 
and LTIP awards; (iv) exceptional items, unless the Committee consider this to be inappropriate; and (v) any other 
adjustments deemed reasonable and appropriate by the Committee.

 To the extent that an award has not vested, shares will be re-acquired from relevant participants by the Trustee for a 
nominal consideration of £1. In addition to the performance condition summarised above, in accordance with the Plan 
rules no award will vest unless, in the opinion of the Committee, the underlying financial performance of the Company has 
been satisfactory over the relevant measurement period. The length of the measurement period for any award will be three 
years. The life of the LTIP will be ten years and no awards may therefore be made after 24 March 2015. LTIP awards over 
ordinary shares are designed to incentivise senior executives in a manner which is consistent with the creation of value for 
shareholders. As at the date of this Report, awards have been made in respect of 25,657,539 ordinary shares which have 
not yet vested. This equates to approximately 4.0% of the current issued share capital. Details of the awards which have 
been made to Directors of the Company under the LTIP are shown on page 35.

Remuneration	report	continued
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 The Committee intends to recommend further LTIP awards over 696,416 shares, which equates to approximately 0.1% of 
the current issued share capital. Included in this total, which comprises awards to 11 people, are the following proposed 
awards to the Executive Directors:

	 Number	of	shares

Martin Gilbert  76,127
Andrew Laing  60,902
Bill Rattray  60,902

 It remains the Committee’s intention not to recommend awards to any one individual in excess of 100% of annual salary 
in any one year except in exceptional circumstances, for example to aid recruitment or retention of staff. However, as 
reported above, an element of annual bonus is also awarded in the form of shares with deferred vesting conditions.

iv)		 Private	medical	cover
 Private health care is offered to all Executive Directors and employees who also have the option to cover their partners and 

unmarried dependent children.

v)		 Pension
 Executives, including Executive Directors, are entitled to membership of the Group’s defined contribution pension 

arrangements. The employer’s contribution to this scheme on behalf of all employees, including Executive Directors, is 
20% of basic salary. In addition, on becoming a member of the Group pension scheme, the Group will provide life insurance 
cover that provides death in service benefits, currently amounting to four times basic salary. The life insurance cover will 
also provide for a further three times basic salary to provide a dependant’s pension.

 In light of changes to pensions legislation introduced in the UK from 6 April 2006, certain of the Group’s UK employees 
have elected for employer contributions to the scheme to cease. In these cases, the Committee has approved additional 
cash payments to be made as an addition to basic salary, such that the overall cost to the Group is no greater than the 
pension contribution which would otherwise have been made. Any similar requests which may be made by employees in 
future will be treated in the same manner. No such request will arise in respect of the Group’s legacy defined benefit 
schemes, all of which are closed to future accrual.

vi)		 Executive	share	option	scheme
 The Group has an Executive share option scheme which is approved by the Inland Revenue and was approved by 

shareholders prior to its introduction. An unapproved schedule was added to this scheme in 1999 to permit options to be 
granted within institutional guidelines but in excess of the reduced limits on approved options imposed by the 
Government. In March 2004 the scheme reached the end of the 10 year period during which the grant of options was 
permitted. Options were granted at the discretion of the Committee, for no consideration, and were based on assessments 
of the individuals’ expected contribution to future Company performance. All options outstanding are now capable of 
being exercised, all having met their performance criteria: that earnings per share, before amortisation and impairment of 
intangible assets, impairment of goodwill and exceptional items increased over the period of 3 years from the date of 
grant, by 5% per annum in excess of the average growth in the stock markets in which the Group’s AuM were invested.  

 Details of share options held by the Executive Directors are shown on page 34.

Total shareholder return
The Regulations require the inclusion of a graph which illustrates the total shareholder return for a holding in the Company’s 
shares against a broad equity market index. The FTSE All Share Index has been used on the basis that it includes all UK listed stocks, 
including the Company’s ordinary shares. The graphs on the following page also include as a comparator the FTSE All Share 
General Financial Index . The Board considers this to be an appropriate index against which to measure performance because it 
includes all other UK listed financial stocks and therefore represents the closest comparator for benchmark purposes. Both of 
these indices are calculated on a total return basis, ie assuming reinvestment of dividends.
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The Regulations require this information to be provided for the five year period to 30 September 2007. The Board has decided to 
include an additional graph showing equivalent information for three year period, consistent with the period over which the 
vesting of long-term incentives is measured.

Service contracts
The Executive Directors have current service contracts, details of which are summarised below. Executive Directors are permitted 
to accept a limited number of directorships outwith the Group, recognising that this can assist in the development of a Director’s 
knowledge and capabilities. All such appointments are approved in advance by the Board.  Where the appointment is accepted in 
furtherance of the Group’s business any fees received are remitted to the Company. If the appointment is not connected to the 
Group’s business, the Director is entitled to retain any fees received. The Group earned fees of £129,000 for Martin Gilbert’s 
services as a non executive director of several companies. Martin Gilbert earned and retained fees of £160,000 for acting as 
Chairman of FirstGroup plc. The Board has a policy which requires Executive Directors to acquire and retain a beneficial 
shareholding in the Company equivalent to 100% of salary, to be acquired over a period of no more than five years. The holdings 
of the Executive Directors currently exceed this requirement.

Remuneration	report	continued
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	 	 	 	 Provision	of	compensation 
Name	 Date	of	contract	 Notice	period	 Unexpired	term	 for	loss	of	office3

M J Gilbert 30 August 19961 twelve/six months2 Rolling twelve/six months  One year’s gross remuneration
A A Laing 30 August 19961 twelve/six months2 Rolling twelve/six months  One year’s gross remuneration
W J Rattray 30 August 19961 twelve/six months2 Rolling twelve/six months  One year’s gross remuneration

1 Amended by Deed of Variation dated 30 November 2001.
2 Twelve months’ notice given by the Company or six months’ notice given by the Director.
3 If the Company decides to terminate the Director’s appointment without giving the required period of notice then the Director is entitled to be paid one year’s remuneration, 

which will include the value of all benefits including any bonus to which the director would otherwise have been entitled. The Directors’ contracts also provide for termination on 
three months’ notice if, in the opinion of the Board and having given the Director adequate opportunity to improve, the Director has failed to perform at a satisfactory standard. 
In such a case, the Directors’ contracts do not provide for any liquidated damages to be paid.

Non Executive Directors
The remuneration of Non Executive Directors is determined by the Board. Non Executive Directors are engaged under letters of 
appointment and they do not have contracts of service. The letters of appointment are available for inspection at the Company’s 
registered office during normal business hours and are available on the Company’s website. The appointment will normally 
terminate on:

i)  a Director choosing to resign voluntarily; or

ii)  a Director being prohibited from serving by law, bankruptcy or illness; or

iii)  the ninth anniversary of his/her appointment; or

iv)  the third or sixth anniversaries of his/her appointment if the Nominations Committee does not approve the extension of 
his/her appointment; or

v)  a Director being found guilty of misconduct; or

vi)  a Director not being re-elected by the shareholders following retirement by rotation at an Annual General Meeting.

The Non Executive Directors do not participate in the annual bonus scheme or the Long Term Incentive Plan. The Chairman, who 
also chairs the Nominations Committee, receives a fee of £140,000 per annum.

Fees are paid to the other Non Executive Directors at the following annual rates:

For services as a Director  £37,000
For services as Senior Independent Director  £5,000
For chairmanship of Audit Committee  £14,000
For membership of Audit Committee  £5,000
For chairmanship of Remuneration Committee  £10,000
For membership of Remuneration Committee  £5,000
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Directors’ emoluments (audited information)
   2007     2006

    Total   Total  
	 Salary	 Bonus	 Other	 before	 Pension	 	 before Pension  
	 &	fees	 payments	 benefits	 pensions	 costs	 Total	 pensions costs Total 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

EXECUTIVE	
Duties within the UK 
M J Gilbert 400	 2,625	 71	 3,096	 –	 3,096	 3,061 890 3,951 
A A Laing 250	 400	 1	 651	 50	 701	 651 50 701 
W J Rattray 238	 400	 1	 639	 47	 686	 596 39 635 

 888	 3,425	 73	 4,386	 97	 4,483	 4,308 979 5,287 
NON-EXECUTIVE 
C L A Irby 132	 –	 –	 132	 –	 132	 104 – 104 
D H Waters 55 – – 55 – 55 50 – 50 
Rt Hon Sir M Rifkind 47	 –	 –	 47	 –	 47	 44 – 44 
C G H Weaver 46	 –	 –	 46	 –	 46	 41 – 41 
R C Cornick 41	 –	 –	 41	 –	 41	 36 – 36 
A M Frew 41	 –	 –	 41	 –	 41	 36 – 36 

 362	 –	 –	 362	 –	 362	 311 – 311 

 1,250	 3,425	 73	 4,748	 97	 4,845	 4,619 979 5,598

Martin Gilbert elected for employer contributions to the Group’s defined contribution pension arrangement on his behalf to 
cease and as a consequence, he has received an additional cash payment of £70,000 for the year to 30 September 2007  
(2006 - £35,000 for the part of the year following such election). This amount is included within ‘Other benefits’ in the table 
above. Full details are contained in note v) Pensions, on page 31.  

Directors’ interests in share options (audited information)

 Number

 Date   Exercised   Exercise Earliest Latest Status of 
 of grant  2006 during year 2007 price  exercise exercise performance

M J Gilbert  8.12.99  240,000  –    	240,000	 185p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved
 23.01.04  413,000   –    	413,000	 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

    653,000   –     653,000	     

A A Laing  8.12.99  200,000   –   	 	200,000	 185p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved
 11.6.03  89,000   –    	89,000	 42p Jun 2006 Jun 2013 Achieved
 23.01.04  89,000   –    	89,000	 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

   378,000   –    	378,000	     

W J Rattray  8.12.99  100,000   –    	100,000	 185p Dec 2004 Dec 2009 Achieved
 23.01.04  144,000   –     144,000	 59p Jan 2007 Jan 2014 Achieved

   244,000   –     244,000	  

Remuneration	report	continued
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Directors interests in Long Term Incentive Plan (audited information)

 Held at Awarded  Held	at  Partial settlement 
 1 October during the Issue 30	September  of share awards 
Director 2006 year price 2007 Vesting date in year

M J Gilbert 140,000  116p 140,000 May 2008 £7,000
 925,000  135p 925,000 Dec 2008 £46,250
  73,271 170.6p 73,271 Dec 2009 £1,905

A A Laing 110,000  116p 110,000 May 2008 £5,500
 94,000  135p 94,000 Dec 2008 £4,700
  58,617 170.6p 58,617 Dec 2009 £1,524

W J Rattray 110,000  116p 110,000 May 2008 £5,500
 82,000  135p 82,000 Dec 2008 £4,100
  58,617 170.6p 58,617 Dec 2009 £1,524

The Remuneration report was approved by the Board of Directors on 10 December 2007 and signed on its behalf by:

Sir	Malcolm	Rifkind
Non Executive Director
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Corporate governance report

Throughout the year ended 30 September 2007, the Company has been in compliance with the code provisions set out in  
section 1 of the 2003 Combined Code on Corporate Governance (‘the Code’).  This report describes Aberdeen’s corporate 
governance arrangements, explaining how we have applied the principles of the Code.

The Board
The Board currently comprises the Chairman, five Non Executive Directors and three Executive Directors, all of whom served 
throughout the year.  The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are separate, clearly defined and have been approved by the 
Board.  The Chairman, Charles Irby, is responsible for the effective conduct of the Board and for shareholder relations, whilst the 
Chief Executive, Martin Gilbert, is responsible for the day to day management of the Group.  The Board considers all of the Non 
Executive Directors to be independent and has appointed Donald Waters as the Senior Independent Director.  In considering 
director independence, the Board has taken into consideration the guidance provided by the Code.  Giles Weaver joined the Board 
following the acquisition of the Murray Johnstone Group (‘MJ’) in November 2000.  Giles was formerly an executive director of  
MJ until December 1999, following which he became Chairman of MJ until its acquisition.  In addition, Giles is a member of the 
Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan.  On a literal interpretation of the guidance in the Code, he was never an 
executive of Aberdeen nor of any subsidiary while it has been a member of the Aberdeen Group but, in seeking to apply the spirit 
as well as the letter of the Code, the Board chose not to regard Giles as independent until 2004.   A full seven years having now 
passed since his appointment, and taking into consideration his independence of character and judgement, the Board reiterates 
its view that Giles is an independent Non Executive Director.

Biographical details of Directors can be found on page 23.

The Board met eight times during the year to review financial performance and strategy and to follow a formal schedule of 
matters reserved for its decision, which includes the setting of Company goals, objectives, budgets and other plans.  
Comprehensive board papers, comprising an agenda and formal reports and briefing papers, are sent to Directors in advance of 
each meeting.  Throughout their period in office Directors are continually updated, by means of written and verbal reports from 
senior executives and external advisers, on the Group’s business and the competitive and regulatory environments in which it 
operates, as well as on legal, environmental, social, governance and other relevant matters.

In addition to its formal business, the Board received a number of briefings and presentations from senior executive and local 
management during the year covering a wide range of topics across the range of the Group’s business. The Board also has a policy 
of making periodic visits to the Group’s key overseas offices in order to meet local management and clients and to attain an 
understanding of the local business environment. The Board visited the Oslo, Philadelphia and Singapore offices during the year.

All Directors have access to independent professional advice, if required, at the Company’s expense as well as to the advice and 
services of the Company Secretary. New Directors appointed to the Board receive a full, formal and tailored induction, which 
includes meetings with relevant members of senior management, in order to help them gain a detailed understanding of the 
Group and its activities.  The Company Secretary, under the direction of the Chairman, is responsible for facilitating this induction 
programme, ensuring good information flow between the Board, its committees and management and assisting with Directors’ 
continuing professional development needs .  Directors are also advised, at the time of their appointment, of the legal and other 
duties and obligations arising from the role of director of a listed company and are reminded of these duties and obligations on a 
regular basis.  Directors appointed during the year are required to seek election at the first Annual General Meeting following their 
appointment and all Directors have submitted themselves for re-election by shareholders at intervals of no more than three years.  
Details of the attendance of individual Directors are shown in the table below.

	 Maximum	possible	attendance	 Meetings	attended

Charles Irby 8	 8
Donald Waters 8	 8
Roger Cornick 8	 8
Anita Frew 8	 8
Sir Malcolm Rifkind 8	 8
Giles Weaver 8	 8
Martin Gilbert 8	 8
Bill Rattray 8	 8
Andrew Laing 8	 8
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Performance evaluation
The Board has established a formal process, led by the Chairman, for the annual evaluation of the performance of the Board, its 
appointed Committees and each Director, to ensure that they continue to act effectively and efficiently and to fulfil their 
respective duties, and to identify any training requirements.  A tailored questionnaire, taking into account developments over the 
year and including specific references to the objectives of the Board and its Committees, was completed by each Director.  The 
responses were analysed and the results were subsequently discussed at meetings of the Committees and of the Board, as well as 
in individual discussions between the Chairman and each Director.  Additionally, the Non Executive Directors held a meeting 
without the Executive Directors present at which Executive Directors’ performance was discussed.  The Non Executive Directors 
also met without the Chairman present to discuss the results of the evaluation of the Chairman’s performance, having taken into 
consideration the views of the Executive Directors, and the results of this meeting were subsequently discussed between the 
Senior Non Executive Director and the Chairman.  

Board committees
The Board has appointed the following committees to assist in the execution of its duties.  All of these committees operate on 
written terms of reference, which are reviewed annually and which are available on the Company’s website, and the chairman of 
each committee reports regularly to the Board.  Each of the committees is authorised to obtain, at the Company’s expense, 
external legal or other professional advice to assist in carrying out its duties.  Only the members of each committee are entitled to 
attend its meetings but others, such as senior management and external advisers, may be invited to attend as appropriate.  
Current membership of the committees is shown in the Directors’ biographies on page 23.  The composition of these committees 
is reviewed annually, taking into consideration the recommendations of the Nominations Committee.

Nominations committee 
The Nominations Committee is chaired by Charles Irby and he is supported by two independent Non Executive Directors,  
Sir Malcolm Rifkind and Donald Waters.  All served on the Committee throughout the year.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board and for recommending new 
members for appointment to the Board.  The Board as a whole has responsibility for the appointment of new Directors and for 
nominating them for election by shareholders at the first opportunity following their appointment.  The Committee is also 
responsible for giving due consideration to succession planning for the Board and other senior executives and for making 
recommendations to the Board.

During the year the Committee reviewed the proposals for rotation and re-election of Directors at the Annual General Meeting; 
discussed the results of the annual performance evaluation exercise and noted the satisfactory operations of the Committee; and 
reviewed its terms of reference.  The Committee met on a number of occasions during the year including one formal meeting and 
details of the attendance of individual members are shown in the table below. 

	 Maximum	possible	attendance	 Meetings	attended

Charles Irby 1	 1
Donald Waters 1	 1
Malcolm Rifkind 1	 1

Audit committee 
The Audit Committee is chaired by Donald Waters and he is supported by two independent Non Executive Directors, Anita Frew 
and Giles Weaver.  All served on the Committee throughout the year.  The Board is satisfied that all of the Committee’s members 
have recent and relevant commercial and financial knowledge and experience to satisfy the provisions of the Code, by virtue of 
their having held various executive and non executive roles in investment management and business management. Additionally, 
Donald Waters and Giles Weaver are both Chartered Accountants.

The Committee’s role is to assist the Board in discharging its duties and responsibilities for financial reporting, internal control and 
risk management, and the appointment and remuneration of independent external auditors.   The Committee is also responsible 
for reviewing the scope and results of audit work and its cost effectiveness and the independence and objectivity of the auditors.  
In order to safeguard the objectivity and independence of the auditors, the Committee has approved a comprehensive policy to 
regulate the provision of non-audit services by the Group’s external auditors.  The policy provides details of the types of service 
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which are and are not permitted and those which require the explicit prior approval of the Committee.  Permitted non-audit 
services include the provision of tax compliance services; the provision of certain recruitment services; and acting as reporting 
accountant in appropriate circumstances, provided there is no element of valuation work involved.  The provision of tax advisory 
services, due diligence/transaction services and litigation services may be permitted with the Committee’s prior approval.  The 
provision of internal audit services, valuation work and any other activity that may give rise to any possibility of self-review are 
not permitted under any circumstance.  The Committee also has responsibility for reviewing the Company’s arrangements on 
whistle blowing, ensuring that appropriate arrangements are in place for employees to be able to raise, in confidence, matters of 
possible impropriety , with suitable subsequent follow-up action.

During the year the Committee discharged its responsibilities, under its terms of reference, by: 

(a) reviewing the Group’s draft 2006 financial statements and 2007 interim results statement prior to discussion and approval 
by the Board and reviewing the external auditor’s detailed reports thereon;

(b) reviewing the continuing appropriateness of the Groups’ accounting policies;

(c) reviewing the external auditor’s plan for the audit of the Group’s 2007 financial statements, receiving and reviewing 
confirmations of auditor independence and  approving the terms of engagement and proposed fees for the 2007 audit;

(d) making recommendations to the Board for a resolution to be put to shareholders to approve the re-appointment of the 
external auditors; 

(e) reviewing management’s annual report on the Group’s system of internal control and its effectiveness, reporting to the 
Board on the results of this review and receiving regular updates on key risks and controls;

(f) reviewing the internal audit department terms of reference, its work programme and regular reports on its work during  
the year;

(g) receiving reports from the chairman of the Group Risk Management Committee;

(h) reviewing the Committee’s terms of reference, carrying out an annual performance evaluation exercise and noting the 
satisfactory operation of the Committee.

The Committee receives regular reports from the Group’s external and internal auditors and can, and does, request 
supplementary reports from management to enable it to fulfil its duties under its terms of reference.  The Committee met four 
times during the year, with representatives of senior management and KPMG Audit Plc in attendance at each meeting.    Details of 
the attendance of the individual members of the Committee during the year are shown in the table below.

	 Maximum	possible	attendance	 Meetings	attended

Donald Waters 4	 4
Anita Frew 4	 4
Giles Weaver 4	 4

Remuneration committee 
The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Sir Malcolm Rifkind, and he is supported by three independent Non Executive 
Directors, Roger Cornick, Anita Frew and Giles Weaver.  Anita Frew was appointed to the Committee after the year end.  The role of 
the Committee is to monitor, review and make recommendations to the Board on the Group’s remuneration policy, as set out in 
the Report on pages 28 to 35, and to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the Executive 
Directors and other senior employees of the Group.  The Committee is also responsible for approving the design of all share 
incentive plans and for recommending their approval by the Board and by shareholders.  The Remuneration Committee held four 
formal meetings during the year and details of the attendance of the individual members of the Committee are shown in the 
table below.  In addition, and in accordance with its requirements of the terms of reference, the members of the Committee were 
also consulted on a range of issues during the year, including specific matters related to both recruitment and redundancy.     

	 Maximum	possible	attendance	 				Meetings	attended

Malcolm Rifkind 4	 4
Roger Cornick 4	 4
Giles Weaver 4	 3

Corporate	governance	report	continued
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Management Board 
The operational management of the Group is delegated by the Board to the Management Board which comprises the Executive 
Directors and other heads of department.  Brief biographies of its members are provided on page 24.  The Management Board 
meets three times each month, has specific terms of reference which have been approved by the Board and has responsibility for 
implementing the Board’s strategy.    

Relationships with shareholders
The Company places great importance on communication with investors and aims to keep shareholders informed by means of 
regular communication with institutional shareholders, analysts and the financial press throughout the year.  Annual and Interim 
Reports and trading updates are widely distributed to other parties who may have an interest in the Group’s performance and 
these documents are also made available on the Company’s website.  The Chief Executive and Finance Director make regular 
reports to the Board on investor relations and on specific discussions with major shareholders and the Board receives copies of all 
research published on the Company.  Private investors are encouraged to attend the Annual General Meeting at which they have 
an opportunity to ask questions.  The Annual General Meeting is normally attended by all Directors, and the Chairmen of the 
Audit, Nominations and Remuneration Committees are all available to answer questions.  The Senior Independent Director is 
always available to shareholders if they have concerns which contact through the normal channels of Chairman, Chief Executive 
or Finance Director has failed to resolve or for which such contact is inappropriate.  The Company continues to offer major 
shareholders the opportunity to meet any or all of the Chairman, the Senior Independent Director and any new Directors.  The 
Group will continue its policy of announcing the number of proxy votes cast on resolutions at the Annual General Meeting and 
any other general meetings.

Internal control
The Board has overall responsibility for the Group’s systems of internal control and the management of significant risks. The 
Group’s internal controls are designed to cover all risks to achieving the Group’s objectives including all business, operational, 
reputational, financial and compliance risks.  The internal controls are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, risk of failure to 
meet business objectives and to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss.  The 
system of internal control is embedded within the day to day operations of the Group and a strong control culture is combined 
with clear management responsibility and accountabilities for individual controls. 

The Group Risk Management Committee, chaired by the Group Head of Risk, oversees the key risks and controls and the risk 
management process. Membership of the Committee comprises the Executive Directors and their senior colleagues plus the 
heads of Legal, Compliance and Internal Audit, and the Committee operates under terms of reference approved by the Board. The 
Group operates an automated risk management framework that requires management to record and regularly assess the risks 
and the effectiveness of internal controls and to report their findings to the Board.  The risk management framework, which covers 
all material parts of the Group, also provides a continuous improvement process for the Group’s internal controls.   

The Group has separate functions which monitor the effectiveness of internal control. The primary control functions sit with the 
Group’s Risk Division, comprising the Compliance, Legal, Business Risk and Internal Audit functions.  The Compliance team reviews 
the effectiveness of controls that ensure compliance with regulatory requirements in each jurisdiction in which the Group 
operates while the Legal team is responsible for ensuring that the Group complies with statutory requirements globally.  During 
the period a separate function of Business Risk has been established to focus on operational and investment risks facing the 
Group, reflecting the increasing size and complexity of its operations. The Internal Audit team reviews the effectiveness of all 
controls, either by reviewing the methods and findings of the other independent monitoring functions, or by directly auditing the 
controls operated by management.  The heads of these functions each report to the Group Head of Risk who, in turn, reports to 
the Chief Executive and also attends and reports at meetings of the Board. The Head of Internal Audit, however, primarily reports 
to the Audit Committee and has unrestricted access to the Chairman of the Audit Committee.  Further controls lie with the 
Performance division which reports on investment performance of assets managed by the Group to generally accepted industry 
standards. The Head of this division reports directly to the Chief Investment Officer.

A summary of significant risks, key internal controls and findings arising from the risk management framework and the work of 
the monitoring functions is reported by the Management Board annually in a formal risk control report to the Board.  Identifying, 
evaluating and managing the Group’s significant risks is an ongoing process which is regularly reviewed by the Board and has been 
in place throughout the year to 30 September 2007 and up to the date of approval of these financial statements.



40 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 

Employees
The Group recognises that the involvement of its employees is key to the future success of the business, and has for many years 
adopted a practice of keeping employees informed on all matters affecting them, via email and the Group’s intranet site and that 
all publicly announced documents are circulated internally to all employees.  The Group has consistently operated a remuneration 
strategy that recognises both corporate and individual performance.  The Group is also committed to following good practice in 
employment matters, recognising the part this plays in attracting and retaining staff.  

Further controls lie with the Performance team which report on investment performance of assets managed by the Group to 
generally accepted industry standards. This team, in turn, report to the Chief Investment Officer.

The Group promotes the importance of high ethical standards to all employees and staff have the opportunity to voice any 
concerns they may have, either direct with management or on a confidential basis via the whistleblowing process.

Equal opportunities
The Group is committed to providing equal opportunities, both for existing employees and for new applicants, and seeks to ensure 
that the workforce reflects, as far as is practicable, the diversity of the many communities in which the Group operates.  It is the 
Group’s policy to give appropriate consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons, having regard to their 
particular aptitudes and abilities.  For the purposes of training, career development and promotion, disabled employees, including 
anyone who may become disabled during the course of his or her employment, are treated on equal terms with other employees.  
The Group operates a zero tolerance policy to harassment and bullying.  Details of the Group’s equal opportunities policy is 
available on the Company’s website and this policy is supplemented by specific policies that reflect local employment legislation 
and expectations. 

Health and safety
The Group has in place appropriate local health and safety policies which can be accessed by all staff via an internal database.  The 
aim is to provide both staff and visitors with a safe and healthy working environment.  The Group is committed to adhering to the 
high standards of health and safety set out by its policies and procedures and to providing training as necessary.

Corporate social responsibility
The Group recognises the importance of Corporate social responsibility (‘CSR’) incorporating transparency, fairness, 
accountability and integrity and believes that these principles are fundamental to the Group’s operations.  The Group continues 
to monitor developments in all relevant areas of CSR, including environment management, employees, health and safety, 
suppliers and the community to ensure that it meets best practice.  The Group continues to promote energy efficiency and the 
avoidance of waste throughout its operations and a number of initiatives, such as the recycling of paper, glass and other waste and 
the use of ‘green’ energy are encouraged.  The Group commissioned its third environmental audit, this time covering all our main 
offices worldwide, in order to obtain key performance indicator data and to provide comment on the Group’s environmental 
performance in relation to published benchmarks.  

The Group has codified and published its policy on corporate governance in relation to companies in which it has invested  
or is considering investing and on voting at shareholder meetings of investee companies.  Full details are available on the 
Company’s website.

As part of the Group’s CSR responsibilities, the Board takes account of the significance of environmental, social and governance 
(‘ESG’) matters that are of importance to the Group. Primary responsibility for these matters rests with Andrew Laing, the Chief 
Operating Officer, however reporting to the Board will come from a number of sources including the Group Risk Division via the 
Group’s automated risk management framework. The Board has identified and assessed the significant ESG risks to the Group’s 
short and long-term value, as well as the opportunities to enhance value that may arise from an appropriate response. The Board 
confirms that it has received adequate information to make this assessment and that account is taken of the ESG matters in the 
induction and training of Directors. The Board is of the opinion that the Group has in place effective systems for managing and 
mitigating significant risks which, where relevant, incorporate performance management systems and appropriate remuneration 
incentives. As previously stated, the most important ESG matters of relevance to the Group are employee retention and client 
relationships. On both of these issues, the Board has received specific reports from the Executive identifying the risks and the 
issues and have taken steps to ensure that they are managed in an appropriate manner. In addition, it is recognised that our 
activities do have an impact on the environment and in using the results of our recent environmental audit, the Group remains 
committed to minimising waste and using energy efficiently, thus aiming to reduce the negative impact of our operations on the 
environment. Full details are available on the Company's website.

Corporate	governance	report	continued
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Statement of Directors’ responsibilities

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Directors’ Report and the Group and parent company financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations.  

Company law requires the directors to prepare Group and parent company financial statements for each financial year.  Under 
that law they have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with International Financial  Reporting Standards  
as adopted by the EU (‘IFRS’) and applicable law and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements on the 
same basis.  

The Group and parent company financial statements are required by law and IFRS adopted by the EU to present fairly the state of 
affairs of the company and of the profit or loss of the company for that period.  The Companies Act 1985 provides in relation to 
such financial statements that references in the relevant part of the Act to financial statements giving a true and fair view are 
references to giving a fair presentation.

In preparing each of the Group and parent company financial statements, the Directors are required to:  

•	 select	suitable	accounting	policies	and	then	apply	them	consistently;		

•	 make	judgements	and	estimates	that	are	reasonable	and	prudent;		

•	 state	whether	they	have	been	prepared	in	accordance	with	IFRS	as	adopted	by	the	EU;	and		

•	 prepare	the	financial	statements	on	the	going	concern	basis	unless	it	is	inappropriate	to	presume	that	the	group	and	parent	
company will continue in business.  

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the company and enable them to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.  
They have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the company and 
to prevent and detect fraud and other irregularities.  

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information included on the 
company’s website.  Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.  

Under applicable law and regulations the Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors’ report, Remuneration report and 
Corporate governance statement that comply with that law and those regulations.  
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Independent Auditors’ report to the Members of 
Aberdeen Asset Management PLC

We have audited the Group and parent company financial statements (the ‘financial statements’) of Aberdeen Asset 
Management PLC for the year ended 30 September 2007 which comprise the Group income statement, the Group and parent 
company balance sheets, the Group and parent company cash flow statements, the Group and parent company statements of 
recognised income and expenses, and the related notes.  These financial statements have been prepared under the accounting 
policies set out therein.  We have also audited the information in the Directors’ Remuneration Report that is described as having 
been audited.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with section 235 of the Companies Act 1985.  Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose.  To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume 
responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for 
the opinions we have formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements 
in accordance with applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU are set out in the 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities on page 41.

Our responsibility is to audit the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited in 
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).

We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and fair view and whether the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited have been properly prepared in accordance with the 
Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.  We also report to you whether 
in our opinion the information given in the Directors’ Report is consistent with the financial statements.  The information given in 
the Directors’ Report includes that specific information presented in the Chairman’s Statement and Business review that is cross 
referred from the business review section of the Directors’ Report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not received all the 
information and explanations we require for our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’ remuneration and 
other transactions is not disclosed.  

We review whether the corporate governance statement reflects the Company’s compliance with the nine provisions of the 2003 
Combined Code specified for our review by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority, and we report if it does not.  We 
are not required to consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures.

We read the other information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial 
statements.  We consider the implications for our report if we become aware of any apparent misstatements or material 
inconsistencies with the financial statements.  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the Auditing Practices 
Board.  An audit includes examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.  It also includes an assessment of the significant 
estimates and judgements made by the directors in the preparation of the financial statements, and of whether the accounting 
policies are appropriate to the Group’s and Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we considered necessary in order 
to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error.  In 
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the financial statements and 
the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited.
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Opinion
In our opinion:

•	 the	Group	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	accordance	with	IFRSs	as	adopted	by	the	EU,	of	the	state	of	the	
Group’s affairs as at 30 September 2007 and of its profit for the year then ended; 

•	 the	parent	company	financial	statements	give	a	true	and	fair	view,	in	accordance	with	IFRSs	as	adopted	by	the	EU	as	
applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1985, of the state of the parent company’s affairs as at  
30 September 2007;

•	 the	financial	statements	and	the	part	of	the	Remuneration	Report	to	be	audited	have	been	properly	prepared	in	
accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS  
Regulation; and

•	 the	information	given	in	the	Directors’	Report	is	consistent	with	the	financial	statements.

KPMG Audit Plc 
Chartered Accountants 
Registered Auditor

10 December 2007
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Accounting policies

Basis of preparation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted in the 
EU, (‘IFRS’) and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee or its predecessors 
(‘IFRIC’), which had been approved by the European Commission as at 30 September 2007. 

The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, except that certain of the Group's financial instruments 
are stated at their fair values. The principal accounting policies, which have been consistently applied, are set out below.

Statement of compliance
Both the parent company financial statements and the Group financial statements have been prepared and approved by the 
Directors in accordance with IFRS. On publishing the parent company financial statements here together with the Group financial 
statements, the Company is taking advantage of the exemption in section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 not to present its 
individual income statement and related notes that form part of the approved financial statements.

Accounting estimates and judgements
The preparation of the financial statements necessitates the use of estimates, assumptions and judgements. These estimates, 
assumptions and judgements affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities at the balance sheet date 
as well as affecting the reported income and expenses for the year. Although the estimates are based on management’s best 
knowledge and judgement of information and financial data, the actual outcome may differ from these estimates. The key 
assumptions which affect these results for the year and the balances as at the year-end are specifically identified, where 
appropriate, in the notes to the Group financial statements.

New standards and interpretations not applied
During the year, a number of new standards and interpretations have been issued with effective dates after the date of these 
financial statements. The Directors do not anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations will materially 
impact on the Group’s financial statements in the period of initial application although there will be revised and additional 
disclosures. The Group plans to apply these standards in the reporting period in which they become effective. The new standards 
and interpretations which have been endorsed by the European Commission include:
 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
IFRS 8 Operating Segments
IFRIC 10 Interim Financial Reporting and Impairment
IFRIC 11 IFRS 2 Group and Treasury Share Transactions

The Directors anticipate that the adoption of these standards and interpretations in future periods will have no material impact 
on the financial statements of the Group.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial information contained within these financial statements incorporates the results, cash flows and 
financial position of the Company and its subsidiaries for the period to 30 September 2007. Subsidiaries are entities controlled by 
the Company and are included from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases. Control exists when the 
Group has the power, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from 
its activities. 

The consolidated financial statements include the Group’s share of the total recognised gains and losses of associates on an 
equity accounted basis, from the date that significant influence commences until the date that significant influence ceases. 
Associates are those entities in which the Group has significant influence, but not control, over the financial and operating 
policies. When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in an associate, the carrying amount is reduced to nil and 
recognition of further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive obligations or 
made payments on behalf of an associate.

All inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses between Group entities are eliminated on consolidation. 
Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interest in the entity. 
Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence  
of impairment.
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The Group manages private equity investments on behalf of its clients and these investments are held by limited partnerships.  
IAS 27 defines control as the power to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits. Benefits in 
this context are interpreted as ownership benefits. Whilst the Group has a small interest in the limited partnerships, the Group's 
principal business rationale is to earn management fees by managing the partnership on behalf of investors. On that basis the 
Group is considered not to control the operating and financial decisions of the investee companies so as to obtain benefits of 
ownership. Consequently, limited partnerships and any significant investment holdings are not consolidated but are held at fair 
value as set out in the financial instrument policy.

Revenue
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that economic benefits will flow to the Group and the revenue can be 
reliably measured. Revenue from the provision of asset management and property asset management services is recognised as 
the services are provided and includes management fees, transaction fees, performance fees and registration fees.

Initial income from the sale of shares in open ended investment companies received in advance is taken to the balance sheet and 
amortised over the period of the asset management service, which is estimated based on the Group’s experience of the average 
holding periods by investors.

The Group has an entitlement to earn performance  fees from a number of clients where the actual fund performance of the 
clients’ assets exceed defined benchmarks by an agreed level of outperformance over a set time period. Performance fees are 
recognised when the quantum of the fee can be estimated reliably, which is normally at the end of the performance period, when 
this occurs on or before the reporting date, or where there is a period of less than six months remaining to the end of the 
performance period and there is evidence at the reporting date which suggests that the current performance will be sustainable.

Finance revenue
Finance revenue comprises interest, dividends, and expected return on pension assets. Interest income is recognised on the 
effective interest rate method as it accrues. Dividend income is recognised when the Group’s right to receive payment is 
established which, in the case of listed securities, is the ex-dividend date.

Realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments
Gains and losses (both realised and unrealised) on financial assets designated as held for trading are recognised in the 
consolidated income statement. Realised and unrealised gains are recognised as part of revenue.

Gains and losses on financial assets designated as available-for-sale are initially recognised through the consolidated statement 
of recognised income and expense. Upon disposal, any gain or loss taken through the consolidated statement of recognised 
income and expense is reversed out and the full gain or loss from purchase, after any impairment charge previously recognised, 
taken through the consolidated income statement.

Realised gains and losses on investments are calculated as the difference between the net sales proceeds and cost or amortised 
cost. Unrealised gains and losses on investments represent the difference between the valuation of investments at the balance 
sheet date and their original cost or, if they have been previously revalued, the valuation at the last balance sheet date. The 
movement in unrealised gains and losses recognised in the period also includes the reversal of gains or losses previously 
recognised on investments disposed of during the current accounting period.

Exceptional costs
Where the Group incurs significant non-recurring expenditure in respect of items that arise outwith the Group's normal business 
activities and which are sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure then the expenditure incurred is separately 
recognised on the face of the Income Statement as ‘Exceptional’ in order to provide more helpful information to investors.

Finance costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings and interest on pension liabilities.



46 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 

Leases
All Group leases are operating leases, being leases where the lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of 
the leased asset.

Rental payments made under operating leases are charged to the income statement on a straight line basis over the term of the 
lease. Lease incentives received are recognised as a reduction in the rental expense, recognised on a straight line basis over the 
term of the lease.

Pension costs
The principal pension scheme operated by the Group is a group personal pension scheme. In addition overseas subsidiaries make 
contributions to various trade and state defined contribution schemes. Benefits from these schemes are based on contributions 
made. Obligations for contributions to these defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an expense in the  
income statement.

The Group also operates three legacy defined benefit pension schemes which arose on acquisitions. All three schemes are closed 
to new membership and to future service accruals. The Group’s net obligation in respect of these schemes is calculated separately 
for each scheme by estimating the amount of future benefit that members have earned in return for their service in prior periods; 
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. The benefits are 
discounted at a rate equal to the yield on high credit rated corporate bonds that have maturity dates approximating to the terms 
of the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

The surplus or deficit in respect of defined benefit schemes is expressed as the excess or shortfall of the fair value of the assets of 
the scheme compared to the present value of the scheme liabilities and is recognised as an asset or liability of the Group.

Interest costs on the liability, expected return on plan assets and the costs of curtailments and settlements are recognised in the 
income statement.

Actuarial gains and losses arising after 1 October 2004 are recognised in the period in which they occur directly in equity. When 
the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is limited to the net total of any unrecognised past service 
costs and the present value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

Employee benefits
Short	term	employee	benefits
Short term employee benefits are recognised as an undiscounted expense and liability when the employee has rendered services 
during an accounting period. Short term accumulating compensated absences are recognised when the employee renders the 
service that increases his entitlement to future compensated absence. Non-accumulating compensated absences are recognised 
when the absence occurs.

Profit	sharing	and	bonus	payments
These are recognised when there is a present legal or constructive obligation to make such payments as a result of past events and 
a reliable estimate of the obligation can be made.

Share	based	payments
The Executive Share Option Scheme allows Group employees to acquire shares of the Company. The fair value of options granted 
after 7 November 2002 is recognised as an employee expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair value is measured 
at grant date and spread over the period over which the employee becomes unconditionally entitled to the options. The fair value 
of the options granted is measured using a trinomial lattice model, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the 
options were granted. The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that vest 
except where forfeiture is due only to share prices not achieving the threshold for vesting.

The fair value of awards under the Group’s long term incentive plan (‘LTIP’) is recognised as an expense with a corresponding 
increase in equity. The fair value is initially measured at the date of the award and is spread over the period during which 
employees become unconditionally entitled to the shares. The fair value of LTIP awards is based on the market price of the 
underlying shares at the date of the award, taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the award was made.

Where the Company makes awards under the LTIP to employees of its subsidiaries it recharges the cost of these awards to each 
subsidiary based on the fair value of the shares awarded.

Accounting policies continued
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Termination	benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense and liability when the Group is committed to the termination of employment 
before the normal retirement date. A commitment to such termination benefits arises when the Group has initiated detailed 
plans which cannot realistically be withdrawn.

Employee Benefits Trust
The Group has an Employee Benefits Trust (‘EBT’) which owns shares in the Company for the purposes of administering the 
Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan and the deferred share element of annual bonuses. The EBT is consolidated into the Group’s 
financial statements, with these shares deducted from equity.

Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable profit for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the 
balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
in the financial statements and the corresponding basis used for tax purposes.

Deferred tax is provided using the balance sheet liability method and is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply when 
the asset is realised or the liability settled.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised  
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be 
utilised, except:

•	 in	respect	of	taxable	or	deductible	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries	and	joint	ventures,	
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that they will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future.

•	 where	the	deferred	tax	asset	or	liability	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill.

•	 where	the	deferred	tax	asset	or	liability	arises	from	the	initial	recognition	of	an	asset	or	liability	in	a	transaction	that
– is not a business combination; and
– at the time of the transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor loss.

Property, plant & equipment
Property, plant & equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on property, plant & equipment is capitalised on initial recognition. Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised when 
it is probable that there will be future economic benefits associated with the item and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. All other expenditure is recognised as an expense in the income statement as incurred.

Property, plant & equipment is depreciated so as to write off the cost of assets, on a straight line basis, over their estimated useful 
lives as follows:

•	 Heritable	property:	50	years
•	 Leasehold	property:	over	the	period	of	the	lease
•	 Property	improvements:	shorter	of	5	years	or	the	period	of	the	lease
•	 Computers,	fixtures	&	fittings:	3	–	10	years
•	 Motor	vehicles:	4	years	

The carrying value of these assets is reviewed at each reporting date. An assessment is made as to whether there is any indication 
that an asset may be impaired; if any such indication exists and where the carrying value exceeds the estimated recoverable 
amount, the assets are written down  to there recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of fair value less costs to 
sell and value in use. Any impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.
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Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arising on consolidation, representing the excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value of the Group’s share of the 
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired, is capitalised in the balance sheet. The carrying value of goodwill 
at 1 October 2004, the date of transition to IFRS, is equivalent to the carrying value under UK GAAP.  

Following initial recognition, goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to the 
appropriate cash-generating unit for the purpose of impairment testing.

Management contracts
The useful lives of management contracts in respect of open end funds are considered to be indefinite and are therefore not 
subject to amortisation. The Group tests for impairment of these assets annually or more frequently if there is an indication that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Management contracts in respect of segregated mandates are considered to have a 
finite life and are therefore amortised on a straight line basis over their estimated average contract term of 10 years, with 
amortisation charged to the income statement. 

Other intangible assets
Purchased intangible assets have a finite life and are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. 
Amortisation is charged to the income statement on a straight line basis according to the useful economic life of the intangible 
asset as follows:

Software	–	3	years	
Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred. At each reporting date, an 
assessment is made as to whether there is any indication that an asset in use may be impaired. If any such indication exists and 
the carrying values exceed the estimated recoverable amount, the assets are written down to their recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the greater of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of investments not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs. They are categorised as described below.

Financial investments at fair value through profit or loss include investments held for trading purposes. They are carried at fair 
value in the balance sheet and gains or losses are taken to the income statement. The following assets and liabilities are classified 
as held for trading:

Current assets
•	 Financial	investments
•	 Stock	of	units	and	shares

Current liabilities
•	 Investment	contract	liabilities

Available for sale financial assets are also carried at fair value in the balance sheet. Movements in fair value are taken to the fair 
value reserve until derecognition of the asset, at which time the cumulative amount dealt with through this reserve is recognised 
in the income statement. The following assets are designated as available for sale:

Non-current assets
•	 Other	investments

Included in this category are the Group’s investments in private equity partnerships. The fair value of these investments 
represents the Group’s direct investments and entitlement to carried interest distributions, both of which are measured with 
reference to the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Association Valuation Guidelines. 

Loans and receivables and other financial liabilities are recognised at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. 

Convertible bonds that can be converted to share capital at the option of the holder, where the number of shares issued does not 
vary with changes in their fair value, are accounted for as compound financial instruments with a liability and equity component. 
Transaction costs that relate to the issue of a compound financial instrument are allocated to the liability and equity components 
in proportion to the allocation of proceeds. The equity component of the convertible bonds is calculated as the excess of the issue 
proceeds over the present value of the future interest and principal payments, discounted at the market rate of interest applicable 

Accounting policies continued
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to similar liabilities that do not have a conversion option. The interest expense recognised in the income statement is calculated 
using the effective interest rate method.

The Group has adopted trade date accounting. Accordingly, a financial investment is recognised on the date the Group commits 
to its purchase and derecognised on the date on which the Group commits to its sale.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, call deposits and investments in money market instruments with an original 
maturity of three months or less. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand are included as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows.

Investment contracts
The Group sells unit linked life and pension contracts through its insurance subsidiary, Aberdeen Asset Management Life and 
Pensions Limited (‘L&P’). Management fees earned from these contracts are accounted for as described in the accounting policy 
for revenue.

L&P is consolidated in the Group financial statements on a line-by-line basis. Unit linked policyholder assets held by L&P and 
related policyholder liabilities are carried at fair value, with changes in fair value taken to profit or loss.

Amounts received from and paid to investors under these contracts are treated as deposits received or paid and therefore not 
recorded in the income statement. Charges to investors due under these contracts are recognised in the income statement. At the 
balance sheet date the value of these contracts is stated at an amount equal to the fair value of the net assets held to match the 
contractual obligations.

Investment in subsidiaries
In the Company balance sheet, investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

Impairment
The Group carries out annual impairment reviews in respect of goodwill and intangible fixed assets with indefinite lives. The 
Group carries out impairment reviews in respect of property, plant & equipment and other assets whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised in the income statement whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount for any asset or cash-generating unit is the higher of its value in use and 
its fair value less costs to sell.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the unit on a  
pro rata basis.

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has 
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that 
the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or 
amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

Equity instruments
Preference	share	capital
The issued preference capital is classified as an element of equity as it is irredeemable, except at the Company’s option, and 
dividend payments are discretionary. Dividends on preference shares are recognised as distributions within equity.

Perpetual subordinated capital securities
The 7.9% Perpetual Subordinated Capital Securities are classified as an element of equity as the securities are irredeemable, 
except at the Company’s option, and coupon payments are discretionary. Coupon payments, net of attributable tax, are 
recognised as distributions within equity.
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Repurchase	of	share	capital
When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of the consideration paid, which includes directly 
attributable costs, is net of any tax effects, and is recognised as a deduction from equity. When these shares are sold or reissued 
subsequently, the amount received is recognised as an increase in equity, and the resulting surplus or deficit on the transaction is 
transferred to/from retained earnings.

Provisions
A provision is recognised in the balance sheet when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past 
event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is material, 
provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where discounting is used, the 
increase in the provision due to the passage of time is recognised as an interest expense. No provision is established where a 
reliable estimate of the obligation cannot be made.

Foreign currencies
The consolidated financial statements are presented in sterling, the Company’s functional and presentation currency. Each entity 
in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements of each entity are measured 
in that functional currency.

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the 
transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the 
balance sheet date and any exchange differences arising are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost in a foreign currency are translated to the functional currency 
using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction and so no exchange differences arise. Non-monetary assets and liabilities 
stated at fair value in a foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date. Where fair value 
movements in assets and liabilities are reflected in the income statement, the corresponding exchange movements are also 
recognised in the income statement. Where fair value movements in assets and liabilities are reflected directly in equity, the 
corresponding exchange movements are also recognised directly in equity.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated to sterling at exchange rates ruling at the balance sheet date. The 
revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated to sterling at rates approximating to the exchange rates ruling at the 
dates of the transactions.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation
Foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a 
foreign operation are recognised directly in equity, in the foreign currency translation reserve, to the extent that the hedge is 
effective. To the extent that the hedge is ineffective, such differences are recognised in profit or loss. When the hedged part of a 
net investment is disposed of, the associated cumulative amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the 
profit or loss on disposal.

Derivative financial instruments
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge its economic exposure to foreign exchange and interest rate risks arising 
from operational, financing and investment activities.

The fair value of interest rate swaps is the estimated amount that the Group would receive or pay to terminate the swap at the 
balance sheet date, taking into account current interest rates and the current creditworthiness of the swap counterparties. The 
fair value of forward exchange contracts is their quoted market price at the balance sheet date, being the present value of the 
quoted forward price.

Segment reporting
The Group’s primary reporting segments are its two operating divisions, namely the fund management division and the  
property division. 

Accounting policies continued
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Group Income Statement
For the year ended 30 September 2007

  2007 2006 
 Notes £'000 £'000 

Revenue	 1 347,843	 302,124 

Operating costs 1 (251,299)	 (227,903)
Exceptional integration costs 5 (20,301)	 (33,282)
Amortisation  of intangible assets  (9,404)	 (9,847)
Exceptional settlement costs 8 (46,776) (236)

Operating	expenses	  (327,780)	 (271,268)
Exceptional gains on investments 4 8,667	 18,381 
Gains on investments and other income 4 3,440	 7,925 

Other operating income 4 12,107	 26,306 

Operating	profit	before:	  99,984	 82,146 

Exceptional gains and charges  (58,410)	 (15,137)
Amortisation of intangible assets  (9,404)	 (9,847)

Operating	profit	  32,170	 57,162 

Finance revenue 9 14,787	 11,608 
Finance costs 9 (20,506)	 (13,823)
Exceptional finance costs 9 (2,778)	 (1,100)

Net	finance	costs	 9 (8,497)	 (3,315)

Profit before exceptional items, amortisation and taxation  94,265	 79,931 
Exceptional items and amortisation before taxation  (70,592)	 (26,084)

Profit	before	taxation	  23,673	 53,847 

Tax expense on profit before exceptional items and amortisation  (11,387)	 (17,404)
Tax on exceptional items  18,357	 7,429 

Tax	credit	(expense)	 10 6,970	 (9,975)

Profit after taxation  82,879	 61,638 
Exceptional items and amortisation after taxation  (52,236)	 (17,766)

Profit	for	the	year	  30,643	 43,872 

Attributable to equity holders of the parent:
Ordinary shareholders  26,957	 43,872
Other equity holders   3,686	 –

Earnings	per	share	
Basic 13 3.61p	 6.41p 
Diluted 13 3.50p	 6.27p 
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Statements of Recognised Income and Expense
For the year ended 30 September 2007

	 	 	 	 Group	 	 	 Company
  
  2007 2006 2007 2006 
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Net actuarial gain (loss) on defined benefit pension  
schemes 35 10,527	 (6,835) 187	 (660)

Translation of foreign currency net investments 26 1,823	 (5,882) – 1,008 
Movement in fair value of available for sale investments 26 (4,054)	 7,365 1,411	 365 
Tax on items taken directly to equity  (5,772)	 2,324 (742)	 198 

Net	income	(expense)	recognised	directly	in	equity	  2,524	 (3,028) 856	 911 

Profit for the year  30,643	 43,872 68,561	 43,515 

Total	recognised	income	and	expense	for	the	year	  33,167	 40,844 69,417	 44,426 

 
Attributable to equity holders of the parent:
Ordinary shareholders  29,481	 40,844 65,731	 44,426
Other equity holders  3,686	 – 3,686	 – 
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Balance Sheets
30 September 2007

	 	 	 	 Group	 	 	 Company
  
  2007 2006 2007 2006 
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Assets      
Non-current assets      
Intangible assets   14  	619,687		  553,565  	25,652		  5,088 
Property, plant and equipment   15  	13,833		  9,351  	8,041		  6,104 
Other investments   16  	34,898		  13,818  	855,445		  728,944 
Deferred tax assets   17  	21,155		  11,022   279   383 
Trade and other receivables   18  	4,485		  1,038   –   – 

Total non-current assets   	694,058		  588,794  	889,417		  740,519 

Current assets      
Stock of units and shares   19  	537		  264   –   – 
Financial investments   20  	1,298,402		  1,412,579   –   – 
Trade and other receivables   18  	178,173		  132,635  	142,464		  89,543 
Other investments   21  	23,508		  33,541  	7,771		  6,836 
Cash and cash equivalents   22  	80,680		  50,497  	5,525		  15,447 
Assets classified as held for sale   23   –   7,000   –   – 

Total current assets   	1,581,300		  1,636,516  	155,760		  111,826 

Total assets   	2,275,358		  2,225,310  	1,045,177		  852,345 

Equity		 	 	 	 	
Called up share capital   24  	70,888		  70,605  	70,888		  70,605 
Share premium account   26 	287,565		  286,277  	287,565		  286,277 
Other reserves   26  	222,283		  224,514  	225,626		  224,215 
Retained (loss) profit   26  	(158,636)	  (131,301) 	22,002	  16,729 

Total	equity	attributable	to	ordinary	equity	 
holders	of	the	parent		  	422,100		  450,095  	606,081		  597,826 

Attributable to other equity holders - perpetual  
capital securities   27  	197,814		  –  	197,814		  – 

Total	equity		  	619,914		  450,095  	803,895		  597,826 

Liabilities      
Non-current liabilities      
Interest bearing loans and borrowings   28  	85,334		  90,192  	85,334		  90,192 
Other creditors   	1,548		  1,998   –   156 
Provisions   31   500   500   –   – 
Pension deficit   35  	18,269		  32,255   907   1,190 
Deferred tax liabilities   17  	30,108		  24,380  	1,191		  1,464 

Total non-current liabilities   	135,759		  149,325  	87,432		  93,002 

Current liabilities      
Investment contract liabilities   20  	1,298,402		  1,412,579   –   – 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings   28  	48,320		  50,551  	84,734		  87,068 
Trade and other payables   29  	156,123		  143,849  	69,116		  69,891 
Provisions   31   –   2,109   –   309 
Deferred income   32  	2,276		  2,188   –   – 
Current tax payable   	14,564		  14,614  –  4,249 

Total current liabilities   	1,519,685		  1,625,890  	153,850		  161,517 

Total liabilities   	1,655,444		  1,775,215  	241,282		  254,519 

Total	equity	and	liabilities		  	2,275,358		  2,225,310  	1,045,177		  852,345 

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 10 December 2007, and signed on its behalf by: 
 

C	L	A	Irby   W	J	Rattray
Chairman      Finance Director
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Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 September 2007

	 	 	 	 Group	 	 	 Company
  
  2007 2006 2007 2006 
 Notes £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Core cashflow from operating activities   	33,423	  45,886  (10,379)		  51,228 
Effects of short-term timing differences on unit  

trust settlements   3,728	  6,681   –   – 

  37,151	  52,567  (10,379)	  51,228  

Exceptional settlement costs paid   	(46,776)	  (15,836) 7,500	  (15,836)
Other non-recurring costs paid   	(20,301)	  (33,282) (1,722)	  (6,287)

	Net	cash	(used	in)	from	operating	activities		  6  	(29,926)	  3,449  (4,601)	  29,105  

     
Cash	flows	from	investing	activities		 	 	 	 	
Proceeds from sale of investments   	33,539		  73,451  15,040	  62,960 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment    22   173   –   - 
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed of   	1,500		  4,824  	1,500		  5,987 
Disposal of private client business    –   2,946   –   (200)
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired   	(50,009)	  (71,441) 	(115,233)		  (98,678)
Acquisition of intangible assets   	(15,356)	  (74,934) 	(15,322)	  (1,527)
Acquisition of property, plant & equipment   	(6,367)	  (3,619) 	(3,047)	  (1,360)
Acquisition of investments   	(28,106)	  (43,913) 	(12,197)	  (41,216)

Net	cash	used	in	investing	activities		  	(64,777)	  (112,513) (129,259)	  (74,034)

     
Cash	flows	from	financing	activities		 	 	 	 	
Issue of ordinary share capital   	1,571		  870  1,571		  870 
Issue of preference share capital    –   3   –   3 
Issue of perpetual securities    	196,465		  –  196,465		  – 
Issue of subordinated loan notes    –   66,153   –   66,153 
Purchase of own shares   	(29,473)	  (3,024) 	(29,473)		  (3,024)
New borrowings   	22,947		  25,000  	22,947	  25,000 
Repayment of borrowings    	(25,683)	  (475) 	(25,041)		  – 
Dividends paid   	(39,409)	  (28,110) 	(39,409)	  (28,110)

Net	cash	from	financing	activities		  	126,418		  60,417  127,060	  60,892  

     
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   	31,715		  (48,647) (6,800)	  15,963 
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 October   	48,120		  97,016  (24,462)		  (41,607)
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and  

cash equivalents   	845		  (249) –   1,182  

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	30	September		  	80,680		  48,120  (31,262)	  (24,462)
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Notes to the Accounts
For the year ended 30 September 2007

1 Segment reporting

 The Group’s primary business segments, based on the Group’s management and reporting structure, are the investment management division 

and the property management division.  The results, analysed by these two business segments, are shown below.

	 Investment	 Property	asset	 Group 
  management management total 
Year	to	30	September	2007	 £'000	 £'000	 £'000

Turnover 277,958	 69,016	 346,974	
Net fair value gains on assets at fair value through income 869	 –	 869		

Revenue	 278,827	 69,016	 347,843		

Operating costs (196,679)	 (54,620)	 (251,299)
Integration costs (20,301)	 –	 (20,301)
Amortisation of intangible assets (9,285)	 (119)	 (9,404)
Exceptional charge (46,776)	 –	 (46,776)

Operating expenses (273,041)	 (54,739)	 (327,780)

Exceptional gains on investments 8,667	 –	 8,667	
Gains on investments and other income 3,440	 –	 3,440	

Other operating income 12,107	 –	 12,107		

Operating profit (before exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles) 85,588	 14,396	 99,984	

Operating profit (after exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles) 17,893	 14,277	 32,170

Profit before tax 	9,267	 14,406	 23,673

Total assets 2,227,514	 47,844	 2,275,358		

Total liabilities (1,624,654)	 (30,790)	 (1,655,444)

Depreciation 1,995	 530	 2,525

Total significant non-cash expenses 7,498	 –	 7,498

Capital expenditure 5,802	 565	 6,367

Acquisition of intangible assets 79,573	 107	 79,680
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Notes to the Accounts continued

1	 Segment	reporting	continued

 Investment Property asset Group 
 management management total 
Year	to	30	September	2006 £'000 £'000 £'000

Turnover 240,105 60,202 300,307 
Net fair value gains on assets at fair value through income 1,817 – 1,817 

Revenue 241,922 60,202 302,124 

Operating costs (176,437) (51,466) (227,903)
Integration costs (33,282) – (33,282)
Amortisation of intangible assets (9,762) (85) (9,847)
Exceptional charge (236) – (236)

Operating expenses (219,717) (51,551) (271,268)

Exceptional gains on investments 18,381 – 18,381 
Gains on investments and other income 6,429 1,496 7,925 

Other operating income 24,810 1,496 26,306 

Operating profit (before exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles) 71,914 10,232 82,146 

Operating profit (after exceptional items and amortisation of intangibles) 47,015 10,147 57,162

Profit before tax 43,515 10,532 53,847 

Total assets 2,178,991 46,319 2,225,310 

Total liabilities (1,753,846) (21,369) (1,775,215)

Depreciation 1,586 708 2,294

Total significant non-cash expenses 6,163 – 6,163

Capital expenditure 3,256 363 3,619

Acquisition of intangible assets 100,368 463 100,831
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1	 Segment	reporting	continued

The results of the Group presented on a geographical basis are shown below. 

	 UK	/	Europe	 Asia	 Americas	 Eliminations	 Total 
Year to September 2007 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 212,863	 100,540	 34,440	 –	 347,843	

Operating profit (loss) (39,551)	 76,405	 (4,684)	 –	 32,170	

Profit (loss) before tax (50,873)	 80,943	 (6,397)	 –	 23,673	

Total assets 3,085,645	 287,201	 44,809	 (1,142,297)	 2,275,358	

Total liabilities 1,616,686	 89,054	 43,318	 (93,614)	 1,655,444	

Depreciation 1,736	 492	 297	 –	 2,525	

Amortisation of intangible assets 3,623	 98	 5,683	 –	 9,404	

Total significant non-cash expenses 3,841	 791	 2,866	 –	 7,498			

Capital expenditure 3,616	 1,392	 1,359	 –	 6,367	

Acquisition of intangible assets 29,568	 50,112	 –	 –	 79,680			

 

	 UK	/	Europe	 Asia	 Americas	 Eliminations	 Total 
Year to September 2006 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Turnover 216,067 59,722 26,335 – 302,124 

Operating profit (loss) 14,537 46,867 (4,242) – 57,162 

Profit (loss) before tax 10,395 49,050 (5,598) – 53,847 

Total assets 2,927,317 75,970 70,767 (848,744) 2,225,310 

Total liabilities (1,779,525) (26,469) (59,227) 90,006 (1,775,215)

Depreciation 1,712 344 238 – 2,294 

Amortisation of intangible assets ( excluding software) 4,684 – 4,274 – 8,958 

Total significant non-cash expenses 6,163 – – – 6,163 

Capital expenditure 1,702 607 1,310 – 3,619 

Acquisition of intangible assets 26,786 – 74,045 – 100,831 

Turnover and operating profit before interest and tax by origin are not materially different to the information given above.

	 Eliminations

The total assets included in the UK geographical segment include the investments held by the parent company in, and intercompany balances 

with, its overseas subsidiaries. The adjustments above represent the elimination of these investments and intercompany balances which are 

required to be made on consolidation to reconcile to the consolidated assets of the Group.
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2 Operating expenses 
 2007 2006  
 £’000 £’000

Operating loss is stated after charging (crediting):
Fees payable to the company’s auditors for the audit of the company’s accounts 93	 97 
Fees payable to the company’s auditors and its associates for other services 
 –  the audit of the company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 550 377 
 –  other services pursuant to legislation (see below) 247	 178 

 890	 652 
 –  tax services 89	 69 
 –  all other services (see below) 370	 321 

 1,349	 1,042  
Fees paid in respect of the Group’s pension schemes 
 –  audit 22 14  

 1,371	 1,056  

Operating lease payments 7,553	 5,603 
Depreciation 2,525	 2,294 
Amortisation of intangible assets 9,404	 9,847 
Directors’ emoluments 4,845	 5,598 
Exchange loss (gain) 1,118	 (1,156)
Loss on disposal of property, plant & equipment 183	 47  

	 Fees	paid	to	the	Company’s	auditors

In 2007, other services pursuant to legislation includes £106,000 for work carried out in respect of a SAS 70 review, £111,000 for regulatory 

reporting and £30,000 for the interim review.

The total for all other services in 2007 includes £168,000 for work carried out in connection with unit trust fund mergers and fund audits, 

£178,000 for services provided to the property division and Asian subsidiaries, £5,000 for regulatory training and £19,000 for other 

professional services.

The Company’s auditors received fees of £20,000 (2006 - £6,000) for advisory and reporting services provided in relation to certain 

acquisitions, disposals and fund raising activities. These costs are included within the costs of the respective acquisition, disposal or fund 

raising activity to which they relate.

Fees paid to the Company’s auditors, KPMG Audit Plc, and its associates for services other than the statutory audit of the Company are not 

disclosed since the consolidated accounts disclose non-audit fees on a consolidated basis. 

Details of Directors’ remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 28 to 35.

3 Net fair value gains on assets at fair value through income 
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Fair value gains on investments 869	 1,817  

The above fair value adjustment represents gains and losses (both realised and unrealised) on financial assets held for trading.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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4 Other operating income 
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Other operating income  comprises the following items:
Gain on disposal of significant investments 7,892	 15,355
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries and contracts 775 3,026

Exceptional gains 8,667	 18,381

Gain on disposal of other investments 3,440	 5,729
Other income – 2,196

Gain on investments and other income 3,440	 7,925  

Other operating income 12,107	 26,306 

 2007

The gain on significant investments in 2007 represents the final contingent deferred consideration received in respect of the sale, in January 

2005, of the Group’s investment in Lombard International Assurance SA. The gain includes the transfer of £7.0 million from the available for 

sale reserve.

The gain on disposal of subsidiaries and contracts comprises deferred proceeds received in the current year in respect of disposals completed in 

previous years.

The Board considers that these two categories of gains are outwith the course of the Group’s normal business and sufficiently material that 

they should be disclosed separately to enable a proper understanding of the financial statements, and has therefore chosen to disclose these 

items as exceptional gains.

Gains on disposal of other investments comprises principally of net gains on the realisation of private equity investments.

 2006

The gains on disposal of significant investments in 2006 comprises gains realised on (i) the sale of the Group’s investment in New Star Asset 

Management Group PLC which was sold on 11 November 2005; and (ii) contingent deferred consideration received in respect of the sale, in 

January 2005, of the Group’s investment in Lombard International Assurance SA. The gain includes the transfer of £8.6 million from the 

available for sale reserve.

The gain on disposal of subsidiaries and contracts comprises a gain of £2,946,000 on the disposal of  the Group’s UK private client business, 

and net deferred proceeds received in the current year in respect of disposals completed in previous years.

Gains on disposal of other investments includes £3,807,000 of  deferred consideration received from the sale, in October 2003 of Asset Value 

Investors Limited. These proceeds form an element of a wider transaction, the substance of which was to retain an interest in an ongoing 

revenue stream until 30 September 2006.

5 Exceptional integration costs

In late 2005 the Company completed the acquisition of certain fund management businesses of Deutsche Bank AG, based in London and 

Philadelphia. During the period since acquisition substantial integration costs have been incurred in combining these acquired businesses with 

the existing business of the Group. These integration costs comprise charges in respect of a transitional services agreement with the vendor to 

ensure that both people and systems are transferred in a controlled manner; set-up costs in respect of the migration of the back office data 

and systems to the Group’s third party administrator; and costs of retaining duplicate staffing for a transitional period to ensure a smooth 

migration of data.

 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Transitional service costs from vendor 10,295	 11,190 
Set-up costs in respect of back office data and systems 3,396	 7,579 
Duplicate staff costs redundancy costs and third party integration costs 6,610	 12,130 
Staff retention costs – 2,383 

 20,301	 33,282 
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6 Analysis of consolidated cash flows
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Reconciliation	of	profit	after	tax	to	operating	cash	flow
Profit after tax 	30,643		  43,872  68,561	  43,515 
Depreciation charges  	2,525		  2,294  	1,110		  959 
Amortisation of intangible assets  	9,404		  9,847  	747		  1,355 
Fair value gains on investments (869)	 (1,817) (869)	 (1,468)
Gain on disposal of investments and other assets (12,170)	 (20,224) (7,273)	 (9,833)
Share based element of remuneration 	7,498		  6,163  7,498	  6,163 
Net finance costs 	8,497		  3,315  10,560	  10,508 
Income tax expense (6,970)	  9,975  6,216	  3,123  

 	 	38,558		  53,425  	86,550		  54,322  
Decrease in provisions (4,981)	 (26,752) (459)	 (23,211)
(Increase) decrease in stock (273)	  2,110  – –
(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables  (24,711)	  28,459  (54,421)	 (560)
Increase in short-term loans to property funds (24,027)	 (14,756) – –
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables 20 (32,037) (23,537)	  8,186 

Net cash (outflow) inflow from operating activities  (15,414)	  10,449  8,133	  38,737  
Net interest paid (4,807)	 (334) (13,011)	 (7,527)
Corporation tax paid (9,705)	 (6,666) 277 (2,105)

Net cash (used in) generated from operating activities (29,926)	  3,449  (4,601)	  29,105  

7 Employees
   2007  
	 Recurring	 Exceptional	 Total	 2006 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Group
Aggregate employee costs, including Directors:
Salaries and bonuses 116,670	 3,035	 119,705	 110,139 
Share based element of remuneration (note 25) 7,498	 –	 7,498	 6,163 
Other benefits 2,464	 –	 2,464	 1,870 
Social security costs 8,044	 375	 8,419	 8,874 
Other pension costs 11,477	 213	 11,690	 11,303 

 	 146,153	 3,623	 149,776	 138,349 
Redundancy costs 616	 1,886	 2,502	 3,752 

 	 146,769	 5,509	 152,278	 142,101 

The exceptional staff costs noted above are included within exceptional costs as detailed in note 5.

   2007  
	 Recurring	 Exceptional	 Total	 2006 
Average	number	of	employees	during	the	year	 Number	 Number	 Number	 Number

Investment management 908	 23	 931	 837
Property asset management 449	 –	 449	 500

 1,357	 23	 1,380	 1,337

Notes to the Accounts continued
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7	 Employees	continued
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Company
Aggregate employee costs, including Directors:
Salaries and bonuses 19,957	 22,917 
Share based element of remuneration 1,336	 801 
Other benefits 417	 338 
Social security costs 1,620	 1,312 
Other pension costs 2,458	 2,066 

 25,788	 27,434 
Redundancy and exceptional staff costs 810	 269 

 26,598	 27,703 

The redundancy and exceptional staff costs noted above are included within exceptional costs as detailed in note 5.

 2007 2006 
Average	number	of	employees	during	the	year Number Number

Investment management 296 235

8 Exceptional settlement costs 
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Recognised within operating profit
Settlement of legal action initiated by Real Estate Opportunities 54,276	 –   
Less payment made in 2006 to defend proceedings by Real Estate Opportunities (7,500)	 7,500 
Release of provision for Uplift Plan to eligible investors in Aberdeen Progressive Growth Unit Trust – (7,264)

 46,776	 236 

On 16 March 2007 the Company announced that it had reached agreement with Real Estate Opportunities Limited ('REO') to settle the 

Company’s part in the legal action initiated in 2005 by REO against the Company and another party. The Company made no admission 

whatsoever of any liability or acceptance of the validity of REO’s claim, but the Board recognised that it was in the interests of the Group and 

its shareholders to conclude this matter and to end the distraction it was causing to the Company. The net cost to the Group, including the 

Group’s legal costs and after return of the defence payment of £7,500,000 made last year, was £46,776,000.

9 Net finance costs 
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Interest on 5.875% Convertible bonds 2007 421	 1,469 
Interest on 4.5% Convertible bonds 2010 1,671	 1,196 
Interest on 7.2% Subordinated notes 2016 4,518	 1,124 
Interest on unsecured guaranteed loan notes 40	 51 
Interest on overdrafts, revolving credit facilities other interest bearing accounts 13,520	 9,580 

 20,170	 13,420 
Amortisation of issue costs on Convertible bonds 336	 403 

 20,506	 13,823

Adjustment to bond value on redemption 2,778	 –   
Unwinding of discount on Progressive Growth Uplift Plan provision – 1,100 

 2,778	 1,100 

Total finance costs 23,284	 14,923 

Finance revenue - interest income (14,787)	 (11,608)

Net finance costs 8,497	 3,315 
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10 Tax (credit) expense 
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Current	tax	(credit)	expense
UK corporation tax on profits for the year (451)	 7,512 
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (4,536)	 (2,269)

 (4,987)	 5,243 

Foreign tax - current 13,692	 8,955 
Foreign tax - adjustments in respect of prior periods 242	 (43)

Total current tax 8,947	 14,155 

Deferred	tax	expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (15,384)	 (1,574)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (533)	 (2,606)

Total income tax (credit) expense in income statement (6,970)	 9,975 

 

 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Reconciliation	of	effective	tax	rate
Profit before tax 23,673	 53,847 

Income tax using the domestic corporation tax rate 7,102	 16,154 
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions (rates decreased) (13,015)	 (13,118)
Effect of capital gains deductions and exempt capital losses 193	 (108)
Effect of non-UK group dividends net of double tax relief 17,077	 8,850 
Movement in unprovided deferred tax asset (8,793)	 793 
Non-taxable income/disallowed expenses (754)	 5,349 
Gain on significant investment not subject to tax (2,367)	 (2,037)
Prior year underlying foreign tax on overseas dividends – (990)
Adjustments in respect of prior years (5,880)	 (2,312)
Deferred tax prior year (533)	 (2,606)

 (6,970)	 9,975 

Deferred	tax	recognised	directly	in	equity
Relating to convertible bonds – 1,355 
Relating to IAS 19 pension deficit – (2,051)
Other IAS 32/39 adjustments – 110 

 – (586)

	 Factors	affecting	future	tax	charge

The Group’s overseas profits are subject to overseas tax rates some of which are lower than the standard rate of UK corporation tax  

of 30% (28% from 1 April 2008).  The tax benefit of lower tax rates is only one of timing to the extent that these overseas profits are 

subsequently remitted to the UK.  Additionally, the Group will be able to benefit from the offset of tax losses brought forward from prior  

years against its UK taxable profits for the next 3 years. The Group will benefit from the 2% reduction in the standard rate of UK corporation 

tax which is effective from 1 April 2008.

11 Profit for the financial year

 The profit dealt with in the accounts of the Company was £68,561,000 (2006 – £43,515,000).

Notes to the Accounts continued
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12 Dividends
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Dividends	on	perpetual	preference	shares:
Dividend paid 30 June 5,395	 5,397 

Coupon	payments	in	respect	of	perpetual	capital	securities	(net	of	tax)
Coupon payments made during the year 2,742	 –   

Ordinary	dividends
Declared	and	paid	during	the	year
Dividends paid on ordinary shares:
Final dividend for 2006 – 2.4p  (2005 – 1.584p ) 14,978	 9,899 
Interim dividend for 2007 – 2.6p (2006 – 2.0p) 16,294	 12,814 

 31,272	 22,713 

Total dividends  and coupon payments paid during the year 39,409	 28,110 

Proposed	for	approval	at	the	Annual	General	Meeting	(not	recognised	as	a	liability	at	30	September)
Dividends on ordinary shares:
Final dividend for 2007 – 2.9p (2006 – 2.4p ) 18,366	 15,027 

The total ordinary dividend for the year is 5.5p per share including the proposed final dividend for 2007 of 2.9p per share. This payment will 

trigger an adjustment to the subscription price applying to the warrants which form part of the 6.75% Convertible Preference Share Units 

issued in June 2005. Assuming approval of the final dividend payment at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting, the subscription price will 

reduce from 98p per ordinary share to 97p per ordinary share.
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13 Earnings per share

The calculations of earnings per share are based on the following profits and numbers of shares.

Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing the net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted 

average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of ordinary shares that would be issued on 

the conversion of all the potentially dilutive shares into ordinary shares.

Underlying earnings per share figures are calculated by adjusting the net profit to exclude exceptional items and amortisation of  

intangible assets.

The purpose of providing the underlying earnings per share is to allow readers of the financial statements to clearly consider trends without 

the impact of exceptional and non-cash items.

The underlying earnings per share figures for 2006 have been restated to reflect the inclusion of software amortisation within the amount 

shown for amortisation of intangible assets.
	 	 	 IAS	33	 	 Underlying

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Basic earnings per share
Profit attributable to shareholders 30,643	 43,872 30,643	 43,872 
Dividends on redeemable preference shares (5,395)	 (5,397) (5,395)	 (5,397)
Coupon payments in respect of perpetual capital securities (net of tax) (3,686)	 – (3,686)	 –   

Profit for the financial year - IAS 33 basis 21,562	 38,475 21,562	 38,475 

Amortisation of intangible assets, net of attributable taxation   9,054	 8,959 
Exceptional gains on disposal of investments, net of attributable taxation   (6,067)	 (14,867)
Exceptional integration costs, net of attributable taxation   14,211	 23,298 
Exceptional finance costs, net of attributable taxation   1,945	 1,100 
Exceptional settlement costs, net of attributable taxation   32,743	 165 

Profit for the financial year - underlying basis   73,448	 57,130 

Weighted average number of shares (000’s) 597,388	 600,085 597,388	 600,085 

Basic earnings per share 3.61p	 6.41p 12.29p	 9.52p 

Diluted earnings per share
Profit for calculation of basic earnings per share, as above 21,562	 38,475 73,448	 57,130 
Add: interest on 2010 convertible bonds, net of attributable taxation N/A 837 1,170	 837 
Add: dividend on convertible preference share units N/A N/A 5,395	 5,397 

Profit for calculation of diluted earnings per share 21,562	 39,312 80,013	 63,364 

Weighted	average	number	of	shares	(000’s)
For basic earnings per share 597,388	 600,085 597,388	 600,085 
Dilutive effect of 2010 convertible bonds N/A 24,737 24,737	 24,737 
Dilutive effect of convertible preference share units N/A N/A 81,554	 80,733 
Dilutive effect of LTIP awards 14,629	 – 14,629	 –   
Dilutive effect of exercisable share options 3,291	 2,282 3,291	 2,282 

 	 615,308	 627,104 721,599	 707,837 

Diluted earnings per share 3.50p	 6.27p 11.09p	 8.95p

The effects of the convertible preference share units was anti-dilutive on an IAS 33 basis in both years and the 2010 convertible bonds were 

anti-dilutive in 2007.
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14 Intangible Assets
  Management 
	 Goodwill	 contracts	 Software	 Total 
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 October 2005 358,003 108,654 8,750 475,407 
Additions 397 600 949 1,946 
Arising on acquisition 42,905 55,980 – 98,885 
Exchange movement (1,043) (4,698) – (5,741)

At 30 September 2006 400,262 160,536 9,699 570,497 
Additions – 21,004 341 21,345 
Arising on acquisition 34,096 24,239 – 58,335 
Exchange movement (389) (3,765) – (4,154)

At	30	September	2007	 433,969	 202,014	 10,040	 646,023	

 Amortisation and impairment
At 1 October 2005 – – 7,085 7,085 
Amortisation for year – 8,958 889 9,847 

At 30 September 2006 – 8,958 7,974 16,932 
Amortisation for year – 8,742 662 9,404 

At	30	September	2007	 –	 17,700	 8,636	 26,336	

Net	book	value
At	30	September	2007	 433,969	 184,314	 1,404	 619,687	

At 30 September 2006 400,262 151,578 1,725 553,565 

  Management 
	 Goodwill	 contracts	 Software	 Total 
Company	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000

Cost
At 1 October 2005 5,999 502 7,875 14,376 
Additions – 600 927 1,527 

At 30 September 2006 5,999 1,102 8,802 15,903 
Additions – 21,004 307 21,311 

At	30	September	2007	 5,999	 22,106	 9,109	 37,214	

Amortisation and impairment
At 1 October 2005 3,165 – 6,295 9,460 
Amortisation for year – – 855 855 
Impairment charge 500 – – 500 

At 30 September 2006 3,665 – 7,150 10,815 
Amortisation for year – 120 627 747 

At	30	September	2007	 3,665	 120	 7,777	 11,562	

Net	book	value
At	30	September	2007	 2,334	 21,986	 1,332	 25,652	

At 30 September 2006 2,334 1,102 1,652 5,088 
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14	 Intangible	Assets continued

The Group has determined that it has two business segments or cash generating units (‘CGUs’) for the purpose of assessing the carrying value 

of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives: (i) the investment management division and (ii) the property asset management 

division. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to the most appropriate CGU. The carrying value of goodwill  and intangible 

assets attributable to each segment is as follows:

	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Investment management 606,040	 539,918 25,652	 5,088
Property asset management 13,647	 13,647 – –   

 619,687	 553,565 25,652	 5,088 

The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined by value-in-use calculations which use cash flow projections based on the Group and 

Company’s latest approved budgets which cover the 2007/08 financial year. The long term cash flow projections extrapolate the 2007/08 

budget figures over ten years with assumptions made on revenue, market growth and increases in overheads to cover inflation and increased 

levels of business. Revenue  is assumed to increase at a rate based on the Group’s recent experience of new business inflows. Equity assets 

under management ('AuM') are assumed to increase by 6% (2006: 6%) per annum and fixed income AuM by 3% (2006: 3%) per annum to 

reflect general market performance and /or reinvestment of income by clients. Increases in operating costs have been factored in at existing 

rates to cover assumed new business volumes and an allowance of 3% (2006: 3%) per annum has been made for general inflation of costs. To 

arrive at a net present value the cash flows are discounted using the Group’s weighted average cost of capital which has been calculated at 

10.5% (2006: 10.5%) for investment management and 12.3% (2006: 12.3%) for property asset management at 30 September 2007.

The value-in-use is estimated by calculating a terminal value and adding this to the net present value of the cash flows. This overall value is 

then compared to the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets in order to assess whether any impairment exists. The Board considers 

the terminal value fairly reflects the long term nature of the business and there is no reason to believe that the business will not continue in  

the long term.

The impairment review included a sensitivity analysis on the key assumptions underpinning the cash flow projections and the rate at which 

the projections were discounted to arrive at the final value-in-use. The review also covers management contracts in respect of open end funds 

which are considered to have indefinite lives and are therefore not subject to amortisation. These assets are tested annually for impairment or 

more frequently if there is an indication that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

The impairment review of goodwill and intangible assets revealed a surplus of value-in-use over book value for both CGUs and therefore no 

impairment charge is required.

Management contracts within investment management at 30 September 2007 includes £117.4 million of assets which are considered to have 

an indefinite life. These assets comprise contracts for the management of unit trusts and open ended investment companies ('OEIC’s’) and are 

contracts with no limit of time or termination provisions.

Notes to the Accounts continued



 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 67

15 Property, plant and equipment
  Short Computers 
	 Heritable	 leasehold	 fixtures	and	 Motor 
	 property	 property	 fittings	 vehicles	 Total 
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cost
At 1 October 2005 2,446 6,044 19,028 179 27,697 
Additions – 1,087 2,482 50 3,619 
Disposals – (62) (2,107) (69) (2,238)
Exchange movement – (46) (57) – (103)

At 30 September 2006 2,446 7,023 19,346 160 28,975 
Additions – 3,315 3,052 – 6,367 
Arising on acquisition of subsidiaries – 705 46 – 751 
Disposals – (23) (710) (33) (766)
Exchange movement – (79) 60 (3) (22)

At	30	September	2007	 2,446	 10,941	 21,794	 124	 35,305	

Depreciation
At 1 October 2005 344 3,542 15,561 78 19,525 
Charge for year 49 563 1,628 54 2,294 
On disposals – (33) (1,929) (56) (2,018)
Exchange movement – (34) (142) (1) (177)

At 30 September 2006 393 4,038 15,118 75 19,624 
Charge for year 49 691 1,749 36 2,525 
On disposals – (22) (515) (24) (561)
Exchange movement – 19 (133) (2) (116)

At	30	September	2007	 442	 4,726	 16,219	 85	 21,472	

Net	book	value
At	30	September	2007	 2,004	 6,215	 5,575	 39	 13,833	

At 30 September 2006 2,053 2,985 4,228 85 9,351 

  Short Computers 
	 Heritable	 leasehold	 fixtures	and	 Motor 
	 property	 property	 fittings	 vehicles	 Total 
Company	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000

Cost
At 1 October 2005 2,446 4,446 13,058 37 19,987 
Additions – 170 1,190 – 1,360 

At 30 September 2006 2,446 4,616 14,248 37 21,347 
Additions – 1,467 1,580 – 3,047 

At	30	September	2007	 2,446	 6,083	 15,828	 37	 24,394	

Depreciation
At 1 October 2005 344 2,308 11,610 22 14,284 
Charge for year 48 278 628 5 959 

At 30 September 2006 392 2,586 12,238 27 15,243 
Charge for year 49 283 773 5 1,110 

At	30	September	2007	 441	 2,869	 13,011	 32	 16,353	

Net	book	value
At	30	September	2007	 2,005	 3,214	 2,817	 5	 8,041	

At 30 September 2006 2,054 2,030 2,010 10 6,104 

At 30 September 2007 and 2006, none of the above assets were held under finance leases.
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16 Non-current asset investments
 Associated Other 
	 companies	 investments 
 (unlisted) (unlisted) Total 
Group £’000 £’000 £’000

 Shares
At 1 October 2005 30 27,897 27,927 
Additions – 5,619 5,619 
Fair value adjustment – 365 365 
Disposals (30) (20,043) (20,073)
Exchange movement – (20) (20)

At 30 September 2006 – 13,818 13,818 
Additions – 24,998 24,998
Arising on acquisition – 15 15 
Fair value adjustment – 4,576 4,576 
Disposals – (8,540) (8,540)
Exchange movement – 31 31 

At	30	September	2007	 –	 34,898	 34,898	

	 Share	of	results
At 1 October 2005 20 – 20 
Disposals (20) – (20)

At	30	September	2006	and	2007	 –	 –	 –			

	 Net	book	value
	 At	30	September	2007

Available	for	sale –	 34,898	 34,898 

At 30 September 2006
Available for sale – 13,818 13,818 

Additions to other unlisted investments in 2007 comprise principally of £15.7 million of seed capital investments made by the Group’s 
property division plus  a number of investments made by the Group’s private equity division.   Additions to other unlisted investments during 
2006 include a  £2.6 million investment by the Group’s property division, a £1.3 million investment by the parent company plus six other 
investments totalling £1.7 million.
	 Subsidiary	 Other 
	 undertakings	 investments 
 (unlisted) (unlisted) Total 
Company	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000

 Shares
At 1 October 2005 656,988 24,351 681,339 
Additions:  increase in existing subsidiary undertakings 60,111 – 60,111 
 investment in subsidiaries 48 – 48 
 other investments – 7,343 7,343 
Fair value adjustment – 1,468 1,468 
Disposals – (18,804) (18,804)
Exchange movement – (174) (174)

At 30 September 2006 717,147 14,184 731,331 
Transfer to current asset investments – (2,387) (2,387)

At 30 September 2006 (as restated) 717,147 11,797 728,944 
Additions:   increase in existing subsidiary undertakings 111,210 – 111,210 
 investment in subsidiaries 9,462 6,242 15,704 
Fair value adjustment – 3,678 3,678 
Disposals – (4,091) (4,091)

At	30	September	2007	 837,819	 17,626	 855,445	

	 Net	book	value
	 At	30	September	2007

At cost less provisions for impairment 837,819	 –	 837,819 
Available for sale –	 17,626	 17,626 

At 30 September 2006
At cost less provisions for impairment 717,147 – 717,147 
Available for sale – 11,797 11,797 
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 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 69

16	 Non-current	asset	investments	continued

The opening balance at 30 September 2006 for other investments held by the company has been restated by £2,387,000 to reflect the 

transfer of an investment which should have been classified as a current asset investment. The corresponding adjustment has been reflected in 

the opening position of current asset investments at 30 September 2006.

	 Acquisitions

On 1 June 2007 the Group completed the acquisition of certain Australian fund management businesses from Deutsche Australia Limited for a 

cash consideration of Aus$112 million (£47.4 million). The assets acquired consisted of Aus$ 7.9 billion (£3.3 billion) of segregated client 

mandates and Aus$ 3.0 billion (£1.3 billion) of unit trust assets.

An independent firm of valuation specialists was engaged to advise on the allocation of the purchase price between goodwill and intangible 

assets acquired. The value of goodwill in the acquisition takes account of the value of the assembled workforce in place and the value of the 

new business flows.

On 24 August 2007 the Company completed the acquisition of Sutherland Holdings Limited and Glasgow Investment Managers Limited for a 

cash consideration of £6.25 million plus the value of net assets of £2.8 million. The assets acquired consist of three investment trusts and a 

number of institutional client mandates.

On 1 October 2007, the Group completed the acquisition of the US equity asset management business of Nationwide Financial Services, Inc. 

The acquisition includes a broad cross-section of US equity strategies in sub advisory mandates for 30 mutual funds and variable insurance 

trusts amounting to £3.4 billion in assets under management. The acquisition was completed for cash consideration of US$32 million  

(£15.7 million) of which US$6 million (£2.9 million) was paid on completion and US$26 million (£12.8 million) is payable in April 2008.

The net assets and liabilities of the acquired businesses and the adjustments to fair value are set out in the table below. The fair value 

adjustments reflect a re-allocation of value between goodwill and intangible assets plus the recognition of deferred tax of £6.8 million in 

respect of the intangible assets.

	 	 	 Businesses	acquired	from	 	 	 Sutherland	Holdings/ 
	 	 	 Deutsche	Bank	Australia	 	 	Glasgow	Investment	Managers

 At date of Fair value	 Adjusted	 At date of Fair value	 Adjusted 
 acquisition adjustments	 fair	value	 acquisition adjustments	 fair	value 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Intangible assets  –   19,447    	19,447		  – 4,792  4,792	
Property, plant & equipment 731  –    	731		 20  –     20 
Trade and other receivables  702   –     702   1,045  –    	1,045	
Investments  885   –    	885		  15   –    	15	
Cash and cash equivalents  1,843   –    	1,843		  2,538   –    	2,538	
Trade and other payables (1,557)  –    (1,557)	 (1,017)  –    (1,017)	
Deferred tax 238 (5,445) (5,207)		 172 (1,342) (1,170)

Net assets of acquired business  2,842   14,002    16,844		  2,773   3,450    6,223	
Goodwill    	30,665		    	3,431

    47,509		       	9,654	

Discharged by:
Cash consideration     	46,572		      	6,250
Expenses of acquisition   937	   631
Deferred consideration       –         	2,773	

   47,509		    	9,654		

The businesses acquired during the year from Deutsche Bank Australia and Sutherland Holdings/Glasgow Investment Managers are being 

integrated with the Group’s existing business therefore the results and cashflows can no longer be separately identified.
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16	 Non-current	asset	investments	continued

 2006

On 7 July 2005 the Company announced the acquisition of certain fund management businesses of Deutsche Bank AG for a cash 

consideration and this transaction was completed in two stages, on 30 September 2005 and 1 December 2005.  The acquisition was effected 

by the transfer of certain legal entities to Aberdeen and the novation of certain client mandates.

On 30 September 2005 Aberdeen paid £133.4 million in respect of the London fixed interest business, and the OEIC business and the equities 

and multi-asset business.  On 1 December 2005, the Philadelphia fixed income business was acquired for a cash consideration of £73 million 

and the further elements of the UK businesses were acquired for a consideration of £50.4 million.  The deferred consideration in respect of the 

equities & multi-asset business was finalised during the year which resulted in a payment of £24.6 million being made.  This was £10.4 million 

less than the provisional estimate and was based on the value of run-rate management fees on assets retained within this business.

Provisional fair values were assigned to the assets acquired at 30 September 2005.  They were finalised during 2006 resulting in the 

adjustments shown in the table below.  These adjustments reflect a re-allocation of value between goodwill and intangible assets plus the 

recognition of deferred tax of £23.8 million in respect of the intangible assets.  

An independent firm of valuation specialists was engaged to carry out a valuation exercise of the goodwill and intangible assets acquired.   

The value of goodwill in the acquisition takes account of the value of the assembled workforce in place and the value of new business flows.

In accordance with the requirements of IFRS 3 the goodwill was adjusted from the date of acquisition and the 2005 comparatives were 

restated.  This table shows the provisional fair values of the assets acquired at 30 September 2005 and the subsequent fair value adjustments 

together with the fair value of the assets acquired on 1 December 2005. 

 Provisional fair   
 value to the  Adjusted Additions  Finalisation Total 
 Group at Finalisation fair value during  of deferred assets 
 30 Sept 2005 of fair value to Group 2006  consideration acquired  
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash and cash equivalents 67,394 – 67,394 3,557  – 70,951
Stock 2,045 – 2,045 57  – 2,102
Trade and other receivables 102,767 – 102,767 10,922  – 113,689
Current asset investments 175 – 175 7,573  – 7,748
Financial investments 2,554,983 – 2,554,983 8,123  – 2,563,106
Deferred taxation (240) – (240) –  – (240)
Trade and other payables (113,369) – (113,369) (11,527) – (124,896)
Investment contract liabilities (2,554,983) – (2,554,983) (8,123) – (2,563,106)

Net assets of acquired business 58,772 – 58,772 10,582  – 69,354
Goodwill 118,359 (55,859) 62,500 53,305  (10,400) 105,405
Intangible assets – 79,663 79,663 55,980 – 135,643
Deferred taxation on intangible assets – (23,804) (23,804) – – (23,804)

 177,131 – 177,131 119,867  (10,400) 286,598

Discharged by:
Cash consideration 133,412 – 133,412 123,386  24,600 281,398
Estimated deferred consideration 35,000 – 35,000 –  (35,000) –   
Further payment due in respect of  
      net assets acquired 5,456 – 5,456 (5,456) – –   
Expenses of acquisition 7,866 – 7,866 –  – 7,866
Less: advance payment for assets 
      to be acquired (4,603) – (4,603) 4,603  – –   
Debtor to be recovered – – – (2,666) – (2,666)

 177,131 – 177,131 119,867  (10,400) 286,598 
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16	 Non-current	asset	investments	continued

The principal companies in which the Group interest was more than 10% at 30 September 2007 were as follows:

	 	 %	 Country	of	 Country	of 
Subsidiary	undertakings	 Principal	activity	 owned	 registration	 operation	

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited Fund management 100 Singapore Singapore 
Aberdeen Asset Management Company Limited Fund management 100 Thailand Thailand
Aberdeen Asset Management Funds Limited Unit trust management 100 England UK 
Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions Limited Unit linked pensions 100 England UK 
Aberdeen Asset Management Limited Fund management 100 Australia Australia
Aberdeen Asset Management Sdn Bhd 1 Fund management 100 Malaysia Malaysia
Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited Fund management 100 Scotland UK 
Aberdeen Asset Management Inc Fund management 100 USA USA 
Aberdeen Fund Management Limited Fund management 100 England UK 
Aberdeen Global Services SA Fund management 100 Luxembourg Luxembourg
Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited Fund distribution 100 Hong Kong Hong Kong
Aberdeen Fund Management Ireland Limited Fund management 100 Ireland Ireland 
Aberdeen Murray Johnstone Limited 2 Fund management 100 Scotland UK 
Aberdeen Private Wealth Management Limited Fund management 100 Jersey Jersey
Aberdeen Property Investors Holding AB 3 Property asset management 100 Sweden Sweden
Aberdeen Unit Trust Managers Limited Unit trust management 100 England UK 
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group Limited Fund management 100 Scotland UK 
Edinburgh Unit Trust Managers Limited Unit trust management 100 Scotland UK 
Glasgow Investment Managers Limited Fund management 100 Scotland UK 

1  Held by Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited 
2  Includes the Murray Johnstone Group of companies 
3  Includes the Aberdeen Property Group of companies

All of the above investments consist of holdings of ordinary share capital. The Company also owns 100% of the deferred shares issued by 

Aberdeen Unit Trust Managers Limited and holds investments in other subsidiary undertakings, the results of which are not significant in 

the Group context.

17 Deferred tax assets and liabilities

	 Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities
 
  Balance at Recognised  Arising in Balance at Balance at Recognised  Balance at 
  1 Oct in profit Recognised business 30	Sept 1 Oct in profit Recognised 30 Sept 
Group  2006 or loss in equity combination 2007 2005 or loss in equity 2006

Intangible assets  (22,916) 863 – (6,787) (28,840)	 (23,804) 888 – (22,916)
Available-for-sale  
financial assets  (110) – (637) – (747)	 – – (110) (110)
Loans and borrowings  (1,354) 966 – – (388)	 – – (1,354) (1,354)
Employee benefit plans  9,599 – (4,498) – 5,101	 8,932 667 – 9,599 
Share-based payments  1,389 (748) – – 641	 – 1,389 – 1,389 
Other items  34 (577) – 410 (133)	 (4,078) 4,972 (860) 34 
Tax loss carry-forward  – 15,413 – – 15,413	 – – – –   

  (13,358) 15,917 (5,135) (6,377) (8,953) (18,950) 7,916 (2,324) (13,358)

The Group has tax losses which arose in the UK of £51.9m (2006: £52.6m). Deferred tax assets of £15.4m (2006: £nil) have been recognised in 

respect of these losses as they will be used to offset taxable profits in future years.
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17	 Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	continued

	 Recognised	deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

   Assets  Liabilities  Net
    

 2007 2006  2007 2006 2007 2006 
Group £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Intangible assets – – (28,840)	 (22,916) (28,840)	 (22,916)
Employee benefits 5,742	 10,988 – – 5,742	 10,988 
Tax loss carry-forward 15,413	 – – – 15,413	 – 
Financial instruments – – (1,135)	 (1,464) (1,135)	 (1,464)
Other items – 34 (133)	 – (133)	 34

Net tax assets (liabilities) 21,155	 11,022 (30,108)	 (24,380) (8,953)	 (13,358)

   Assets  Liabilities  Net
    

 2007 2006  2007 2006 2007 2006 
Company	 £’000	 £’000  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

Employee benefits 254	 357 – – 254	 357 
Other items 25 26 – – 25 26 
Financial instruments – – (1,191)	 (1,464) (1,191)	 (1,464)

Net tax assets (liabilities) 279 383 (1,191)	 (1,464) (912)	 (1,081)

Unrecognised deferred tax on the Company’s investment in subsidiaries at 30 September 2007 was £251 million.

18 Trade and other receivables
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Current assets
Unit trust trustees for units liquidated 11,166	 15,462 – –   
Debtors for unit sales 13,002	 11,830 – –   

 	 24,168	 27,292 – –   
Other trade debtors 23,094	 16,656 332	 1,342 
Amounts due by subsidiary undertakings – – 130,500	 77,381 
Other debtors 49,550	 20,228 7,688	 2,671 
Prepayments and accrued income 81,361	 66,959 3,944	 6,649 
Deferred consideration – 1,500 – 1,500 

 178,173	 132,635 142,464	 89,543 

	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current assets 
Other debtors 4,485 1,038 – –   

19 Stock of units and shares
  Group

 2007  2006 
 £’000  £’000

Units and shares in managed funds 537	 264 

Stocks of units and shares are held in relation to fund management activities and are classified as held for trading current assets.
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20 Other financial investments and investment contract liabilities

The following assets are held by the Group’s life and pensions subsidiary to meet  its contracted liabilities:
  Group

 2007  2006 
 £’000  £’000

Listed investments 972,740	 1,044,565 
Unit trusts 267,372	 307,736 
Cash and deposits 57,634	 65,538 
Other assets (liabilities) 656 (5,260)

 1,298,402	 1,412,579 

21 Other investments
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Listed equities - held for trading 8,978	 10,780 7,771	 6,836 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary 14,530	 22,761 – –   

 23,508	 33,541 7,771	 6,836 

The opening balance at 30 September 2006 for other investments held by the Company has been restated by £2,387,000 to reflect the 

transfer of an investment which should have been classified as a current asset investment. The corresponding adjustment has been reflected in 

the opening position of current asset investments at 30 September 2006.

22 Cash and cash equivalents
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash at bank and in hand 80,680	 50,497 5,525	 15,447 
Bank overdrafts – (2,377) (36,787)	 (39,909)

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of cash flows 80,680	 48,120 (31,262)	 (24,462)

The cash  and cash equivalents are all subject to floating rates of interest. Cash at bank earns interest based on daily bank deposit rates.  

The book value of cash and cash equivalents approximates their fair value.  The Group’s exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying 

value of the assets.

At 30 September 2007, the Group had £52.1 million of undrawn committed borrowing facilities under its revolving credit arrangements  

(note 28).

The carrying amounts of the Group’s cash and cash equivalents are denominated in the following currencies:

	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling 12,892	 20,487  (33,312)	 (24,716)
US dollar 33,812	 14,428  1,668	 235
Euro 1,712	 347  381	 7
Nordic currencies 15,771	 6,808  – 12
Other currencies 16,493	 6,050  1	 –

 80,680	 48,120  (31,262)	 (24,462)
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23 Assets classified as held for sale
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Deferred consideration on sale of investment – 7,000 – –   

The Group disposed of its investment in the ordinary shares of Lombard International Assurance SA ('Lombard'), a Luxembourg registered life 

company on 11 January 2005. The deferred consideration recognised in 2006 of £7,000,000 represented the estimated fair value of the 

deferred proceeds which the Group subsequently received in April 2007.

24 Share capital
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

Authorised:
1,000,000,000 (2006: 1,000,000,000) Ordinary shares of 10p 100,000	 100,000 
39,000,000 (2006: 39,000,000) 5.25% Redeemable preference shares of £1 39,000	 39,000 
125,000 (2006: 125,000) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100 12,500	 12,500 

 151,500	 151,500 

Allotted,	called	up	and	fully	paid:
628,948,167 (2006: 626,123,667) Ordinary shares of 10p 62,895	 62,612 
79,926 (2006: 79,926) 6.75% Non-cumulative, non-voting perpetual preference shares of £100 7,993	 7,993 

 70,888	 70,605 

During the year a total of 2,824,500 ordinary shares of 10p each were issued at an average price of 55.6p pursuant to the exercise of options 

granted to employees under the 1994 Executive Share Option Scheme.

80,000 convertible preference share units of £1,000 each were issued on 30 June 2005. Each convertible preference share unit of £1,000 

comprised one preference share and one warrant to subscribe to ordinary shares, of which £800 relates to the preference share and £200 to 

the warrant.

Each preference share is entitled to a non-cumulative dividend accruing at a rate of £67.50 per share per annum payable annually in arrears on 

30 June in each year (payments subject to the Directors’ discretion).

The preference shares are perpetual securities and have no maturity date but are redeemable in whole, but not in part only, at the option of the 

Company on 30 June 2012 or any dividend payment date thereafter at a price equal to the aggregate of £1,000 and any dividends accrued for 

the then current dividend period.
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25 Share-based payments

The Group has in place the following share-based payment arrangements:

	 1994	Executive	Share	Option	Scheme

This scheme was established in 1994 and is approved by the  Inland Revenue and was approved by the shareholders prior to its introduction. In 

accordance with its rules, no further options can only be issued after March 2004.

The following share options granted under the Scheme were in place at 30 September 2007:

	 Option	price	 	 	Number	of	shares	 
Date	option	granted	 per	share	 Period	of	exercise	 Total	 	 Directors

9 July 1998 86p 9 July 2003 – 9 July 2008 105,000 –   
20 January 1999 71p 20 January 2004 – 20 January 2009 500,000 –   
8 December 1999 166p 8 December 2004 – 8 December 2009 103,000 –   
8 December 1999 185p 8 December 2004 – 8 December 2009 1,684,000 540,000 
11 June 2003 42p 11 June 2006 – 11 June 2013 1,420,100 89,000 
23 January 2004 57p 23 January 2007 – 23 January 2014 132,400 –   
23 January 2004 59p 23 January 2007 – 23 January 2014 2,342,600 646,000 

Options may only be exercised if the Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the Group’s earnings per share have increased over a  

period of three years by 5% per annum in excess of the average growth in the stock markets in which the Group’s assets under management 

are invested.

Full details of options held by Directors who served during the financial year are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 28 to 35.

The number and weighted average exercise prices of share option is as follows:

 Weighted  Weighted 
	 average	 	 average 
	 exercise	 Number	of	 exercise Number of  
 price options price options 
 2007 2007 2006 2006

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 	 	9,111,600	  10,701,500 
Exercised during the year 55.6p	 (2,824,500)	 62.6p (1,429,900)
Lapsed during the year  –  (160,000)

Outstanding at the end of the year 	 6,287,100	  9,111,600 

Exercisable at the end of the year 	 6,287,100	  5,181,600 

The options outstanding at 30 September 2007 have an exercise price in the range of 42p to 185p and a weighted average contractual life of  

4.5 years (2006 - 5.8 years).

The fair value of services received in return for share options granted are measured by reference to the fair value of share options granted. The 

estimate of the fair value of the services received is measured based on a trinomial lattice model using a Monte Carlo simulation model for 

assessing the likelihood of performance conditions being satisfied.
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25	 Share-based	payments	continued

 The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain  the fair value of options are as follows: 

Date	option	granted	 11	June	2003	 23	January	2004	 23	January	2004

Number of options granted 3,543,000 436,700 4,097,800 
Share price at grant date 42p 57p 59p 
Exercise price 42p 57p 59p 
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 96.9% 78.9% 78.9%
Risk free date at grant date ( based on 3 month sterling LIBOR) 3.65% 4.07% 4.07%
Expected dividend yield 6.10% 4.50% 4.40%
Average expected term to exercise 7.5 years 7.6 years 7.6 years 
Fair value of options £364,000 £114,000 £1,136,000

	 2005	Long	Term	Incentive	Plan

The fair value of services received in return for LTIP shares awarded are measured by reference to the fair value of LTIP shares awarded. The 

estimate of the fair value of the services received has been measured based  on a trinomial lattice model using assumptions for employee exit/

forfeiture rates, zero dividend yields ( because dividends accrue to the employee as from the date of the award) share price and composite 

volatility and performance conditions.

The key assumptions which have been used in the trinomial lattice model to ascertain  the fair value of options are as follows:

	 12	May	2005	 16	December	2005	 1	December	2006

Number of shares awarded 5,680,000 19,600,000 1,108,305 
Share price at award date 116p 135p 171p 
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years
Expected volatility at award date 37.4% 56.5% 35.7%
Risk free rate at award date ( based on 3 month sterling LIBOR) 4.89% 4.62% 5.25%
Expected dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Average expected term to vesting 3 years 3 years 3 years

	 	 	 Group	 	 Company

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Employee expenses
Share options granted in 2003 89	 138  22 35
Share options issued in 2004 103	 156  26 39
Expense arising from the award of shares under the LTIP 7,306	 5,869  788	 764

Total expense recognised as employee costs 7,498	 6,163  836	 838
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26 Reserves
     Foreign 
	 	 Share	 Capital	 	 currency	 	 Warrant/	 Total 
	 Share	 premium	 redemption	 Merger	 translation	 Fair	value	 other	 other	 Retained	 
	 capital	 account	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserves	 earnings 
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 October 2005 68,502 261,040 31,115 172,690 189 5,995 19,052 229,041 (119,239)
On disposal – – – – – (5,995) – (5,995) –   
Total recognised income  

and expense – – – – (5,882) 7,365 – 1,483 39,361 
Arising on the issue of shares 2,103 25,237 – – – – (15) (15) –   
Issue of LTIP shares – – – – – – – – (26,452)
Share based payment charge – – – – – – – – 6,163 
Purchase of own shares – – – – – – – – (3,024)
Dividends paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (28,110)

At 30 September 2006 70,605 286,277 31,115 172,690 (5,693) 7,365 19,037 224,514 (131,301)
Total recognised income and  

expense – – – – 1,823 (4,054) – (2,231) 35,398 
Arising on the issue of shares 283 1,288 – – – – – – –   
Share based payment charge – – – – – – – – 7,498 
Coupon outstanding on  

perpetual capital securities – – – – – – – – (1,349)
Purchase of own shares – – – – – – – – (29,473)
Dividends paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (39,409)

At	30	September	2007	 70,888	 287,565	 31,115	 172,690	 (3,870)	 3,311	 19,037	 222,283	 (158,636)

     Foreign 
	 	 Share	 Capital	 	 currency	 	 Warrant/	 Total 
	 Share	 premium	 redemption	 Merger	 translation	 Fair	value	 other	 other	 Retained	 
	 capital	 account	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserve	 reserves	 earnings 
Company	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000

At 1 October 2005 68,502 261,040 31,115 172,690 – 5,995 19,052 228,852 25,099 
On disposal – – – – – (5,995) – (5,995) –   
Total recognised income and  

expense – – – – 1,008 365 – 1,373 43,053 
Arising on the issue of shares 2,103 25,237 – – – – (15) (15) –   
Issue of LTIP shares – – – – – – – – (26,452)
Share based payment charge – – – – – – – – 6,163 
Purchase of own shares – – – – – – – – (3,024)
Dividends paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (28,110)

At 30 September 2006 70,605 286,277 31,115 172,690 1,008 365 19,037 224,215 16,729 
Total recognised income and  

expense – – – – – 1,411 – 1,411 68,006 
Arising on the issue of shares 283 1,288 – – – – – – –   
Share based payment charge – – – – – – – – 7,498 
Coupon outstanding on  

perpetual capital securities – – – – – – – – (1,349)
Purchase of own shares – – – – – – – – (29,473)
Dividends paid to shareholders – – – – – – – – (39,409)

At	30	September	2007	 70,888	 287,565	 31,115	 172,690	 1,008	 1,776	 19,037	 225,626	 22,002	

The total movements in retained earnings related to the issue of the LTIP shares represent the value of the shares issued to participants in any 

period less the annual amortisation of these shares which is charged through the income statement.
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26	 Reserves	continued

	 Nature	and	purpose	of	reserves

 Share premium account

The share premium account is used to record the issue of share capital above par value. This reserve is not distributable and can only be reduced 

with court approval.

	 Capital	redemption	reserve

The capital redemption reserve is created on the cancellation of share capital and the balance reflects the value of preference share capital 

redeemed by the company. This reserve is not distributable.

 Merger	reserve

The merger reserve is used to record premium on shares issued by way of consideration in respect of acquisitions. The realised element of  

the Group merger reserve becomes realised as and when goodwill and intangibles are either amortised or realised. The Company merger 

reserve can be used to offset impairment of carrying value of investment in subsidiaries or released when the subsidiary is sold.  This reserve  

is not distributable.

	 Warrant/other	reserve

The warrant reserve was created on the issue of the £80,000,000 convertible preference share units in June 2005. Each convertible preference 

share unit issued comprised  one preference share and one warrant to subscribe for ordinary shares, of which £800 related to the preference 

share and £200 to the warrant. The balance in the reserve reflects the value of unexercised warrants.

The equity element of the bonds, net of deferred tax, is shown within warrant and other reserves.

	 Foreign	currency	translation	reserve

The foreign  currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of 

foreign subsidiaries.

	 Fair	value	reserve

This reserve records fair value changes on available for sale investments until the investments are derecognised. The movement includes  

£7.0 million which was recycled to the income statement

	 Retained	earnings

Retained earnings comprises:

•	 all	realised	gains	and	losses	through	the	Income	Statement	less	dividend	distributions;

•	 actuarial	gains	and	losses	recognised	in	the	pension	liability;

•	 deferred	tax	on	actuarial	gains	and	losses;

•	 transactions	relating	to	equity-settled	share-based	payments,	and	all	deferred	tax	movements	on	share-based	payments	reflected	

through equity; and

•	 the	purchase	and	sale	of	own	shares.

The Company reserve is distributable.
   2007   2006

	 	 %	of	 	 Market	  % of  Market 
	 Number	 issued	 Cost	 value	 Number issued Cost value 
Group	and	Company	 of	shares	 shares	 £’000	 £’000	 of shares shares £’000 £’000

Own shares 17,510,653	 2.8	 32,497	 32,044	 2,000,000 0.3 3,024 3,275  

These shares are held by the Group's Employee Benefits Trust for the purpose of satisfying deferred share bonuses that will rest in  

future periods.
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27 Perpetual subordinated capital securities
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

US $ 400 million 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital securities 196,465	 – 
Coupon outstanding at 30 September  1,349	 – 

 197,814	 – 

The 7.9% Perpetual subordinated capital securities were issued on 29 May 2007 and are treated as an equity instrument. They have no fixed 

redemption date but the Company may, subject to certain restrictions, redeem all (but not part) of these securities at their principal amount 

on 29 May 2012 or any subsequent coupon payment date. In addition, under certain circumstances defined in the terms and conditions of the 

issue, the Company may at its sole discretion:

•	 Redeem	all	(but	not	in	part)	of	the	securities	at	their	principal	amount	at	any	time	prior	to	29	May	2012;

•	 On	any	coupon	payment	date,	exchange	all	(but	not	part)	of	the	securities	for	fully	paid	non-cumulative	preference	shares	in	the	

Company. The preference shares would entitle holders to receive a preferential dividend, if declared by the Board, at a fixed rate of 7.9% 

per annum of their nominal value. Such preference shares may be redeemed, at the Company’s sole option, on any coupon payment date 

later than five years after their issue.

The Company has the option to defer coupon payments on the securities on any relevant payment date. Deferred coupons shall be satisfied in 

the following circumstances, both of which occur at the sole option of the Company:

•	 Redemption;	or

•	 Substitution	by	preference	shares.

No interest will accrue on any deferred coupon. Deferred coupons will be satisfied by the issue and sale of ordinary shares in the Company at 

their prevailing market value, to a sum as near as practicable to (and at least equal to) the relevant deferred coupons. In the event of any 

coupon deferral the Company would not declare or pay any dividend on its ordinary or preference share capital.

Coupon payments are made quarterly in arrear on 28 February, 29 May, 29 August and 29 November in each year from 29 August 2007.

28 Interest bearing loans and borrowings
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Non-current liabilities
7.2% Subordinated notes 2016 61,353	 66,916 61,353	 66,916 
Unamortised issue costs (710)	 (744) (710)	 (744)
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010 25,185	 24,712 25,185	 24,712 
Unamortised issue costs (494)	 (692) (494)	 (692)

 85,334	 90,192 85,334	 90,192 

Current liabilities
Amount drawn under bank revolving credit facility 47,947	 25,000 47,947	 25,000 
Bank overdraft – 2,377 36,787	 39,909 
5.875% Convertible bonds 2007 – 22,219 – 22,219 
Unamortised issue costs – (60) – (60)
Unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003 - 2008 373	 1,015 – –   

 48,320	 50,551 84,734	 87,068 

US $125 million 7.2%  Subordinated notes 2016 were issued on 7 July 2006. The notes have a term of 10 years although the Company has the 

option, subject to certain restrictions, to prepay all (but not part) of the notes from 8 July 2011 onwards. Interest is payable semi-annually on  

7 July and 7 January each year until 7 July 2011. From 8 July 2011 each note converts to a floating rate note bearing interest at the LIBOR rate 

as in effect for the applicable quarterly interest period plus 2.25%.
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28	 Interest	bearing	loans	and	borrowings	continued

£26.57 million 4.5% Convertible bonds 2010 were issued on 8 March 2005. The bonds are convertible into ordinary shares of the Company  

at any time on or after 20 April 2005 at a conversion price of 107.41p (after adjustment for the rights issue on 23 September 2005). Unless  

the bonds have been previously purchased and cancelled, redeemed or converted, the bonds will be redeemed on 10 March 2010 at their 

principal amount. In early December 2007, notice of conversion was received in respect of bonds with nominal value of £23,560,000, which 

will convert to 21,934,360 ordinary shares.

The liability in respect of the Unsecured guaranteed loan notes 2003 - 2008 was taken on by the Group as a result of the acquisition of 

Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc. The total value of the loan notes outstanding at 30 September 2007 was £373,141. The loan notes are 

redeemable , subject to certain restrictions during the period to 30 June 2008. The maximum amount which may be redeemed during the next 

year is £373,141 and is included in creditors due within one year.

The Company entered into a revolving credit and guarantee facility with Bank of Scotland on 16th April 2007.  The revolving credit facility is for 

a maximum of £100 million expiring 16th April 2010 and carries an interest rate of 1.1% over LIBOR per annum on drawn amounts and a non 

utilisation fee of 0.25% per annum on undrawn amounts. The margin portion of the interest rate is subject to reduction depending on the 

Group’s ratio of borrowings to operating profit.  A guarantee has been issued under the facility in favour of the holders of the Unsecured 

guaranteed loan notes 2003-2008 for £373,141.

The Company’s bank balance is part of a group working capital facility in support of which cross guarantees are provided by certain subsidiary 

undertakings. At 30 September 2007 the net amount guaranteed under this arrangement was £nil ( 2006 - £2,377,000 ). The Company regards 

such guarantees as insurance contracts and accounts for them accordingly. The Group’s borrowings are subject to a number of covenants 

which, in accordance with standard practice, are reviewed and discussed with lenders from time to time. The Board, having regard to its 

business plans is confident that the Group will continue to comply with applicable conditions for the foreseeable future.

 

29 Trade and other payables
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company	

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unit trust trustees for units created 17,258	 12,262 – –   
Creditors for unit repurchases 11,093	 15,212 – –   

 	 28,351	 27,474 – –   
Other trade creditors 6,974	 7,091 4,367	 4,518 
Accruals 80,880	 85,135 17,698	 10,591 
Tax and social security 2,374	 1,368 731	 1,258 
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings – – 44,903	 44,864 
Deferred consideration due on acquisition 8,762	 – – –   
Other creditors 28,782	 22,781 1,417	 8,660 

 156,123	 143,849 69,116	 69,891 
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30 Financial instruments

(i) Designated as held for trading
	 	 	 Group		 	 Company

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Stock of units and shares in managed funds 537	 264 – – 
Other investments 8,978	 10,780 7,771	 6,836 
Liquid investments of life and pensions subsidiary 14,530	 22,761 – – 

 24,045	 33,805 7,771	 6,836 

(ii) Designated as available for sale investments
	 	 	 Group		 	 Company

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Unlisted investments 34,898	 13,818 17,626	 14,184 
Deferred consideration on sale of investment – 7,000 – – 

 34,898	 20,818 17,626	 14,184 

Available for sale financial assets  consist of investments in ordinary shares, warrants and private equity investments and deferred 

consideration on sale of assets.

The fair value of the unlisted available for sale investments has been estimated using a valuation technique based on assumptions that are not 

supported by observable market prices or rates. The Directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation technique 

which are recorded in the balance sheet, and the related fair value gains recorded in the income statement, are reasonable and most 

appropriate at the balance sheet date. The Group's accounting policy in respect of private equity investments is detailed on page 45.

	 Fair	values

Set out below is a comparison by category of the carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group and Company’s financial instruments that 

are carried in the financial statements.
	 Group	 Company	 	
	 Carrying	amount	 Fair	value	 Carrying	amount	 Fair	value

  2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Financial assets         
Other investments  	34,898		  13,818  	34,898		  13,818  	855,445		  731,331  	855,445		  731,331 
Other financial investments  1,298,402		  1,412,579  	1,298,402		  1,412,579   – – – – 
Other current assets investments  23,508		  33,541  	23,508		  33,541  	7,771		  6,836  	7,771		  6,836 
Stock of units and shares  	537		  264  	537		  264   –     –     –     –   
Cash and cash equivalents  80,680		  50,497  	80,680		  50,497  	5,525		  15,447  	5,525		  15,447 
Deferred consideration  –     1,500   –     1,500   –     1,500   –     1,500 
Assets classified as available for sale  –     7,000   –     7,000   –     –     –     –   

          
	 Group	 Company	 	
	 Carrying	amount	 Fair	value	 Carrying	amount	 Fair	value

  2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006 
   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Financial liabilities          
Interest bearing loans and borrowings:  

Fixed rate borrowings  	86,538		  113,847  	90,459		  116,407  	86,538		  113,847  	90,459		  116,407 
Floating rate borrowings  	48,320		  28,392  	48,320		  28,392  	84,734		 64,909  	84,734		  64,909 
No interest liabilities   500   500   500   500   –     –     –     –

Insurance contract liabilities 1,298,402		  1,412,579  	1,298,402		  1,412,579   –     –     –     –  
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30	 Financial	instruments	continued

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in the 

above table.

 Securities

The fair value of listed investments is based on market bid prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs.

The fair value of unlisted investments have been valued in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation 

Guidelines for Limited Partnership agreements where possible.

 Interest bearing loans

The fair value of borrowings has been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing interest rates. The valuations have 

considered similar issues available in the market and the liquidity of the assets and liabilities.

Where discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated cash flows are based on managements best estimates and the discount rate is a 

market related rate for a similar instrument at the balance sheet date. Where other pricing models are used, inputs are based on market related 

data at the balance sheet date.

	 Interest	rate	and	currency	risk	profiles

The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company's financial liabilities at 30 September were as follows:

 2007 2006  

	 	 Fixed	rate	 Variable	rate	 No	interest	 Total	 Fixed rate Variable rate No interest Total 
Group   £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Sterling
Bank revolving credit facility  	–				 	47,947		 	–				 	47,947	  –     25,000   –     25,000 
Bank overdraft   –     –     –     –     –     2,377   –     2,377 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010  	25,185		 	–				 	–				 	25,185   24,712   –     –     24,712 
5.875% Convertible bonds 2007   –     –     –     –     22,219   –     –     22,219 
Unsecured guaranteed loan notes  

2003 – 2008	 	 	–				 	373		 	–				 	373	  –     1,015   –     1,015 
Long term business provision   –     –     500   500   –     –     500   500 

  	25,185		 	48,320		 	500		 	74,005	  46,931   28,392   500   75,823 
US dollar     
7.2% Subordinated notes 2016 	 	61,353		 	–				 	–				 	61,353	  66,916   –     –     66,916 

  	86,538		 	48,320		 	500		 	135,358	  113,847   28,392   500   142,739  

 2007 2006  

	 	 Fixed	rate	 Variable	rate	 No	interest	 Total	 Fixed rate Variable rate No interest Total 
Company	 	 	£’000	 	£’000	 	£’000	 	£’000	  £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000

Sterling
Bank revolving credit facility 	 	–				 	47,947		 	–				 	47,947	  –     25,000   –     25,000 
Bank overdraft 	 	–				 	36,787		 	–				 	36,787	  –     39,909   –     39,909 
4.5% Convertible bonds 2010 	 	25,185		 	–				 	–				 	25,185	  24,712   –     –     24,712 
5.875% Convertible bonds 2007  – – – –  22,219   –     –     22,219  

  		25,185		 	84,734		 –			 	109,919   46,931   64,909  –    111,840  
US dollar     
7.2% Subordinated notes 2016 	 61,353		 –	 –			 	61,353	  66,916  – –   66,916  

  	86,538		 	84,734		 –			 	171,272	  113,847   64,909  –     178,756 

The sterling liabilities comprise the Convertible bonds 2010 which bear interest at a fixed rate of 4.5% p.a. and the Unsecured guaranteed loan 

notes which bear interest at 1% below LIBOR. Interest on the revolving credit facility is at a variable rate of 1.1% above LIBOR and on the 

overdraft at the variable rate of 1% over base rate. Further details of the liabilities are given in note 28.

Notes to the Accounts continued



 Aberdeen Asset Management PLC  Annual Report and Accounts 2007 83

30	 Financial	instruments	continued

 The interest rate and currency profiles of the Group and Company's financial assets at 30 September were as follows:

   30	September	2007	 	  30 September 2006

 Floating rate No interest Total Floating rate No interest Total 
Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling 28,422	 20,403	 48,825	 47,160   22,732   69,892
US dollar 33,841	 2,983	 36,824	 16,988   4   16,992
Euro currencies 1,712	 –	 1,712	 342  –   342
Nordic currencies 15,771	 15,196	 30,967	 6,808   3,829   10,637
Other currencies 16,493	 4,802	 21,295	  6,038   2,719   8,757  

Total 96,239	 43,384	 139,623	  77,336   29,284   106,620  

   30	September	2007	 	  30 September 2006

 Floating rate No interest Total Floating rate No interest Total 
Company	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000	 £’000 £’000 £’000

Sterling 	4,475		 	17,889	 	22,364		  16,193   14,311   30,504 
US dollar 	1,668		 	2,980		 	4,648		  235   3,055   3,290 
Euro currencies 	381		 –	 	381		  7   –     7 
Nordic currencies – – –  12   –  12 
Other currencies 	1		 	3,528		 	3,529		 –  1,767   1,767   

Total 	6,525	 	24,397		 	30,922		  16,447   19,133   35,580   

The no interest financial assets do not have a maturity date.  They principally comprise available for sale investments and assets and other 

debtors. The floating rate financial assets principally comprise cash and deposit balances which earn interest at rates which fluctuate according 

to money market rates.

	 Foreign	net	investment

The majority of the Group’s subsidiaries use sterling as their functional and presentation currencies.  The foreign currency net monetary assets 

of subsidiaries which adopt a different reporting currency are as follows:
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000

US dollar 44,547	 14,267 
Singapore dollar 61,255	 14,458 
Australian dollar 11,692	 1,400 
Nordic currencies 17,044	 12,970 
Other 7,967	 3,111 

Risk	management

The key risks identified by the Group and the management of these risks are detailed in the Business Review on pages 17 and 18.

	 Financial	instruments	relating	to	unit	linked	contracts

The Group’s life assurance subsidiary  provides unit linked wrappers which avail clients of a number of benefits from these pooled 

arrangements. From the Group’s perspective, the risks and rewards of managing these assets are the same as other assets under management 

as the financial risks and rewards attributable to theses assets also fall to be borne by, or to the benefit of, clients. Hence, while a number of 

significant financial instruments are recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the subsidiary, the key risk to the Group is the impact of the 

level of the fees which are earned from this entity which are directly impacted by the underlying value of the policyholder assets. While by  

necessity this Group subsidiary company has some insurance risks, these risks are completely reinsured, thereby negating any ultimate 

insurance risk to the Group’s equity holders.

The unit linked assets are matched by the associated insurance contract liabilities disclosed in note 20.

The assets above are all unit linked and held for the sole benefit of the policyholders within Aberdeen Asset Management Life and Pensions 

Limited. Investment and credit risk in respect of assets and liabilities held within unit linked funds is borne by the policyholders.
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31 Provisions
	 Provision	for	 Long	term 
	 Uplift	 business 
	 Plan	 provision	 Total 
Group £’000 £’000 £'000

At 1 October 2006: current liabilities 2,109 – 2,109 
 non-current liabilities – 500 500 
Utilised (2,109) – (2,109)

At	30	September	2007	 –	 500	 500	

Non-current – 500 500 
Current – – –    

The final payments to eligible investors of the Aberdeen Progressive Growth Unit Trust Uplift Plan were made in early October 2006.  

The amount utilised represents payments made to investors and legal fees incurred in relation to split capital issues in the year to  

30 September 2007.

The long term business provision represents a non-unit liability for linked business of the Group's life and pension subsidiary.
	 	 Provision	for 
	 	 Uplift	Plan 
Company	 	 £’000

At 1 October 2006 - current liabilities 309	
Utilised (309)

At	30	September	2007  –   

32 Deferred Income
	 	 	 Group	 	 Company

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Initial fees on sales of open ended funds 2,276	 2,188 – –   

Initial fees on sales of open ended funds are being spread over the average holding period of the investor which has been estimated at 3 years.

33 Operating leases

The Group and Company have non-cancellable operating lease rentals which are payable as follows:

	 	 	 	 	 Motor	vehicles	and 
	 	 	Land	and	buildings	 	 plant	and	equipment

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
 Group £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year 1,194	 1,491 214	 156
Between two and five years 4,613	 5,487 207 242
After five years 45,591	 38,592 – –   

 51,398	 45,570 421	 398 

During the year ended 30 September 2007, £7,553,000 was recognised as an expense in the income statement in respect of operating leases.

	 	 	 	 	 Motor	vehicles	and 
	 	 	Land	and	buildings	 	 plant	and	equipment

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
 Company	 £’000	 £’000 £’000 £’000

Within one year 8	 8 – –   
Between two and five years 69 685 – –   
After five years 36,492	 34,933 – –   

 36,569	 35,626 – –   

Notes to the Accounts continued
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34 Commitments

In 2002 the Group made a commitment to invest up to £10 million in the Aberdeen Murray Johnstone Private Equity Fund, a limited 

partnership managed by its wholly owned subsidiary, Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited. Of that amount some £7.4 million has subsequently 

been drawn and a further £2.6 million remains committed but not yet drawn.

35 Retirement benefits

a) The Group’s principal form of pension provision is by way of three defined contribution schemes operated world-wide. The Group also 

operates three legacy defined benefit schemes in the UK: the CGA Staff Pension Fund, the Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits 

Plan and the Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits Scheme. All three defined benefit schemes are closed to 

new membership and to future service accrual.

 The total contributions charged to the income statement in respect of the schemes operated by the Group were as follows:

 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000 

(i)  In respect of the Group’s money purchase schemes:
 Pension cost charged to operating profit - UK schemes 5,873	 6,390 

 - Overseas schemes 5,046 4,167 

 10,919	 10,557

(ii) In respect of the Group’s defined benefit schemes:
 Pension cost charged to operating profit 774	 746  

The pension obligations are recognised as non-current liabilities in the balance sheet and are stated gross of the related deferred tax asset.

The pension deficits of these schemes are summarised as follows:
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000 

Murray Johnstone Limited Retirement Benefits Plan 17,362	 26,932 
Edinburgh Fund Managers Retirement & Death Benefits Plan – 4,133 
CGA Staff Pension Fund 907 1,190 

 18,269	 32,255 

	 Disclosure	relating	to	the	Group’s	defined	benefit	obligations

 The information given in (1) to (3) below reflects the aggregate disclosures in respect of all Group defined benefit pension arrangements.

(1)	 Scheme	assets	and	expected	rate	of	return
   2007  2006

 Plan assets £’000 % £’000 %

Equities 55,589	 57.7	 51,339 57.6
Gilts 11,782	 12.2	 27,599 31.0
Corporate bonds – – 4,644 5.2
Liability driven investment funds 27,316	 28.3	 – –
Other 27 – 70 0.1
Cash 1,684	 1.8	 5,493 6.1

 96,398	 100.0	 89,145 100.0

Expected	rate	of	return	 2007	 2006

Equities 7.70%	 7.00% – 7.25% 
Gilts 4.70%	 4.25%
Corporate bonds 5.90%	 4.50% 
Liability driven investment funds 4.70%	 n/a 
Cash 5.75%	 4.75%
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35	 Retirement	benefits	continued

	 Basis	used	to	determine	the	expected	rate	of	return	on	plan	assets	

To develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption, the Group considered the current level of expected returns on risk-free 

investments (primarily government bonds) , the historical level of risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the portfolio is 

invested, and the expectations for the future returns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then weighted, based on 

the target asset allocation, to develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumptions for the portfolio.

(2)		 Major	assumptions	used	by	schemes’	actuaries
 2007 2006 
 %	 %

Discount rate 5.90 5.10
Pension increases
 – pre July 1997 accrual (Edinburgh 3%) 5.00 5.00
 – post July 1997 accrual 3.20	 2.80
Contributory salary increases (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.20 4.80
Price inflation 3.20	 2.80

 The range of assumptions used to determine the obligations are as follows:
 2007 2006 
 %	 %

Discount rate 5.90 5.10
Rate of compensation increase (applies to Murray Johnstone only) 5.20 4.80
Rate of price inflation 3.20	 2.80

 The weighted average assumptions used to determine the net pension cost are as follows:
 2007 2006 
 %	 %

Discount rate 5.10	 5.10
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets during the financial year 5.88	 5.00
Rate of compensation increase (n/a for Edinburgh) 4.80	 2.80
Rate of price inflation 2.80	 2.60

	 Mortality	assumptions

The mortality assumptions for the defined benefit schemes at 30 September 2007 are shown below.

 2007 2006

Mortality table for males retiring in the future PMA92MC(YOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for females retiring in the future PFA92MC(YOB) PFA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table current male pensioners PMA92MC(YOB) PMA92MC(YOB)
Mortality table for current female pensioners PFA92MC(YOB) PFA92MC(YOB)

 2007 2006 
Impact	of	mortality	assumptions Years Years

Expected age at death for a male currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 87.8	 87.8
Expected age at death for a female currently aged 40 retiring in the future at age 60 90.7 90.7
Expected age at death for a current male pensioner aged 60 86.6	 86.6
Expected age at death for a current female pensioner aged 60 89.5	 89.5

Notes to the Accounts continued
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35	 Retirement	benefits	continued

	 (3)			 Aggregate	disclosure	obligations
 2007 2006 2005 
Change	in	benefit	obligation	 £’000	 £’000  £’000

Benefit obligation at beginning of year 121,400	 106,570  89,127
Current service cost – – 173
Past service cost – 240  –
Interest cost 6,131	 5,103  5,043
Amendments – 15  268
Actuarial (gain) loss recognised (14,069)	 12,163  13,941
Benefits paid from scheme (2,395)	 (2,691) (1,982)

Benefit obligation at end of year 111,067	 121,400  106,570

Change in scheme assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 89,145	 76,536  61,954
Expected return on scheme assets 5,357	 4,612  4,083
Actuarial gain on scheme assets 58	 5,598  7,973
Employer contributions 4,233	 5,360  4,508
Benefits paid from scheme (2,395)	 (2,961) (1,982)

Fair value of scheme assets at end of year 96,398	 89,145  76,536

Restriction on actuarial gain due to asset ceiling 3,600	 – 

Deficit recognised at end of year (18,269)	 (32,255) (30,034)

 2007 2006 2005 
Movement	in	deficit	during	the	year	 £’000	 £’000  £’000

Deficit in schemes at beginning of year (32,255)	 (30,034) (27,173)
Movement in year:
Employer contributions in the financial year 4,233	 5,360  4,508
Pension expense recognised in income statement in the financial year (774)	 (746) (1,401)
Amounts recognised in the SORIE in the financial year 10,527	 (6,835) (5,968)

Deficit in schemes at end of year (18,269)	 (32,255) (30,034)
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35	 Retirement	benefits	continued

	 	 Company

 2007  2006 
Movement	in	liability	during	the	year	 £’000  £’000

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 1 October (1,190)	 (641) 
Contributions paid 150	 390
Expense recognised in the income statement (54)	 (279 )
Actuarial gains (losses) recognised 187	 (660 )

Net liability for defined benefit obligations at 30 September (907) (1,190) 

  Group

Expense	recognised	in	the	income	statement	 2007	  2006

Interest cost 6,131	 5,103 
Expected return on scheme assets (5,357)	 (4,612)
Past service cost – 255 

 774	 746 

Actual return on scheme assets 5,415	 10,210 

Amount	recognised	in	statement	of	recognised	income	and	expense
Actuarial gain in the year (14,127)	 6,835
Restriction on actuarial gain recognised due to asset ceiling 3,600	 –

Recognised in statement of recognised income and expense (10,527)	 6,835 

Cumulative amount recognised (2,276)	 12,803 

  Group

Analysis	of	net	interest	cost	on	pension	scheme	 2007	  2006

Expected return on pension scheme assets 5,357 4,612 
Interest on pension liabilities (6,131)	 (5,103)

Net interest cost (774)	 (491)

The amounts under IAS 19 that have been recognised in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense (’SORIE') are set out below:

 2007 2006 2005 
History	of	experience	gains	and	losses	 £’000	 £’000 £’000

Actual return less expected return on scheme assets 58	 5,598 8,002
Percentage of year end market value of scheme assets 0.1%	 6.3% 10.5%
Experience gains and losses arising on scheme liabilities: (121)	 39 (507)
Percentage of year end present value of scheme liabilities 0.1%	 0.0% (0.5%)
Change in assumptions underlying the present value of scheme liabilities 14,190	 (12,472) (13,463)
Percentage of year end present value of scheme liabilities 12.4%	 10.3% 12.6%
Actuarial gains (losses) recognised in SORIE 10,527	 (6,835) (5,968)
Percentage of year end present value of scheme liabilities 9.2%	 9.8% 5.6%

	 Relationship	between	Aberdeen	Asset	Management	and	the	Trustees	of	the	defined	benefit	schemes

The schemes assets are held in separate Trustee - administered funds to meet long-term pension liabilities to past employees. The Trustees of 

the funds are required to act in the best interests of the funds’ beneficiaries.

Notes to the Accounts continued
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36 Contingent liabilities

An action against HM Revenue & Customs (‘HMRC’) brought jointly by the Association of Investment Companies (‘AIC’) and a UK investment 

trust in early 2004 sought to establish that charges for investment management services provided to UK investment trusts should be exempt 

from VAT, rather than being subject to the standard rate as required by UK VAT legislation. Following a decision of the European Court of Justice 

on certain questions referred by the UK VAT Tribunal, HMRC announced on 26 October 2007 that it would no longer seek to defend this case.

The Group’s UK subsidiaries have received protective claims from most of the Group’s investment trust clients for repayment of VAT that has 

previously been charged on management fees and the Group has submitted corresponding protective claims to HMRC. Although HMRC has 

stated that it will now proceed to deal with the claims submitted, no definitive guidance or statement of practice has been issued in respect of 

how it will proceed. The eventual outcome will also be affected by an appeal to be heard shortly by the House of Lords in a related case.

Whilst it is possible that the Group may incur some retrospective cost as a result of this case, the Directors do not expect a material  

liability to arise.

37 Related party transactions
In the ordinary course of business, the Company and its subsidiary undertakings carry out transactions with related parties, as defined by IAS 

24 ‘Related Party Disclosures’. Material transactions for the year are set out below.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 16. During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions 

with related parties.

	 (a)		 Compensation	of	key	management	personnel	of	the	group
 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000 

Short-term employee benefits 15,404	 13,847 
Pension contributions 626 1,191
Share based payments – – 

Total 16,030	 15,038 

Of which outstanding at the year end:
Amounts owed to related parties 20,761	 11,717 

The remuneration policy is described in more detailing the remuneration report on pages 28 to 35.

 (b) Transactions with subsidiaries

Details of transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the Company are shown below:

 2007 2006 
 £’000 £’000 

Interest receivable 1,299	 1,417 
Interest payable 326	 404 
Management fees 26,740	 56,040 
Dividends 85,422	 43,500 
Amounts due from subsidiaries 130,500	 77,381 
Amounts due to subsidiaries 44,903	 44,864 

 ( c) Transactions  and balances with related parties

	 Post	employment	benefit	plans

The Group operates and participates in several post employment benefit plans as detailed in note 35.

The Group contributed the following amounts to defined benefit and defined contribution plans and had amounts outstanding at  

30 September each year as follows:
	 	 Employer	contributions	 Outstanding	at	30	September

  2007 2006 2007 2006 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 

CGA Staff Pension Fund 150	 390 – –   
Murray Johnstone Retirement Benefits Plan 2,040	 2,040 – 170
Edinburgh Fund Managers Group plc Retirement & Death Benefits Plan 2,043	 2,930 – –   
Defined contribution schemes 10,919	 10,557 – 661
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Five year summary

	 	 	 IFRS	 	 UK	GAAP

	 	 2007	 2006	 2005	 2004	 2003 
  £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Total turnover 347,843	 302,124 156,124 140,011 142,268

Operating expenses
 –  Other (251,299)	 (227,903) (123,215) (113,783) (123,250)
 –  Exceptional integration costs (20,301)	 (33,282) – (85,308) (23,851)
 –  Amortisation of goodwill (9,404)	 (9,847) – (19,122) (18,430)
 –  Exceptional release of provisions (46,776)	 (236) 2,600 – –
Provision for impairment of goodwill and  

intangible assets – – – (584) (17,311)
Total operating expenses (327,780)	 (271,268) (120,615) (218,797) (182,842)

Other operating income 12,107	 26,306 11,047 1,116 –
Exceptional amounts written off investments – – – – (5,376)
Share of results of associates – – (12)
Operating profit before goodwill amortisation,  

impairment provisions and exceptional  
operating items 99,984	 82,146 35,076 27,344 19,018

Amortisation of goodwill, impairment provisions  
and exceptional operating items (9,404)	 (9,847) – (105,014) (64,968)

Exceptional gains on investments and amortisation  
of intangibles (58,410)	 (15,137) 11,468 – –

Operating	profit	(loss) 32,170	 57,162 46,544 (77,670) (45,950)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries – – – 1,940 –
Gain on disposal of management contracts – – – 421 53,536
Net finance costs (8,497)	 (3,315) (14,897) (12,273) (13,985)

Profit	(loss)	before	taxation	 23,673	 53,847 31,647 (87,582) (6,399)
Tax on profit (loss) on ordinary activities 6,970	 (9,975) (5,869) 6,981 (8,232)

Profit	(loss)	after	taxation	 30,643	 43,872 25,778 (80,601) (14,631)
Minority interests - equity – – – (170) (231)

Profit	(loss)	for	the	financial	year	 30,643	 43,872 25,778 (80,771) (14,862)

Dividends
Equity dividends on ordinary shares    (9,437) (7,074)
Non-equity dividends on preference shares    (46) (589)

     (9,483) (7,663)

Retained	loss	for	financial	year	 	   (90,254) (22,525)

Earnings	(loss)	per	share	-	basic*
Before goodwill amortisation, impairment  

provisions and exceptional costs 12.29p	 9.52p 4.68p 3.01p 1.99p
After goodwill amortisation, impairment  

provisions and exceptional costs 3.61p	 6.41p 6.68p (22.46)p (5.64)p

Earnings	per	share	-	diluted*
Before goodwill amortisation, impairment  

provisions and exceptional costs 11.09p	 8.95p 4.60p 3.01p 1.99p
After goodwill amortisation, impairment  

provisions and exceptional costs 3.50p	 6.27p 6.64p (22.46)p (5.64)p

Dividend per share 5.50p 4.40p 3.00p 2.57p 2.57p

Assets under management at year end	 £95.3bn	 £73.2bn £59.7bn £22.1bn £20.6bn

Turnover and operating profit (loss) arise wholly from continuing activities.

* Amounts for the years 2003 and 2004 have been restated for the effects of the rights issue which took place in September 2005. They have been prepared under UK GAAP and as 
such are not comparable with 2005 to 2007 which have been prepared under IFRS as adopted by the EU.  
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Notice of Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the twenty-fifth Annual General Meeting of Aberdeen Asset Management PLC will be held  
at the Marcliffe at Pitfodels Hotel, North Deeside Road, Aberdeen, AB15 9YA at 12.00 noon on 17 January 2008 for the  
following purposes:

For ease of reference, explanatory notes are attached to each resolution.  The formal resolutions are shown in bold text.

1	 To	receive	the	Directors’	Report	and	Accounts	for	the	year	ended	30	September	2007	together	with	the	 
Auditors’	Report	thereon.

 Each financial year, the Directors are required to present to the meeting the audited accounts and the directors’ and 
auditor’s reports for the financial year. 

2	 To	declare	a	final	dividend	of	2.9	pence	per	ordinary	share	of	10	pence	each	in	the	capital	of	the	Company	
(‘ordinary	share’).

 The Board recommend that a final dividend of 2.9 pence per share is paid.  If approved by the shareholders, this dividend 
will be paid on 23 January 2008 to ordinary shareholders on the register of members at 5.00 pm on 14 December 2007.

3	 To	reappoint	KPMG	Audit	Plc	as	Auditors	and	to	authorise	the	Directors	to	agree	their	remuneration.

 The Company’s auditors must offer themselves for reappointment at each Annual General Meeting at which accounts  
are presented.  On the advice of the Audit Committee, the Board propose that KPMG Audit Plc be reappointed as auditor  
of the Company.

4	 To	re-elect	as	a	Director	Ms	A	M	Frew	who	retires	by	rotation.

5	 To	re-elect	as	a	Director	Mr	R	C	Cornick	who	retires	by	rotation.

6	 To	re-elect	as	a	Director	Mr	W	J	Rattray	who	retires	by	rotation.

 The Company’s Articles of Association provide that, one third of the directors must retire by rotation at each Annual 
General Meeting and no director may serve beyond three years without offering themselves for re-election by the 
shareholders.  In accordance with this provision, Ms Frew and Messrs Cornick and Rattray offer themselves for re-election.  
Biographies of each of these directors are contained on page 23.

 The Chairman confirms that following the completion of the annual performance evaluation and appraisal exercise, the 
performance of the three directors seeking re-election continues to be effective and that these directors demonstrate 
commitment to their roles. Their re-election is therefore recommended. 

7	 To	re-elect	Mr	D	H	Waters	as	a	Director	who	retires	in	accordance	with	Article	95	of	the	Company’s	Articles	 
of	Association.

 The Company’s Articles of Association provide that a Director who reaches the age of 70 must submit himself for 
re-election at each subsequent annual general meeting.  Mr Waters will be  aged 70 at the time of the Annual General 
Meeting and therefore offers himself for re-election.  A biography of Mr Waters is contained on page 23.  Please note that it 
is proposed that this requirement be deleted from the Company’s Articles and therefore this provision will not apply in 
future years as it is potentially in breach of age discrimination legislation.  Please see the Appendix to the enclosed letter 
from the Chairman for further information in this regard.

 The Chairman confirms that following the completion of the annual performance evaluation and appraisal exercise, the 
performance of Mr Waters continues to be effective and that he demonstrates commitment to his role. Mr Waters’ 
re-election is therefore recommended.

8	 To	approve	the	Remuneration	Report.

 The Companies Act 1985 requires the Directors to prepare an annual report detailing the remuneration of the Directors 
and the Company’s remuneration policy and to seek shareholder approval to its contents.  The remuneration report is 
contained on pages 28 to 35. 
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To consider the following resolutions, which will be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

9	 That	pursuant	to	section	121(e)	of	the	Companies	Act	1985	(‘the	Act’)	and	Article	9.1.3	of	the	Articles	of	
Association	of	the	Company,	that	39,000,000	5.25%	Redeemable	Preference	Shares	of	£1	each	be	and	they	 
are	hereby	cancelled.

 The Board is proposing the cancellation of these unissued and redundant shares. This class of shares is no longer required as 
these shares related to conversion rights under a previously issued loan note which has now been repaid.

10 That	the	Directors	be	and	are	hereby	generally	and	unconditionally	authorised	for	the	purpose	of	Section	80	of	the	
Companies	Act	1985	(‘the	Act’)	to	exercise	all	the	powers	conferred	pursuant	to	Article	12.2.1	of	the	Company’s	
Articles	of	Association	up	to	an	aggregate	nominal	amount	equal	to	£25,850,354	(‘section	80	amount’)	
representing	the	authorised	unissued	present	share	capital	provided	that	this	authority	shall	expire	(unless	
previously	renewed	varied	or	revoked	by	the	Company	in	general	meeting)	at	the	conclusion	of	the	next	Annual	
General	Meeting	of	the	Company	to	be	held	in	2009	(the	‘prescribed	period’).

 This resolution seeks to renew the authority conferred on the Directors at last year’s Annual General Meeting to allot the 
authorised but unissued share capital up to a maximum nominal amount of £25,850,354, which represents the authorised 
unissued present share capital at 10 December 2007.  This authority will expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual 
General Meeting. The Directors have no present intention to issue further ordinary shares in the Company.

 As at 10 December 2007, the Company did not hold any treasury shares in the Company.

 To consider the following resolutions which will be proposed as special resolutions:

11	 That	the	Directors	be	generally	and	unconditionally	authorised	to	exercise	all	powers	conferred	pursuant	to	
Article	12.2.2	of	the	Company’s	Articles	of	Association	and	pursuant	to	Section	94	(2)	to	Section	94	(3A)	of	the	Act	
up	to	an	aggregate	nominal	amount	equal	to	£3,144,862	such	authority	to	expire	at	the	conclusion	of	the	
prescribed	period	(the	‘section	89	amount’).

 This resolution seeks to renew the authority conferred on the Directors at last year’s Annual General Meeting to issue 
equity securities of the Company for cash other than on a pre-emptive basis as provided by the Companies Act 1985.  
Other than in connection with a rights, scrip dividend or other similar issue, the authority contained in this resolution will 
be limited to issues of ordinary shares and/or sales of treasury shares representing an aggregate nominal value of 
£3,144,862, which in turn represents 5% of the issued ordinary share capital at 10 December 2007.  This authority will 
expire at the conclusion of next year’s Annual General Meeting.

12	 That	the	Company	is,	pursuant	to	Section	166	of	the	Act,	hereby	generally	and	unconditionally	authorised	to	make	
market	purchases	(within	the	meaning	of	Section	163	of	the	Act)	of	ordinary	shares	provided	that:-

(1)	 the	maximum	number	of	ordinary	shares	hereby	authorised	to	be	purchased	is	62,897,247	representing	 
10%	of	the	issued	ordinary	share	capital	of	the	Company;

(2)	 the	minimum	price	which	may	be	paid	for	ordinary	shares	is	10	pence	per	ordinary	share;

(3)	 the	maximum	price	(exclusive	of	expenses)	which	may	be	paid	for	an	ordinary	share		shall	be	the	higher	of	not	
more	than	(i)	5%	above	the	average	of	the	middle	market	quotations	for	an	ordinary	share	on	the	London	
Stock	Exchange	Daily	Official	List	for	the	five	business	days	immediately	preceding	the	date	on	which	any	
such	purchase	is	made	and	(ii)	the	higher	of	the	last	independent	trade	and	the	highest	current	bid	on	the	
London	Stock	Exchange;

(4)	 the	Company	may	make	a	contract	to	purchase	ordinary	shares	under	the	authority	hereby	conferred	prior	to	
the	expiry	of	such	authority	which	contract	to	purchase	will	be	executed	wholly	or	partly	after	the	expiry	of	
such	authority,	and	may	make	the	purchase	of	the	ordinary	shares	in	pursuance	of	any	such	contract	and;

(5)	 the	authority	hereby	conferred	shall	expire	at	the	conclusion	of	the	next	Annual	General	Meeting	of	the	
Company	to	be	held	in	2009.

 This resolution renews the authority granted at last year’s Annual General Meeting and gives the Company authority to 
buy back its own ordinary shares, as permitted by the Companies Act 1985.  The authority limits the number of ordinary 
shares that could be purchased to a maximum of 62,897,247 shares, representing 10% of the issued share capital at  
10 December 2007 and sets the minimum and maximum prices that can be paid.  This authority would only be exercised if 
the Directors believed that to do so would result in an increase in earnings per share and would be in the interests of the 
shareholders generally.  At present, the Directors have no current intention of utilising this authority.  If this authority was 
exercised, the ordinary shares repurchased would be cancelled or held in treasury. There are 79,926 convertible preference 
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share units which consist of a preference share and a warrant in Aberdeen Warrants (Jersey) Limited which if exercised 
would eventually result in a total of 81,524,520 ordinary shares in Aberdeen in issue. There are also 6,272,100 ordinary 
shares under option and 2,656 convertible bonds 2010 which if exercised or converted could result in a further 24,727,360 
ordinary shares in Aberdeen in issue. There would therefore be a further 112,523,980 ordinary shares in issue in Aberdeen, if 
all rights to subscribe were exercised. This figure represents 17.9% of the current issued share capital and would represent 
19.9% of the issued share capital if the full authority sought at the Annual General Meeting is utilised.

13	 That	the	regulations	produced	to	the	Meeting	and	signed,	for	the	purpose	of	identification	by	the	Chairman	 
of	the	Meeting,	be	adopted	as	the	Articles	of	Association	of	the	Company.

 This resolution will approve the adoption of new Articles of Association which reflect certain changes implemented  
by the Companies Act 2006. Further details of these changes and the other principal changes to the existing Articles of 
Association are set out in the Appendix to the Chairman’s letter.

By order of the Board

Scott	E	Massie
Secretary
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG
10 December 2007

Notes:
1 A member entitled to attend and vote is entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to attend, vote and speak instead of him.   

A proxy need not be a Member of the Company but must attend the Meeting to represent you. 

  A Form of Proxy, in order to be valid, must be delivered to SEA 10850, Equiniti, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing,  
BN99 6ZR or submitted at www.sharevote.co.uk not later than 12.00 noon on 15 January 2008.

2 Copies of all contracts of service and letters of appointment of Directors of the Company are available for inspection during 
normal business hours at the Company’s registered office on any weekday except Saturdays and public holidays, and at the 
place of the meeting for a period of fifteen minutes prior to the Annual General Meeting and during the meeting.

3   Only those Members entered on the Company’s Register of Members not later than 6.00pm on 15 January 2008 or, if the 
meeting is adjourned, shareholders entered on the Company’s Register of Members not later than 48 hours before the time 
fixed for the adjourned meeting shall be entitled to attend, vote and speak at the meeting.

4 CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do 
so for the annual general meeting to be held on 17 January 2008 and any adjournment(s) thereof by using the procedures 
described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members 
who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will 
be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

 In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message 
(a "CREST Proxy Instruction") must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s 
(“Euroclear”) specifications and must contain the information required for such instructions, as described in the CREST 
Manual. The message, regardless of whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or to an amendment to the 
instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the 
issuer's agent (ID 7RA01) by 12 noon on 15 January 2008. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time 
(as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host) from which the issuer's agent is 
able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST.  After this time any change of 
instructions to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.
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 CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should note that Euroclear does 
not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will 
therefore apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned 
to take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member or sponsored member or has appointed a voting service 
provider(s), to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to 
ensure that a message is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST 
members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those 
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

 The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the 
Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001. 

5 You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Meeting or any related documents (including the 
Chairman’s letter or the Form of Proxy) to communicate with the Company for any purpose other than as expressly stated.

6 As at 10 December 2007, the Company’s issued share capital comprised 628,972,477 of 10p each. Each ordinary share 
carries the right to one vote at general meetings of the Company. 

 There are also 79, 926 convertible preference share units in existence which each consist of one preference share in 
Aberdeen (which in certain limited circumstances has voting rights) and one warrant to subscribe for preference shares in 
Aberdeen Warrants (Jersey) Limited (‘Jerseyco’). Upon the exercise of a warrant, preference shares in Jerseyco will be issued 
which are then (in accordance with the terms of the Jerseyco warrants) immediately exchangeable for ordinary shares in 
Aberdeen. The total number of ordinary shares in Aberdeen which could result after the exercise of warrants and 
subsequent share exchange are 81,524, 520 ordinary shares with voting rights. There are also 6,272,100 ordinary shares 
under option and 2,656 convertible bonds 2010 which if exercised or converted would result in a further 24,727,360 of 
ordinary shares (in aggregate) with voting rights.  The total number of voting rights in the Company as at 10 December  
is 628,972,477 ordinary shares.
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Principal offices

United Kingdom and Channel Islands 

Aberdeen Asset Management PLC
10 Queen’s Terrace, Aberdeen AB10 1YG
Tel: +44 (0) 1224 631999 
Fax: +44 (0) 1224 647010

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
One Bow Churchyard, Cheapside, 
London EC4M 9HH
Tel: +44 (0) 20 7463 6000 
Fax: +44 (0) 20 7463 6001

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
Sutherland House
149 St Vincent Street, Glasgow G2 5NW
Tel: +44 (0) 141 306 7400 
Fax: +44 (0) 141 306 7401

Aberdeen Asset Managers Limited
Donaldson House
97 Haymarket Terrace, Edinburgh EH12 5HD
Tel: +44 (0) 131 313 1000 
Fax: +44 (0) 131 313 6300

Aberdeen	Asset	Managers	Limited,	 
Private	Equity	Division
St James's House
7 Charlotte Street, Manchester M1 4DZ
Tel: +44 (0) 161 233 3500 
Fax: +44 (0) 161 233 3550

Aberdeen	Private	Wealth	Management	Limited
No.1 Seaton Place, St Helier, Jersey JE4 8YJ
Tel: +44 (0) 1534 758847 
Fax: +44 (0) 1534 705052

Asia Pacific 

Aberdeen Asset Management Asia Limited
21 Church Street, 
#01-01 Capital Square Two, 
Singapore 049480
Tel: +65 6395 2700 
Fax: +65 6535 7159

Aberdeen Asset Management Limited
Level 6, 201 Kent Street, Sydney, 
NSW 2000, Australia
Tel +61 2 9950 2888 
Fax +61 2 9950 2800

Aberdeen International Fund Managers Limited
Rooms 2605-06, 26/F Alexandra House,
18 Chater Road,Central, Hong Kong
Tel: +852 2103 4700 Fax: +852 2103 4788

Aberdeen	Asset	Management	Company	Limited
Bangkok City Tower, 28th Floor, 179 South Sathorn Road, 
Thungmahamek, Sathorn, Bangkok 10120, Thailand
Tel: +66 2 352 3333 Fax: +66 2 636 6482

 Aberdeen Asset Management Sdn Bhd
Suite 25.3 Level 25, Menara IMC, 
Letter Box No. 66
No. 8 Jalan Sultan Ismail, 
50250 Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia
Tel: +60 3 2053 3800 
Fax: +60 3 2031 1868

Europe 
Aberdeen	Property	Investors	AB
Luntmakargatan 34, Box 3039, 103 63 Stockholm, Sweden
Tel: +46 8 412 8000  
Fax: +46 8 412 8004

United States of America

Aberdeen Asset Management Inc.
1735 Market Street, 37th Floor
Philadelphia, PA 19103
Tel: +(1) 215 405 5700  
Fax: +(1) 215 405 5780

Five Tower Bridge, 
300 Bar Harbor Drive, Suite 300
West Conshohocken,
Philadelphia, PA 19428
Tel: +(1) 610 238 3600
Fax: +(1) 610 238 3660

300 S.E. 2nd Street, Suite #820,
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301, USA
Tel: +(1) 954 767 9900 
Fax: +(1) 954 767 6006

Details of other office locations can be found on the Group’s website at  www.aberdeen-asset.com
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Corporate information

Company Secretary
Scott E Massie

Registered Office
10 Queen’s Terrace
Aberdeen AB10 1YG

Registered Number
82015

Registrar
Equiniti	Limited
PO Box 28448
Finance House, Orchard Brae
Edinburgh EH4 1PF

Auditors
KPMG Audit Plc
Chartered Accountants
37 Albyn Place
Aberdeen AB10 1JB

Bankers
Bank	of	Scotland	Corporate
North of Scotland
3/5 Albyn Place
Aberdeen AB10 1YP

Stockbrokers
JP	Morgan	Cazenove	Limited
20 Moorgate
London EC2R 6DA

Landsbanki	Securities	(UK)	Limited
Beaufort House 
15 St Botolph Street 
London EC3A 7DT 
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